THE GENETICS OF PSORIATIC ARTHRITIS







The Genetics of Psoriatic

Arthritis

by

© Christopher D. Butt, M.Sc.

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Discipline of Genetics, Faculty of Medicine Memorial University of Newfoundland

November 2009

St. John's

Newfoundland & Labrador

Abstract

Psoriasis is a stubborn chronic skin disease affecting 1-3% of the population. Although not life threatening, it may be associated with important morbidity and disability. Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA), an immunologically mediated disease, is an inflammatory form of arthritis usually seronegative for rheumatoid factor, which may affect as many as 30% of patients with psoriasis, thus up to 1% of the population may have PsA. Whereas the prevalence of inflammatory arthritis in the general population is estimated at 2 to 3%, in patients with psoriasis the prevalence of inflammatory arthritis varies from 6 to 42%. PsA is highly heritable with the risk ratio for siblings of PsA patients estimated at 30.8 times that of the general population. PsA is T-cell driven disorder and the pathogenesis derives from multiple processes including synovial and entheseal inflammation, angiogenesis, and altered bone remodelling.

Association studies have repeatedly implicated the *HLA-Cw*0602* loci of the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) in the aetiology of PsA. Numerous other genes from several pathways have also been implicated in PsA. Using the unique population resource of Newfoundland, and a validation cohort from Toronto, it has been observed that there is an association between PsA and the MHC genes *TNF-a* and *MICA*. For the first time, an association has also been observed between PsA and the pro-angiogenic genes *VEGF* and *PPARy*. An association was also observed with the pleiotropic autoimmune gene *PTPN22*, and for the first time epistatic gene-gene interactions have been observed in PsA via a novel algorithm, adding further evidence to the central involvement of *IL-23R* in PsA.

i

Acknowledgements

Once again, and as always, this is for Gordon Saunders. Thank you for everything all those years ago. None of this could have happened without you. Opening move: King's pawn to King 4 – your turn. I hope we get to play another game someday soon.

I would like to extend my eternal gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Proton Rahman, for his incredible vision, foresight, understanding, wisdom, and patience. Thank you for all you have taught me about the way science really moves. It has been my distinct honour and privilege to work with you. I would also like to extend thanks to my cosupervisor, Dr. Yagang Xie - thank you for introducing me to an amazing career path, and to final member of my supervisory committee – Dr. Ban Younghusband. Thank you so much for your input and assistance in all parts of this project. Although not officially part of my supervisory committee, I also must thank Dr. Jane Green for her tremendous assistance to me in all of my endeavours.

ii

To my oldest friend George Power: finally done, sir! The next beer is still on you. Thanks for sharing the laughter inherent in cynicism, and for giving me an escape from Newfoundland when I really needed it every now and again.

To my friends Gerald, Della, Daniel, and Deborah Doyle: you guys are truly the most wonderful family I've ever met. Thanks for letting me be a part of it every now and again.

To Dave and Jill Howlett, two of the greatest friends you could ever know. Thanks for all the great barbeques, the hockey arguments, and for letting me vent about grad school every now and again.

To Angela Hyde, my surrogate older sister (yes, I know, you're actually younger...). Thank you for all the chats, the wisdom, and the advice. Thank you for all the good natured (?) abuse, a useless course or two, and for being the only person to bring me wine in the middle of a class. Most of all, thanks for just suffering through all this with me. Looks like I managed to make it out alive first....

To Nathan Barrett, Bruce Bassett, AJ Spence, and everyone else at the Newfoundland and Labrador Tae Kwon Do Academy. Having something to kick every now and again broke a lot of stress. Thanks for kicking back.

To my cousin Heather, an eclectic, wonderful woman, who just gets me. Thanks for everything.

To my cousin Karen, another eclectic and wonderful woman who not only gets me, but also provides great books and some fantastic cookies.

To Mohammed 'Dafil' Uddin – thanks for the idea for one of my favourite chapters here, and for just being a great guy to bounce ideas around with. I sincerely hope we end up working together somehow for a long time to come.

iv

To my uncle, Kraig Manuel, for making my life a lot easier.

To Lance Doucette, just for making me laugh all the time and breaking up so many days.

To my friend Ian Melbourne, for helping me to expand my mind, think clearly and relax every now and again. I shall miss the shed, sir.

To Jennifer Shea, my tea companion. Thanks for listening. Thanks for complaining. Thanks for venting. Thanks for laughing. Thanks for making me laugh. Thanks for reminding me that's ok to feel utterly lost in all of this. Thanks for everything.

To Mom and Dad – just thanks for everything.

And most importantly, to Lynette: I know putting up with me through all of this could not have been easy. I don't know how you didn't run screaming on more than one occasion. I love you so much

i i 11 l ii

The Genetics of Psoriatic

Arthritis

by

© Christopher D. Butt, M.Sc.

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies

in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Discipline of Genetics, Faculty of Medicine

Memorial University of Newfoundland

November 2009

St. John's

Newfoundland & Labrador

Abstract

Psoriasis is a stubborn chronic skin disease affecting 1-3% of the population. Although not life threatening, it may be associated with important morbidity and disability. Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA), an immunologically mediated disease, is an inflammatory form of arthritis usually seronegative for rheumatoid factor, which may affect as many as 30% of patients with psoriasis, thus up to 1% of the population may have PsA. Whereas the prevalence of inflammatory arthritis in the general population is estimated at 2 to 3%, in patients with psoriasis the prevalence of inflammatory arthritis varies from 6 to 42%. PsA is highly heritable with the risk ratio for siblings of PsA patients estimated at 30.8 times that of the general population. PsA is T-cell driven disorder and the pathogenesis derives from multiple processes including synovial and entheseal inflammation, angiogenesis, and altered bone remodelling.

Association studies have repeatedly implicated the *HLA-Cw*0602* loci of the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) in the aetiology of PsA. Numerous other genes from several pathways have also been implicated in PsA. Using the unique population resource of Newfoundland, and a validation cohort from Toronto, it has been observed that there is an association between PsA and the MHC genes *TNF-a* and *MICA*. For the first time, an association has also been observed between PsA and the pro-angiogenic genes *VEGF* and *PPARy*. An association was also observed with the pleiotropic autoimmune gene *PTPN22*, and for the first time epistatic gene-gene interactions have been observed in PsA via a novel algorithm, adding further evidence to the central involvement of *IL-23R* in PsA.

i

Acknowledgements

Once again, and as always, this is for Gordon Saunders. Thank you for everything all those years ago. None of this could have happened without you. Opening move: King's pawn to King 4 – your turn. I hope we get to play another game someday soon.

I would like to extend my eternal gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Proton Rahman, for his incredible vision, foresight, understanding, wisdom, and patience. Thank you for all you have taught me about the way science really moves. It has been my distinct honour and privilege to work with you. I would also like to extend thanks to my cosupervisor, Dr. Yagang Xie - thank you for introducing me to an amazing career path, and to final member of my supervisory committee – Dr. Ban Younghusband. Thank you so much for your input and assistance in all parts of this project. Although not officially part of my supervisory committee, I also must thank Dr. Jane Green for her tremendous assistance to me in all of my endeavours. To my oldest friend George Power: finally done, sir! The next beer is still on you. Thanks for sharing the laughter inherent in cynicism, and for giving me an escape from Newfoundland when I really needed it every now and again.

To my friends Gerald, Della, Daniel, and Deborah Doyle: you guys are truly the most wonderful family I've ever met. Thanks for letting me be a part of it every now and again.

To Dave and Jill Howlett, two of the greatest friends you could ever know. Thanks for all the great barbeques, the hockey arguments, and for letting me vent about grad school every now and again.

To Angela Hyde, my surrogate older sister (yes, I know, you're actually younger...). Thank you for all the chats, the wisdom, and the advice. Thank you for all the good natured (?) abuse, a useless course or two, and for being the only person to bring me wine in the middle of a class. Most of all, thanks for just suffering through all this with me. Looks like I managed to make it out alive first....

To Nathan Barrett, Bruce Bassett, AJ Spence, and everyone else at the Newfoundland and Labrador Tae Kwon Do Academy. Having something to kick every now and again broke a lot of stress. Thanks for kicking back.

To my cousin Heather, an eclectic, wonderful woman, who just gets me. Thanks for everything.

To my cousin Karen, another eclectic and wonderful woman who not only gets me, but also provides great books and some fantastic cookies.

To Mohammed 'Dafil' Uddin – thanks for the idea for one of my favourite chapters here, and for just being a great guy to bounce ideas around with. I sincerely hope we end up working together somehow for a long time to come.

iv

To my uncle, Kraig Manuel, for making my life a lot easier.

To Lance Doucette, just for making me laugh all the time and breaking up so many days.

To my friend Ian Melbourne, for helping me to expand my mind, think clearly and relax every now and again. I shall miss the shed, sir.

To Jennifer Shea, my tea companion. Thanks for listening. Thanks for complaining. Thanks for venting. Thanks for laughing. Thanks for making me laugh. Thanks for reminding me that's ok to feel utterly lost in all of this. Thanks for everything.

To Mom and Dad – just thanks for everything.

And most importantly, to Lynette: I know putting up with me through all of this could not have been easy. I don't know how you didn't run screaming on more than one occasion. I love you so much for staying through it all, that I can't even express it in words.

Table of Contents

Abstract		İ
Acknowledge	ments	
Table of Cont	ents	vi
List of Tables		ix
List of Figures	5	xi
List of Abrevia	ations	xiii
Co-authorship	o statement	xiv
Chapter 1: Int	roduction	1
1.1:	The Phenotype of Psoriatic Arthritis	2
1.2:	Epidemiology of Psoriatic Arthritis	
1.3:	Clinical Features of Psoriatic Arthritis	4
1.4:	Co-morbidities of Psoriatic Arthritis	
1.5:	Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis	
1.6:	Pathogenesis of Psoriatic Arthritis	
	1.6.1: Synovial Histopathology	
	1.6.2: Enthesitis	
	1.6.3: Bone Remodelling	
	1.6.4: Angiogenesis	
1.7:	Heritability of Psoriatic Arthritis	
1.8:	Review of the Genetics of Psoriatic Arthritis:	
	1.8.1: Genetic Basis of Psoriasis	
	1.8.2: Genes in the MHC Region Associated with PsA	39
	1.8.3: Non MHC Genes	42
	1.8.4: Genome Wide Scans	44
1.9:	Review of the Genetics of Related Diseases	46
	1.9.1: Ankylosing Spondylitis	
	1.9.2: Crohn Disease/Inflammatory Bowel Disease	
	1.9.3: Rheumatoid Arthritis	50
	1.9.4: Shared Genetics of Immune-related Diseases	53
1.10	: Rationale and Goals for Study	56
Chapter 2. Ma	aterials and Methods	
2 1.	Patient and Control Ascertainment	60
۷.۱.		

2.2: DNA Extraction from Whole Blood612.3: Marker Selection622.4: SNP Genotyping632.5: Fragment Analysis662.6: Quality Control672.7: Statistical Analysis67
Chapter 3: Genetic Variation of the Major Histocompatibility Complex and Association with Psoriatic Arthritis
 3.2: Meta-analysis of <i>MICA</i> triplet repeat polymorphism and risk of Psoriatic Arthritis in Caucasian populations
Chapter 4: Common genetic variants in auto-immune diseases: association with psoriatic arthritis
 4.1: Association of <i>PTPN22</i> in psoriatic arthritis: A case-control study
Chapter 5: Chasing disease pathology: gene variants from pathogenic mechanisms of psoriatic arthritis. 146 5.1: VEGF, FGF1, FGF2, and EGF gene polymorphisms and psoriatic arthritis. 147 5.2: PPAR-γ gene polymorphisms and Psoriatic Arthritis. 166 5.3: Lack of association between genes regulating osteoclastogenesis and psoriatic arthritis. 173
Chapter 6: Epistasis: a novel algorithm detects gene-gene interaction in psoriatic arthritis
Chapter 7: Summary, Critique, and Future Directions1887.1: Study Design1897.2: Cohort Selection and Utilization1927.3: Marker Selection1957.4: Patient History, Lifestyle and Environmental Factors1977.5: DNA Source May Contribute to Genotype Results199

7.6:	Results Summary	
7.7: 0	Context of Results	
7.8:1	Possible Future Directions	206
References		

List of Tables

Table 1-1	Prevalence of PsA as reported in studies of different populations
Table 1-2	Prevalence of PsA as reported in psoriasis patients from different populations
Table 1-3	CASPAR Criteria for diagnosis of PsA 15
Table 1-4	Summary of Known Psoriasis susceptibility regions
Table 1-5	Summary of selected genetic associations with Crohn Disease, replicated by genome wide association studies
Table 1-6	Summary of selected genetic associations in RA 51
Table 2-1	Typology of SNPs64
Table 3-1	Primer sequences for <i>TNF-</i> α SNPs
Table 3-2	<i>TNF</i> - α Genotype and minor allele frequencies of the Newfoundland population77
Table 3-3	<i>TNF</i> - α Genotype and minor allele frequencies of the Toronto
	Population
Table 3-4	Summary of <i>TNF-</i> α associations studies in PsA81 & 82
Table 3-5	MICA triplet repeat polymorphism frequency in the Newfoundland Population
Table 3-6	Allele Frequencies of <i>CDSN</i> polymorphisms in Newfoundland and Toronto Population
Table 3-7	Allele frequency of minor SEEK1 and HLA-Cw*0602 109
Table 4-1	SNPs from the <i>II-1</i> gene cluster and significance levels after permutations of sliding-window haplotypes
Table 4-2	Frequency of polymorphisms in the <i>NFKB1, RELA</i> and <i>NFKBIA</i> genes in the Newfoundland population
Table 5-1	Genotype frequencies of SNPs in VEGF, FGF1, FGF2 and EGF in PsA patients and controls

Table 5-2	Haplotype frequencies for VEGF rs699947, rs1570360, and rs2010963, estimated by using PHASE version 2.1
Table 5-3	Haplotype Odds Ratios (HOR) for PsA associated with EGF rs11568943 and rs2237051158
Table 5-4	Haplotype Odds Ratio (HOR) analysis for VEGF rs699947 rs1570360, and rs2010963158
Table 5-5	Minor allele frequencies in oligoarticular and polyarticular subsets of PsA
Table 5-6	Minor allele frequencies in the spondyloarthritis subgroups of
	PsA
Table 5-7	Genotype frequencies in PPARy in PsA patients from Newfoundland
Table 5-8	Association of selected SNPs in the OPG, RANK, and RANKL genes in PsA
Table A-1	Distribution characteristics and statistical significance tests for the performance of CCA on each dataset

List of Figures

Figure 1-1(a-g): Photographs and X-rays of the various clinical patterns of Psoriatic Arthritis
	Fig 1-1a: Oligoarthritis 8 Fig 1-1b: Distal arthritis 8 Fig 1-1c: Psoriatic Spondyloarthropathy 9 Fig 1-1d: Polyarticular arthritis 10 Fig 1-1e: Arthritis Mutilans 10 Fig 1 1f: Head X ray of acutor Descriptio Arthritic 11
	Fig 1-1g: Foot X-ray and photo of severe Psoriatic Arthritis 12
Figure 1-2:	The overlap of genes associated with multiple auto-immune diseases
Figure 3-1:	Meta Analysis: Fixed Effects Model for -238 (A) and -308 (A) Variants
Figure 3-2(a-e)):Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Models for MICA A9, A4, A5, A5.1, and A6
	Fig 3-2a: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for <i>MICA</i> A9 93 Fig 3-2b: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for <i>MICA</i> A4 94 Fig 3-2c: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for <i>MICA</i> A5 95 Fig 3-2d: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for <i>MICA</i> A5.1 96 Fig 3-2e: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for <i>MICA</i> A6 97
Figure 5-1:	Linkage Disequilibrium in VEGF Markers
Figure 5-2:	Linkage Disequilibrium in EGF Markers
Figure 6-1:	Results of the Competitive Co-Evolutionary algorithm in PsA . 182
Figure 7-1:	Comparison of sample sizes required to detect a genetic effect via linkage and association
Figure 7-2(a-c)	Fig 7-2a: Candidate genes assessed in PsA
Figure A-1:	The mean squared error (MSE) measure for haplotype frequencies in 5 datasets in the presence of missing data 310
Figure A-2:	Evolution of each subpopulation in a typical CCA run

Figure A-3:	Fitness for 100 CCA run plotted for the IL1-AL, IL1-NF, Netrin G1, and PsA-NF dataset
Figure A-4:	Results of the Competitive Co-Evolutionary Algorithm for the II-1 gene cluster in AS
Figure A-5	Results of the Competitive Co-Evolutionary Algorithm in Schizophrenia

List of Abbreviations

AS Ankylosing Spondylitis CASPAR **Classification of Psoriatic Arthritis** Competitive Co-evolutionary Algorithm CCA CD Crohn disease Corneodesmosin CDSN **Distal Interphalangeal** DIP Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs DMARD Deoxyribose nucleic acid DNA Epidermal growth factor EGF FBAT Family Based Association Test FGF Fibroblast growth factor Genotype Relative Risk GRR Genome Wide Association Study GWAS Human Leukocyte Antigen HLA Haplotype Risk Ratio HRR Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium HWE Inflammatory bowel disease IBD Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus IDDM Interleukin IL LD Linkage disequilibrium Major Histocompatibility Complex MHC Major histocompatibility complex classl-related gene A MICA Nuclear-factor kappa-beta 1 NFKB1 Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs NSAID Osteoclast precursor cells OPC OPG Osteoprotegerin Odds Ratio OR Polymerase Chain Reaction PCR Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor-gamma PPARG **Psoriatic Arthrits** PsA Protein tyrosine phospatase non-receptor type 22 PTPN22 **Rheumatoid Arthritis** RA Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B RANK Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand RANKL Ribose nucleic acid RNA Synovio-entheseal complex SEC Systemic lupus erythematosus SLE Single Nucleotide Polymorphism SNP Undifferentiated spondyloarthropathy SpA Transmission disequilibrium test TDT **Tumour Necrosis Factor** TNF Ulcerative colitis UC Vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF

Co-authorship Statement

This thesis consists of nine published articles, one article which is an expanded version of a published abstract, and three others articles which we intend to submit for publication. Of these 13 articles, I am listed as primary author on 10. For any article in which I am listed as primary author, I participated in study design, performed the molecular genetic laboratory work, assisted in co-ordinating the statistical analysis, and drafted the original manuscript.

I am listed as second author for chapter 3.4 "Association of SEEK1 and psoriatic arthritis in two distinct Canadian populations" and for Chapter 6 "Epistasis: a novel algorithm detects gene-gene interaction in psoriatic arthritis". For Chapter 3.4 I performed the molecular genetic laboratory work and assisted in editing the original manuscript. For Chapter 6, I co-conceived of the study design, I performed the molecular genetic laboratory work, and co-authored the manuscript. As this chapter is largely dependent on an algorithm, I feel it is appropriate that Mr. Mohammed Uddin receive primary author credit, as the algorithm (which is included in Appendix 1) is entirely his design.

I am listed as third author for chapter 3.1 "TNF- α Polymorphisms and Risk of Psoriatic Arthritis in Caucasian Populations". For this article, I performed the molecular genetic laboratory work on the Newfoundland cohort, and assisted with editing of the original manuscript.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 – The Phenotype of Psoriatic Arthritis

Psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) are interrelated disorders, as most PsA patients have psoriasis (1). Psoriasis is a stubborn, chronic, T-cell mediated inflammatory skin disease affecting 1-2% of the Caucasian population (2), and 2-3% of the population worldwide (3). The differing population prevalences of PsA are given in Table 1-1. Although not life threatening, PsA may be associated with important morbidity and disability. An association between inflammatory arthritis and psoriasis, termed PsA, was formally recognized by the American Rheumatology association in 1964 (4), but was probably first described by Alibert in 1818 (5). PsA is an inflammatory form of arthritis usually seronegative for rheumatoid factor (6), which may affect as many as 30% of patients with psoriasis, thus up to 1% of the population may have PsA (7,8). PsA runs a highly variable course, from a mild non-destructive disease to a severe rapidly progressive erosive arthropathy (9).

The existence of PsA as a distinct clinical entity remains a topic of debate; some authors propose that it is simply the co-occurrence of psoriasis and inflammatory arthritis. As recently as July 2007, an editorial by Maxime Dougados entitled "Psoriatic Arthritis: Is it for Real?" was published in Joint Bone Spine (10). A disease entity, if real is likely to have a distinct prevalence differing from the expected co-occurrence of psoriasis and inflammatory arthritis and different susceptibility factors in addition to those that contribute to psoriasis and inflammatory arthritis alone.

2

Study/Year	Country	Prevalence (%)	-
Lomholt, 1963	Faroe Islands	0.04	-
Hellgren, 1969	Sweden	0.02	
van Romunde, 1984	Netherlands	0.05	
Shbeeb, 2000	USA	0.1	
Alamanos, 2003	Greece	0.06	
Trontzas, 2005	Greece	0.17	
Madland, 2005	Norway	0.2	
Gelfand, 2005	USA	0.25	

Table 1-1: Prevalence of PsA as reported in studies of different populations

Adapted from (11)

1.2 - Epidemiology of Psoriatic Arthritis

Psoriasis exists in either an early onset, prior to age 40, typically familial form (Type I), or as a later onset, more sporadic disease (Type II). Psoriasis typically precedes the onset of arthritis in roughly 70% of PsA patients, but may appear after (20%) or at the same time as (10%) as the development of arthritis (12). Estimates of the prevalence of PsA have been given as roughly 0.1% in Rochester Minnesota (13) to 2.5% in Toronto (14), to 0.04% to 1.2% in Sweden (15-17), while Gelfand et al. reported in 2005 a PsA prevalence of 0.25% (95% CI : 0.18%, 0.31%) (18). A recent survey by the National Psoriasis Foundation suggests prevalence of PsA to be 1.4% of general population in the US and

anywhere from 6-42% in psoriasis patients (19), and a recent European study that utilized a rheumatologist and dermatologist estimated a prevalence of inflammatory arthritis in psoriasis to be 30% (20). The prevalence of PsA in psoriasis patients from different populations is given in table 1-2. Given that the prevalence of inflammatory arthritis in the general population is estimated at 2 to 3% (3), the increased prevalence of PsA in psoriasis patients argues for a distinct disease entity. As an interesting corollary, it appears that psoriasis occurs more often in patients with a background of inflammatory arthritis. Harrison *et al.* (21) found that 5.3% of patients with early inflammatory polyarthritis had psoriasis on examination. Although this prevalence is thought to be higher than the general prevalence of psoriasis among Caucasians (roughly 1 - 2% (3,22)), Harrison *et al.*'s study did not include and internal control group for direct comparison. The evidence shows overwhelmingly that psoriasis and PsA are interrelated disorders.

1.3 - Clinical Features of Psoriatic Arthritis

The descriptions of arthritis associated with psoriasis complement the argument that it is a distinct entity. Unlike osteoarthritis, PsA is inflammatory in nature, and affects both proximal and distal joints. It differs from Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) by the lack of gender preference, the frequent involvement of distal interphalangeal

Table	1-2:	Prevalence	of	PsA	as	reported	in	psoriasis	patients	from
differe	nt po	pulations								

Study	Centre	Patients with Psoriasis	PsA (%)
Leczinsky, 1948	Sweden	534	7
Vilanova, 1951	Barcelona	214	25
Little, 1975	Toronto	100	32
Scarpa, 1984	Naples	180	34
Stern, 1985	Boston	1285	20
Zaneli, 1992	Winston-Salem, USA	459	17
Barisic-Drusko, 1994	Osijek region	553	10
Salvarani, 1995	Reggio Emilia	205	36
Shbeeb, 2000	Mayo Clinic, USA	1056	6.25
Brockbank, 2001	Toronto	126	31
Alenius, 2002	Sweden	276	48
National Psoriasis Foundation, 2002	USA	4.4 male	23
Zachariae, 2003	Denmark	5795	30

Adapted from (11)

(DIP) joints, the tendency of asymmetry, the absence of rheumatoid factor, the presence of spondyloarthropathy, as well as associations with HLA-B27 and the presence of extra-articular features common to the spondyloarthropathies (23). No laboratory diagnostic test exists for PsA. The erythrocyte sedimentation rate is elevated in 40 to 60% of PsA patients, particularly in those with the polyarticular form (8). In the past, the lack of rheumatoid factor activity was considered the

most distinctive laboratory feature of PsA. Studies have indicated, however, that low titres of rheumatoid factor are detected in 5-16% percent of patients (6) (24) (23).

The majority of PsA patients have the classic form of psoriasis vulgaris, although pustular psoriasis and erythroderma have also been reported, and in approximately 70% of cases psoriasis precedes the onset of arthritis (25). The type of psoriasis itself may play a role in determining the onset of PsA. A study examining the onset of PsA determined that patients with Type I psoriasis tend to develop skin disease approximately 9 years before joint disease, while those with Type II psoriasis tend to display skin and joint manifestations within a year of each other (26). There appears to be no clear relationship between the extent of psoriasis and severity of inflammatory arthritis (27). Nail lesions are the only clinical feature of skin psoriasis that is significantly associated with the development of PsA. Indeed, only 35 percent of patients recognize a link between the joint and skin disease (8). The onset of arthritis is usually slow and begins mildly before progressing, but it can occur acutely (23), and the course of PsA is usually characterized by flares and remissions. The first classifications of PsA based on arthritic clinical patterns were defined by Moll and Wright (6), and broke the disease into 5 patterns: 1) So called 'Classic PsA' confined to DIP joints of the hands and feet, affecting approximately 5% of PsA patients; 2) Arthritis Mutilans (i.e., bone resorption), otherwise known as destructive arthritis, often with sacroiliitis, affecting less than 5% of patients; 3) Symmetric polyarthritis indistinguishable from RA, which accounts for roughly 50% of all PsA cases; 4)

6

Asymmetric oligoarthritis affecting roughly 35% of patients, and finally; 5) Spondyloarthropathy, affecting 20-40% of patients and usually in association with peripheral joint involvement. Figure 1-1 (a – g) shows the physical manifestations of the different types of PsA in patients. Subsequent reports validated these subgroups; however there is considerable overlap and evolution between them, and the disease patterns can occur in combination (28). In addition, variability in the reporting physician's definition of symmetry, symmetric oligoarthritis, and peripheral and axial overlap pattern has led to differences in the reported frequency of the subsets of PsA (23).

Spondylitis is rarely observed at the onset of PsA: it tends to effect men and older patients, and it tends to begin later in the course of the disease (29). The spondylitis can include sacroiliitis (often asymmetric) and spinal disease similar to AS consisting of pain and stiffness of the cervical, thoracic and lumbar spine. Other clinical features of PsA include dactylitis and enthesitis (6,30,31). Dactylitis occurs in more than 30% of patients and is characterized by a diffuse swelling of the entire digit along with arthritis of the distal and proximal interphalangeal and metacarpophalangeal or metatasrophalangeal joints. Magnetic resonance imaging studies have revealed effusions in the affected joints and within tendon sheaths (32). Further it is clear that patterns of PsA are not permanent; more than 60% change from their initial disease pattern (1,33). McHugh *et al.* (34) observed this phenomenon of changing disease patterns in a five year prospective study in which they followed 87 consecutive PsA patients. They found that eighteen patients changed subgroup; 11 had an increase

7

Figure 1-1(a-g): Photographs and X-rays of the various clinical patterns of Psoriatic Arthritis



Fig 1-1a: Oligoarthritis



Fig 1-1b: Distal arthritis





Fig 1-1c: Psoriatic Spondyloarthropathy



Fig 1-1d: Polyarticular arthritis



Fig 1-1e: Arthritis Mutilans



Fig 1-1f: Hand X-ray of severe Psoriatic Arthritis





Fig 1-1g: Foot X-ray and photo of severe Psoriatic Arthritis
in the number of joints involved, six a decrease, and one changed from an oligoarticular pattern to predominant spondylitis. Within the polyarticular group 37/51 patients had an increase in the number of joints involved. For the whole population, there were significant increases in the number of joints involved. There were no significant differences in skin and nail scores although nine more patients had developed nail disease.

Despite attempts to optimize medical therapy, a large number of patients with PsA go on to develop erosive polyarthritis while some patients develop ankylosis. The prevalence of deformity and damage in PsA is similar to that reported in RA (23). Over time, there is clinically active arthritis such that by the time patients have been followed for more than 10 years, 55% have five or more deformed joints (29). One study of patients with the early onset form of PsA showed that 47% presented to the clinic with at least one joint erosion within two years of disease onset (35). Thus PsA can be a destructive, inflammatory arthritis resulting in a significant health and economic burden (36).

Likely owing to the debate regarding the acceptance of the existence of PsA as a distinct disease entity, until recently it lacked a widely-agreed upon or validated case definition (37). While the Moll and Wright classification criteria for PsA has been in use for many years, the heterogeneity of clinical features of the disease has resulted in several different attempts to further refine the classifications for the disease (8,38-42). Recently, the CASPAR study group (CIASsification of Psoriatic Arthritis) compared the test performance characteristics of these criteria using data retrospectively obtained from case

notes and radiographs of patients with PsA or RA, in order to determine more accurate and acceptable diagnostic criteria for PsA (25). Data were collected on 588 PsA cases and 536 controls with RA (n=384), ankylosing spondylitis (AS) (n=72), undifferentiated arthritis (n=38), connective tissue disorders (n=14), and other diseases (n=28). The CASPAR diagnostic criteria for PsA consists of established inflammatory articular disease (joint, spine, or entheseal) with at least 3 points from the following five categories: 1) [A] Current psoriasis (assigned a score of 2; all other features were assigned a score of 1); [B] A history of psoriasis (unless current psoriasis was present); [C] A family history of psoriasis in a first or second degree relative. 2) Nail dystrophy; 3) Seronegativity for rheumatoid factor; 4) Dactylitis; 5) Radiographic evidence of juxtaarticular new bone formation. When applied to PsA patients presenting at rheumatology clinics, these criteria were found to be more specific, but slightly less sensitive than the various existing diagnostic criteria in use. One major purpose of studies for these classification criteria is to enroll appropriate patients into clinical intervention, thus criteria with high specificity are more desirable than criteria with high sensitivity. The CASPAR criteria have been derived from observed patient data, are more specific in a rheumatology clinic setting, and are easier to use than existing classification criteria. Thus, the CASPAR criteria (Summarized in Table 1-3) have rapidly become the gold standard for PsA diagnosis.

Even with agreed diagnostic criteria, there remains disagreement as to the severity of the disease. While the disease patterns described by Moll & Wright and CASPAR may be clearly recognized at disease onset, it has been difficult to

Table 1-3: CASPAR Criteria for diagnosis of PsA

Inflammatory r	nusculoskeletal disease	e (joint, spine, or entheseal)	
With 3 or more	e of the following:		
1. Evidence of psoriasis (one of a, b, c)	a. Current psoriasis*	Psoriatic skin or scalp disease present today as judged by a dermatologist or rheumatologist	
	b. Personal history of psoriasis	A history of psoriasis that may be obtained from patient, family doctor, dermatologist or rheumatologist	
	c. Family history of psoriasis	A history of psoriasis in a first or second degree relative according to patient report	
2. Psoriatic nail dystrophy		Typical psoriatic nail dystrophy including onycholysis, pitting and hyperkeratosis observed on current physical examination	
3. A negative test for rheumatoid factor		By any method except latex but preferably by ELISA or nephelometry, according to the local laboratory reference range	
4. Dactylitis (either a or b)	a. Current Dactylitis	Swelling of an entire digit	
	b. History of Dactylitis	Recorded by a rheumatologist	
5. Radiological evidence of juxta- articular new bone formation		Ill-defined ossification near joint margins (but excluding osteophyte formation) on plain x-rays of hand or foot	

Specificity 98.7%, sensitivity 91.4%. *Current psoriasis scores 2

Adapted from Taylor W, et al. 2006

ascertain whether these patterns have prognostic implications since there have been few prospective longitudinal studies in this disease. Moreover, in the few studies that did follow patients over time, the patterns demonstrate change over time (1,28,33). Earlier studies suggested that PsA was not a severe disease, but more recent experience describes a less benign clinical course, with the majority of patients (60%) presenting with polyarthritis (8,43), and with evidence of progression of deformities over time in a large proportion of patients (8). As mentioned previously, psoriasis precedes the onset of arthritis in approximately 70% of cases. The interval between the onset of psoriasis and arthritis can be extremely variable. There is no direct correlation between the severity of skin and joint manifestations except perhaps in those patients with simultaneous onset of both manifestations (39,44,45). Nail lesions, including pits and onycholysis signal the development of PsA (46), but at the same time, the presence of nail lesions appears to modify the risk for mortality in this disease (47). Nail lesions occur in 90 percent of patients with PsA and in only 41 percent of those with psoriasis uncomplicated by arthritis (46).

Gladman *et al.* introduced the concept of severity in psoriatic arthritis in 1987 (8), while others have recently confirmed that patients with psoriatic arthritis have a severe, progressive disease (34,43,48). Gladman *et al.* further demonstrated that over a 5 year period there is progression of both clinical and radiological damage in PsA, despite medical therapy (49,50), and that the radiological changes of patients with PsA are similar to those of patients with RA

(51), indicating that while the two diseases are distinct medical conditions, some underlying mechanisms in the progression of the diseases may be similar. They further demonstrated that progression of clinical damage was related to the number of actively inflamed joints at presentation (30). The predictive role of polyarthritis in the development of further damage was recently confirmed in another cohort of patients with PsA (46), while further studies also demonstrated that persistent inflammation leads to further damage (52). Gladman *et al.* have also demonstrated that disease severity is associated with early mortality in patients with PsA (47) (36). On the other hand, there are patients who may have milder disease course and experience remission (53).

With respect to mortality, one study indicated that there was no significant increase when comparing PsA patients to the general population (13). Studies from hospital environments, however, have indicated that there is an increased risk of death for PsA patients, with a standardized mortality ratio of 1.59 (female) – 1.65 (male) (36). Disease severity also appears to predispose for increased mortality (47), however, more recent reports indicate that there has been improved survival rates among PsA patients with the advent of newer therapies. Follow up data indicates that the mortality risk has dropped, particularly for males, to an overall mortality risk of 1.36. Of interest, the numbers of years of life lost was calculated at 3 years, similar to the number reported for patients with severe psoriasis (54).

1.4 Co-morbidities of Psoriatic Arthritis

Psoriasis and PsA are both T cell driven diseases (55,56) (this will be discussed in greater detail in section 1.6). A specific T cell subset known as T helper 1 (Th1) cells are responsible for an increase in antigen presentation and T cell activation. Increasing evidence suggests that a Th1 immune response, including activated T cells, antigen presenting cells, cytokines, and markers of systemic inflammation such as C-reactive protein, are important factors in the development of atherosclerotic plaques and ultimately, myocardial infarction (57). The observation that other Th1 driven disease such as RA have an increased risk of myocardial infarction adds support to the hypothesis that Th1 mediated disease may predispose to cardiovascular disease (58,59). The excess risk of cardiovascular disease in psoriasis has been demonstrated in a number of observational studies (60-64). One clinic-based study found that the risk of arterial and venous vascular diseases myocardial infarction. (e.g., thrombophlebitis, pulmonary embolization, and cerebrovascular accident) was 2.2 times higher among patients with psoriasis compared with control patients with other dermatologic conditions (61). In a large European referral cohort of patients with psoriasis, obesity, diabetes mellitus, heart failure, and hypertension were almost twice as frequent in patients with psoriasis as in control subjects (62). One recent study looked at 127,139 mild and 3837 severe psoriasis patients and 556,995 control patients and found that - after adjusting for hypertension, diabetes, history of myocardial infarction, hyperlipidemia, age, sex, smoking, and

body mass index - for a 30-year-old patient with mild or severe psoriasis, the adjusted RR of having an MI is 1.29 (95% CI, 1.14 - 1.46) and 3.10 (95% CI, 1.98 - 4.86), respectively, and concluded that psoriasis likely confers an independent risk for myocardial infarction (64).

While obesity and the often accompanying metabolic syndrome are also risk factors for MI, they are serious medical conditions of their own accord often requiring medical intervention. Several reports have shown an increased rate of obesity in case control studies (65-67). Metabolic syndrome, which comprises a cluster of risk factors, including obesity, dyslipidaemia, hypertension and glucose intolerance which can lead to diabetes, is a strong predictor of cardiovascular disease. Two case–control studies have demonstrated an increased prevalence of metabolic syndrome and its contributing components in patients hospitalized for severe psoriasis (66,68).

While psoriasis and PsA are interrelated disorders, there is much less literature available regarding the accompanying co-morbidities of PsA. One recent review reported on the varying causes of death amongst PsA patients, and found that between 25% - 55% of PsA patients die from cardiovascular disease, between 10% - 25% from respiratory illnesses, and 11% - 24% die from cancer (69). It becomes apparent when examining the co-morbidities that are associated with psoriasis and PsA, that several different pathological mechanisms must be involved in these disease processes.

1.5 - Treatment of Psoriatic Arthritis

Until very recently, PsA was considered to be a very mild disease, and patients were usually treated with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (9). In the usual manner of treatment during the early stages of disease, the physician typically attempts to treat the most prominent issue for the patient. If the major issue is the skin manifestations, then they are treated first, usually by a dermatologist, and the joint manifestations are managed with NSAIDs (27). NSAIDs, however, are associated with significant adverse events, and it must be noted that they do not modify the course of the disease, nor do they prevent development or progression of erosions. Thus, if patients respond poorly to NSAIDs or if there is already erosive disease, patients should be treated aggressively with disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (DMARDs) - although ideally patients would be treated with DMARDs before erosive disease is present (27). Methotrexate, Cyclosporine, Sulfasalazine and Leflunomide are the most commonly used DMARDs for severe psoriasis and PsA in clinical practice (70). It has been reported that a higher rate of toxicity has been associated with methotrexate use in PsA versus RA, resulting in earlier discontinuation of therapy (71). It is thought that methotrexate therapy may induce more hepatotoxicity in psoriasis and PsA than in RA, although the reason for this is unclear (72). Despite this, methotrexate continues to be the DMARD of choice in the treatment of PsA as a result of its effects on both arthritis and skin disease (73). Other

studies however, have indicated that Cyclosporine is also not tolerated well and likewise leads to hepatotoxicity (74).

When DMARDs fail to provide sufficient resolution, the next step is the use of biologic therapies. As will be described in greater detail in Section 1.5, TNF- α is a critical cytokine in the pathogenesis of PsA and thus is an obvious therapeutic target. TNF- α antagonists such as etanercept (synthetic TNF- α receptor), infliximab (chimeric anti-TNF- α monoclonal antibody), adalimumab (humanized anti-TNF-α monoclonal antibody), and golimumab (human anti-TNFa monoclonal antibody) have all shown significant improvement in PsA patients according to the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) 20 and 50 criteria (73). However, it is important to realize that most reports of TNF- α antagonist therapy in PsA have focused solely on the treatment of peripheral arthritis while not assessing the effect on axial disease, dactylitis, and enthesitis. Although not specifically assessed, one trial did report that back pain and stiffness associated with PsA responded to infliximab therapy (75). Interestingly, other recent work has also suggested that infliximab may have a direct effect on angiogenesis in PsA. One study suggests that infliximab was associated with histologic evidence of decreased vascularisation in synovial tissue biopsies (76). Further, there appeared to be changes in tissue markers suggesting a reduction in angiogenesis, including reduction in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). An additional study also noted similar findings in that decreased neovascularisation was seen in skin and synovial tissue after treatment with infliximab (77). Other methods of biological therapy include preventing the activation of T cells, thus disrupting the psoriatic cascade. Medications such as Alefacept, and Abatacept block interactions between antigen-presenting cells and T cells, thus interfering with activation of T lymphocytes and migration of cells to the site of inflammation (78).

Newer targets are also being pursued as further advances in the understanding of disease pathogenesis are revealed. Ustekinumab, an inhibitor of IL-12/23 has shown efficacy in randomized control trials in psoriasis and PsA (79)(80), while other agents aimed at reducing bone erosions by inhibiting osteoclastogenesis are also being investigated for their efficacy in the treatment of PsA (81). As newer treatment options in psoriasis and PsA are approved and introduced into clinical practice, the mechanisms of the disease are further elucidated, enabling a greater understanding of the basis of pathogenesis in PsA.

1.6 - Pathogenesis of Psoriatic Arthritis

As with most complex diseases, historically there has been some debate as to the exact sequence of events in the development of PsA. This is further complicated by the close relationship of PsA to uncomplicated psoriasis. In recent years the immunopathogenesis has been greatly debated and reviewed extensively (82-85).

In the mid 1980s, it was discovered that T cells play a role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis; the immunosuppressive drug, cyclosporine, cleared

psoriasis. Cyclosporine was shown that to have direct antiproliferative effects on keratinocytes at therapeutic concentrations, and acts primarily through a blockade of the T cells (86). Similar improvements were seen in psoriatic patients treated with methotrexate for other disease processes. Further evidence supporting the role of T cells in psoriasis was found in the severe combined immunodeficiency disease mouse model, where the transplantation of normal appearing skin of psoriatic patients, followed by the intradermal injection of activated peripheral blood T cells of the same patient, clinically and histologically induced the appearance of psoriatic plaques (87). Likewise, psoriasis has been triggered or cured by bone marrow transplantation, depending upon whether the donor or the host had psoriasis (88,89).

1.6.1 - Synovial Histopathology

Skin and synovial biopsies in PsA patients have revealed that T lymphocytes are the most common inflammatory cells in the skin and joints (31,90). CD4+ T cells are the most significant lymphocytes in the tissues, with a CD4+/ CD8+ ratio of 2:1; in contrast, this ratio is reversed in the synovial fluid compartment and at the enthesis, where CD8+ T cells are more common (91,92). A dominant CD8+ T cell population in PsA synovial fluid suggests that these cells may be driving the immune response in the joint (93). This is strongly supported by the long established association of PsA with major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I genes (46). T cell receptor (TCR) repertoire oligoclonality more commonly expressed in the CD8+ T cell population has been identified in

epidermal cells (94) and in the synovium (95) of patients with PsA. Helper T cells have classically been described as two different classes of cells: type 1 (Th1) and type 2 (Th2). Th1 cells are thought to mediate cellular immunity and secrete the proinflammatory cytokines IL-2, interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α). Th2 cells are thought to mediate humoral immunity and secrete antiinflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-13. Studies have shown that patients with psoriasis have an increased expression of IFN- γ compared with IL-4 in circulating T cells when compared with healthy volunteers In addition, similar studies have found an increased expression of IFN- γ over IL-4 in T cells located in the epidermal layer. Thus a substantial and growing body of evidence has been generated supporting the concept that psoriasis and PsA are mediated by activated antigen-specific T cells (96), with a Th1-dominated cytokine profile (97).

PsA synovial membranes share more common characteristics with other forms of spondyloarthritis than with RA (98). Synovial biopsies from patients with PsA and other spondyloarthropathies have shown significantly less lining layer thickness and greater vascularity than those obtained from RA patients (99), and increased vascularity at both the macroscopic and microscopic level in PsA membranes have been observed (100,101). Lining layer hyperplasia is less marked in PsA and fewer macrophages are observed trafficking into the synovium and out to the lining layer, although the number of T lymphocytes and their subsets are similar in frequency to that found in RA (90). Higher neutrophil numbers are also observed, which is consistent with the well-described neutrophil infiltration seen in psoriatic skin (102). When PsA subtypes are compared, however, no significant differences were seen between oligo- and polyarticular PsA (99).

1.6.2 - Enthesitis

Enthesis are the point at which a tendon, ligament or muscle inserts into bone, where the collagen fibres are mineralized and integrated into bone tissue. Enthesitis is a common feature in all spondyloarthropathies, and McGonagle, et al have hypothesized that enthesitis is a primary event in PsA with secondary spread of inflammation to the synovium (103). Imaging studies suggest that the primary site of inflammation is the entheseal insertion of joint capsule and extensor tendon, but longitudinal studies are lacking (104). Jevtic et al., first described the extensive extracapsular inflammation seen on MRI scans in PsA (105). Half their patients showed extrasynovial inflammation including thickened collateral ligaments and periarticular soft tissue, particularly in dactylitic joints. In one joint, predominant extracapsular inflammation was seen without significant associated synovitis, thus raising the possibility of nonsynovial inflammation in PsA (105). However, not all patients showed evidence of extracapsular inflammation. Thus, in PsA some patients may have a predominantly synovial disease as in RA, and some may show a predominantly entheseal disease (as in undifferentiated spondyloarthropathy (SpA)). An insertion site per se does not appear to be a prerequisite for disease expression, for functional entheses are sites of repeated shear and compressive stressing (106).

While synovial inflammation is a cardinal manifestation of PsA, a link with enthesitis was not firmly established until recently (107). The recent recognition of a synovio-entheseal complex (SEC) may help resolve the relationship between synovitis and enthesitis in PsA (32). The SEC model shows how enthesis fibrocartilage could derive lubrication and nourishment from adjacent synovium in a manner identical to the long appreciated interaction between articular cartilage and synovium. Hence, it appears that all sites of disease in PsA can be linked to the common denominator of enthesitis.

1.6.3 - Bone Remodelling

Another of the hallmarks of PsA is an unpredictable pattern of bone resorption and concomitant new bone formation. The constantly changing nature of the human skeleton is not limited to perpetual bone turnover but can also be observed in the interactions between bone and other organ systems. One particularly intriguing interaction which has gained much attention in recent years is the link between the skeletal and immunological systems. The recent understanding of an interplay between adaptive immune cells and cells involved in skeletal remodelling led to the development of a field known as osteoimmunology (108,109). This rapidly expanding field has the potential to facilitate the translation of basic science knowledge in bone biology into an improved understanding of the pathological mechanisms involved in altered remodelling in inflammatory arthritis (110).

Radiographs of PsA joints reveal significantly altered bone remodelling in the form of tuft resorption, large eccentric erosions, and pencil-in-cup deformities along with features of new bone formation such as periostitis and bone ankylosis (111). With respect to bone resorption, biopsies of joints in PsA patients demonstrate large multinucleated osteoclasts in deep resorption pits at the bonepannus junction (112). Data has indicated that osteoclast formation begins in the earliest stages of arthritis (113)

Until recently, the molecular events that underlie osteoclastogenesis were not well understood. Elucidation of the signalling pathway of the receptor activator of nuclear factor KB ligand (RANKL) and receptor activator of nuclear factor KB (RANK) has clarified some of the crucial first steps required for the process of osteoclast formation and activation (114). To summarize the process briefly. Boyle et al observed that RANKL, expressed on the surface of osteoblasts, stromal cells in the bone marrow, and infiltrating T lymphocytes and synoviocytes in the inflamed joint, binds to RANK, a cell-associated TNF receptor-related protein. RANK is expressed on a variety of cell types, including osteoclast precursors and osteoclasts. In normal bone, ongoing bone resorption mediated by osteoclasts is closely linked to new bone formation by osteoblasts (114). High expression of RANKL by synovial fibroblastoid cells coupled with diminished expression of osteoprotegerin (OPG), an antagonist of RANKL, has been observed by immunohistochemistry in psoriatic synovium (112), and an elevated RANKL/OPG ratio favours the differentiation of osteoclasts from monocytes and tips the balance towards bone resorption (107). The interaction

between RANKL and its receptor RANK in the presence of macrophage colony stimulating factor is necessary and sufficient for osteoclastogenesis and subsequent bone resorption. In addition, osteoprotegerin (OPG), a decoy receptor, can bind to RANKL and neutralize bioactivity. OPG inhibits osteolysis, and the ratio of RANKL to osteoprotegerin in a particular tissue is the primary factor determining the extent of bone resorption. Interestingly, RANKL is also expressed by T Cells which infiltrate into the synovial lining of inflamed joints (115). Further to this, blocking RANKL has resulted in some protection from cartilage destruction in arthritic animal models (116).

In addition to this, circulating osteoclast precursor cells (OPCs) were elevated in PsA patients when compared to healthy controls. Treatment with TNF- α inhibiting drugs significantly decreased the level of OCPs in peripheral blood thus providing evidence of a central role for TNF- α in the mechanism of bone resorption (112). TNF- α stimulates osteoclastogenesis via its interaction with the p55 subunit of the TNF- α receptor (TNFp55r) (117). Once bound to this receptor, TNF- α exerts several effects that foster increased osteoclast formation. TNF stimulates RANKL expression in bone marrow stromal cells and also activates the p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cell-signalling pathway which leads to increased expression of colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (c-Fms). Binding of macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) to c-Fms stimulates RANK expression in osteoclast precursors. The RANKL upregulated by TNF- α in the bone marrow stromal cells binds to RANK on the

osteoclast precursors and drives increased cell signalling downstream of RANK (110).

The importance of TNF- α in this process has also been shown in animal models of inflammatory erosive arthritis. The TNF-transgenic mouse, for example, closely mimics human disease and represents the first predictive animal model of arthritis as these animals develop erosive arthritis with focal subchondral and joint margin bone erosions (118). On a cellular level, an effect of TNF- α in these animals is a four to seven-fold increase in osteoclast precursors while treatment of the TNF transgenic mice with anti-TNF- α agents restored the number of cells in this population to levels seen in their wild type littermates (119). Beyond animal models, one small study of 24 PsA patients and 12 controls examined the relationship between elevated TNF and bone-resorbing osteoclasts in PsA. The authors observed significantly increased numbers of circulating, unstimulated OCPs derived from unstimulated cultured monocytes (i.e. no RANKL or M-CSF added to the cultures) in the PsA subjects relative to controls (112). Another recent study also demonstrated that OCP frequency dropped dramatically following therapy with etanercept in patients with erosive PsA. (120).

While the mechanisms of bone resorption have recently been elucidated, the events responsible for new bone formation are poorly understood (121). Only a few factors that participate in osteoproliferation and new bone formation have been identified. Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMP) are pivotal molecules in bony ankylosis as shown in the DBA/1 mouse model (122). Aging DBA/1 male mice, when caged together, become extremely aggressive and develop an ankylosing enthesitis, which has features that are similar to the pathology observed in psoriatic joints (123). While no studies have yet been performed on sites of new bone formation in psoriatic joints, transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) is highly expressed in synovial tissues of AS patients (124), and animal models indicate that TGF- β interacts with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) to induce bone formation (125). Osteophytes, or the overgrowth of bone tissue more commonly called 'bone spurs' have been shown to express VEGF (126). The subchondral vascular system has a pivotal role in the regulation of ossification. Marginal osteophytes form when capillaries penetrate the subchondral bone and deep zone of articular cartilage. VEGF is thus likely to be an important regulator of angiogenesis during osteophyte development and thus new bone formation. (126).

1.6.4 - Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis appears to be a first-order event in both psoriasis and PsA (127). Abnormalities in the vascular morphology of the nail-folds of psoriasis patients without nail disease have been observed (128), as well as an increase in the number of synovial membrane blood vessels in PsA joint tissue (90), and as described in section 1.5.4, also plays a role in new bone formation. When viewed through an arthroscope, the blood vessels in psoriatic arthritis synovia are tortuous and dilated, with little or no branching whereas those in rheumatoid arthritis membranes have a straight pattern with regular branching, reflecting a different pathogenesis and outcome (101). The existence of these elongated and

tortuous vessels in skin and joint suggest dysregulated angiogenesis resulting in immature vessels. Angiogenic growth factors such as TGF- β and VEGF are markedly increased in psoriasis, both circulating and within psoriatic plaques (129), and VEGF and TGF- β levels have been observed to be significantly higher in the joint fluid in early PsA (130). Further, expression of angiopoietins, co-localise with VEGF protein and mRNA in PsA synovial membranes in a perivascular distribution (131).

Angiogenic targets are also being investigated for their therapeutic value: recently, a novel application of the peroxisome proliferator activated receptorgamma (PPARG) agonist drug, pioglitazone, originally developed for the treatment of diabetes, was reported in the treatment of PsA (132). Activation of PPARG by pioglitazone has been shown to significantly reduce inflammatory cytokine expression (133) and suppress neoangiogenesis (134) in models of inflammatory disease. In this small trial, 60% of enrolled patients saw significant improvement from baseline. The benefits of this therapy are further underscored by evidence that PPARG plays a role in regulating VEGF expression (135) and that polymorphisms in the *PPARG* gene influence serum OPG levels (136,137). Thus, the evidence for angiogenesis as a common pathogenic pathway in psoriatic skin and joints is quite compelling.

<u>1.7 – Heritability of Psoriatic Arthritis</u>

Both psoriasis and PsA are highly heritable. One of the most widely accepted (and often first attempted) ways to establish the genetic proportion of a disease is to examine the concordance rates in monozygotic twins compared to dizygotic twins (138). Psoriasis is highly heritable as evidenced by an increased rate of concordance - roughly three times higher - in monozygotic versus dizygotic twins (35-72% vs. 12- 23% respectively) (139). However, concordance is never 100%, and can be as low as 35% which does suggest that environmental factors must also play an important role (140). Until early 2008, there were no published reports of twin studies in PsA, likely due to its low prevalence. The only published article resembling a twin study came from Moll and Wright (141), who reported a triplet consisting of an identical twin and a nonidentical third triplet. The identical twins both developed psoriasis with one having spondylitis and the other polyarthritis. The non-identical triplet had no psoriasis or arthritis. In January of 2008, Pederson et al. (142) published the first true twin study in Psoriatic Arthritis, using the Danish twin registry. Following responses to a survey, 36 pairs of twins were identified with at least one twin positively diagnosed with PsA according to both the Moll and Wright (143) and CASPAR (25) criteria. According to the Moll & Wright criteria, the proband-wise concordance rates were 1/10 (10% (95% CI: 2%, 40%)) and 1/26 (3.8% (95% CI: 0.7%, 19%)) in monozygotic and dizygotic twins respectively (difference 6.3% (95% Cl: -11%, 37%), p = 0.49). If the CASPAR criteria was used, the proband-

wise concordance rates were 1/9 (11% (95%CI: 2%, 44%) and 1/22 (5% (95% CI: 1%, 22%) in monozygotic and dizygotic twins respectively (difference 6.6% (95%CI: -13%, 39), p = 0.52). With regard to Ps skin disease in the PsA population (defined by the Moll &Wright criteria), the proband-wise concordance rates were 6/11 (55%) in monozygotic twins and 6/28 (21%) in dizygotic twins. Thus, based on concordance estimates, they found a significant genetic effect on Ps skin disease in PsA twins, and a substantial genetic component for the development of PsA. While the data from Pederson *et al.'s* twin study do implicate a genetic component for PsA, the numbers used to calculate remain small, again likely due to the disease's low prevalence.

Following the examination of twin concordances, the magnitude of a genetic contribution to a disease is calculated by determining the proportion of disease in the siblings (or other degree of relatives) as compared to the prevalence of the disease in the general population. This parameter – known as the recurrence risk ratio - was originally formulated by Neil Risch, and is denoted as λ_R , where R represents the degree of relatedness (144) (i.e., λ_1 would indicate a first degree relative – a full sibling, parent, or child, while λ_s would refer to siblings only). Briefly, to calculate the λ value for the degree of relatedness being studied, the frequency of disease in the (for example, first-degree) relatives is divided by the population frequency of the disease. The recurrence risk ratio for psoriasis is estimated to be between 4 and 10 (145).

Re-analysis of published data of psoriasis from the Faeroe Islands (15), Sweden (146) and Germany (147) revealed a λ_1 of 8 for the Faeroe Islands

cohort, 4 for the Swedish cohort, and 10 for the German cohort, indicating substantive familial aggregating of Psoriasis (140) (148). Risch also developed a formula for using risk ratios among relatives of different degrees to obtain information about genetic models. When the risk ratio (λ_{R} –1) decreases by a factor of greater than 2 between the first and second degrees of relatedness, the data are consistent with a multilocus model. As this factor was 7 in the Faeroe Islands study and 8 in the Swedish study, a multilocus model for psoriasis is predicted.

Due again to the low prevalence of PsA, the number of studies estimating the familial aggregation of PsA are quite low in number. Moll and Wright's (141) study in 1973 assessed first and second degree relatives of 88 probands with PsA. There were a total of 181 first-degree relatives, of which 10 had PsA, including 5 siblings indicating that the overall prevalence of PsA among first degree relatives is 5.5%. The prevalence of PsA in the UK at the time was accepted as being approximately 0.1%, therefore the λ_1 risk for first degree relatives of PsA probands, was 55 – a number significantly higher than that for relatives of psoriasis probands, as described above.

More recently, two reports have published new data on the familial recurrence risk of PsA. Meyers *et al.* (149) examined 80 PsA probands and 112 siblings who presented at the Rheumatology department of Freeman Hospital at Newcastle-Upon-Tyne, UK. Sibling prevalence was reported at 14.3% making the λ_s 47. Chandran *et al.* (150) examined 100 consecutive probands who had 396 total first degree relatives. 289 of these participated (73%) (130 sibs, 108 parents,

51 children). The authors assumed a population prevalence of 0.25% for PsA and 2% for Ps as described previously by Gelfand *et al.* (18) It was found that the prevalence of PsA was 7.6%, and the prevalence of psoriasis was 15.2% among first degree relatives. Therefore, λ_1 was 30.4 for PsA and 7.6 for psoriasis. With respect to the siblings, the λ_s was found to be 30.8 for PsA and 8.8 for psoriasis. To put these numbers into perspective, the λ_s for RA is estimated to be between 2 and 17 (151), and for Type 1 Diabetes is 15 (152).

Interestingly, an epigenetic mode of inheritance has been observed in PsA. Rahman *et al.* (153) observed excessive paternal transmission (i.e., genetic imprinting) when it was discovered that the proportion of probands with an affected father (0.65) was significantly greater than the expected proportion of 0.5 (p = 0.001). Similar trends were noted in the offspring and second degree relatives of the proband. Imprinting, exemplified by the Prader-Willi/Angelman syndromes, has been implicated in other auto-immune diseases such as insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) and inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). This paternal transmission has also been reported in Icelandic PsA families (154). Taken cumulatively, these family data argue for a substantial genetic component to both psoriasis and PsA.

1.8 - Review of the Genetics of Psoriatic Arthritis

1.8.1 – Genetic Basis of Psoriasis

Psoriasis and PsA are interrelated disorders, as most PsA patients have psoriasis (1). Psoriasis is known to be an immunologically mediated disease, however the molecular events triggering this immune-activation remain unclear. Psoriasis has long been accepted as having a strong family history, and as described in section 1.6, Chandran *et al* recently demonstrated that psoriasis is highly heritable with a λ_1 of 7.6 and a λ_s of 8.8 (150).

Several regions of the genome have been linked to susceptibility for the development of psoriasis, with the most consistently observed region being a locus within the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) region at chromosome 6p21.3 (155,156). This locus has been named *PSORS1* (**Psoriasis Susceptibility** region 1) and association studies have consistently demonstrated an association with the *HLA-Cw6* allele across several different populations (157,158). It is estimated that this region accounts for one-third to one-half of the genetic susceptibility to psoriasis (159).

Recent analysis has confirmed that *HLA-Cw6* is the variant in the MHC region which predisposes to psoriasis (160). Psoriasis affects males and females in equal proportions and can occur at any age (161). Carriage of the *HLA-Cw6* allele is most common in those with an early age of onset and family history (i.e., Type I Psoriasis) (162) (it is worth noting, however, that despite the strong association with *HLA-Cw6*, not all psoriasis patients carry the allele. In

independent sets of affected individuals/families it is only found in 40-80% of cases. Moreover the penetrance of HLA-Cw6 is 10%, implicating environmental effects or additional genetic susceptibility factors (163)). While the PSORS1 locus is generally understood to confer the most significant risk for the development of psoriasis, several other susceptibility loci also have been identified outside of the MHC region. Linkage scans have implicated other loci designated as PSORS2-PSORS10; however in many of these replication has been difficult to achieve and statistical significance is often low (164). Of these, the PSORS2 (17q24-25), PSORS5 (3q21) and PSORS9 (4q28-31) loci show the strongest evidence for replication. Four independent linkage studies have shown significance (p < 0.01) for the PSORS2 region following the original report, while another reported significance at p = 0.05 (155,165-169). PSORS5 has likewise been replicated (170,171), while a meta analysis of four different genome wide linkage scans using Caucasian and Chinese Han populations observed significance in only the PSORS1 and PSORS9 loci (172). A summary of all implicated PSORS regions is included in Table 1-4.

As will be described in more detail in section 1.7.4, the few genome-wide association studies performed in psoriasis have found significance for SNPs in the MHC region, as well as variants of the *II-23R* and *II-12B* genes as well as two genes that act downstream of TNF- α and regulate NF- κ B signalling (*TNIP1*, *TNFAIP3*).

Locus	Region	Gene Candidates	Lead Author and Year of Publication of Psoriasis Susceptibility Studies
PSORS1	6p21.3	HLA-Cw6; CDSN, HCR, HERV-K, HCG2, 7PS04S1C3, POU5F1, TCF19, CCHCR1, LMP, SEEK1, SPR1	Samuelsson L, 1999; Lee YA, 2000; Elder JT, 2001; Veal CD, 2001; Zhang XJ, 2002; Foerster J, 2004; Sagoo GS, 2004
PSORS2	17q25	RUNX1; RAPTOR; SLC9A3R1; NAT9; TBCD	Tomfohrde J, 1994; Nair RP, 1997; Enlund F, 1999; Samuelsson L, 1999; Helms C, 2003; ZhengY, 2003; Capon F, 2004; Stuart P, 2006; Capon F, 2007
PSORS3	4q34	IRF-2	Matthews D, 1996; Hida S, 2000; Foerster J, 2004
PSORS4	1q21	Loricrin; Filaggrin; Pglyrp3,4; S100 genes within epidermal differentiation complex	Bhalerao J, 1998; Capon F, 1999; Semprini S, 2002; Giardina E, 2004; Giardina E, 2006; Sun C, 2006; Zhao Y, 2007
PSORS5	3q	SLC12A8; Cystatin A; Zn finger protein 148	Enlund F, 1999; Samuelsson L, 1999; Hewett, 2002; Samuelsson L, 2004; Huffmeier U, 2005
PSORS6	19p13	JunB	Lee YA, 2000; Zenz R, 2005
PSORS7	1p	PTPN22 (1p13); IL-23R (1p32.1–31.2)	Veal CD, 2001; Tsunemi Y, 2002; Nistor I, 2005; Duerr RH, 2006; Huffmeier U, 2006; Capon F, 2007;Cargill M, 2007
PSORS8	16q	CX3CL1, CX3R1; NOD2/CARD15	Nair RP, 1997; Karason A, 2003; Young C, 2003; Plant D, 2006
PSORS9	4q31	II-15	Bhalerao J, 1998; Samuelsson L, 1999; Zhang XJ, 2002; Bowcock AM, 2004; Sagoo GS, 2004; Sun LD, 2007; Zhang XJ, 2007
PSORS10	18p11	-	Veal CD, 2001; Asumalahti K, 2003
	5q31.1– 33.1	IL-12B; SLC22A4; SLC22A5; IL-13; IL3, IL4, IL5, CSF2 and IRF1	Tsunemi Y, 2002; Duerr RH, 2006; Friberg C, 2006; Capon F, 2007; Cargill M, 2007, Nair et al, 2008
-	9q33-34	•	Zhang XJ, 2002; Yan KL, 2007
-	6p22	CDKALI	Wolf N, 2007
-	19q34	KIR2DS1, KIR2DL1, KIR2DL5	Suzuki Y, 2004; Luszczek W, 2004

Table 1-4: Summary of Known Psoriasis Susceptibility Regions

Adapted from (176)

1.8.2 - Genes in the MHC Region Associated with PsA

The MHC locus spans approximately 4 Mb and contains roughly 250 genes, of which approximately 60% have immune-related functions. The MHC region is characterized by extended LD blocks (up to 3 Mb), and by a strong and complicated LD pattern between the blocks (173). Nair *et al.*'s work in 2006 demonstrated conclusively that the *PSORS1* gene is in fact the *HLA-Cw*0602* allele (160). While the strong association of *HLA-Cw*0602* also exists for PsA, it is predominantly associated with a younger age at onset of psoriasis (< 40 years, i.e., Type I Psoriasis) in PsA patients, suggesting that the association is primarily with psoriasis rather than PsA *per se* (174,175).

In addition to *HLA-Cw6*, both *HLA-B7* and *-B27* are associated with PsA associated with later onset of arthritis in PsA patients (46). (Interestingly, *HLA-B27* is also the strongest reported association with Ankylosing Spondylitis, another seronegative spondyloarthropathy.) Further to these, other HLA markers identify increased or decreased risk for disease severity and progression: *HLA-B39* alone, *HLA-B27* in the presence of *HLA-DR7*, and *HLA-DQw3* in the absence of *HLA-DR7* predispose for additional risk for disease progression; independent of psoriasis (46,177). Specifically, *HLA-B27* is associated with the spondyloarthritis (spinal involvement) form of PsA, and as well with distal interphalangeal (DIP) joint involvement (178). Conversely, the presence of *HLA-DRB1*01* and *HLA-DRB1*04*) and severity of PsA are associated: patients who possessed at least one copy of the shared epitope had significantly more erosive

disease than those who did not (180). Recently it was also found that carrying both *HLA-Cw6* and *HLA-DRB1*07* alleles predisposed PsA patients towards a less severe course of arthritis (181).

Associations have been reported with two other non-HLA genes in the MHC region and PsA, both of which have been replicated. As evidenced through its involvement in multiple facets of the psoriatic and inflammatory pathways described earlier, variations in the *TNF-* α gene which is located 250kb centromeric from the *HLA-B* locus are likely to play a role in PsA. Several studies examining promoter polymorphisms in *TNF-* α with conflicting results have been published (174,182,183). The most consistent results have been with the promoter SNPs at positions -238 and -308 relative to the start of transcription. The -238 and -308 SNPs have shown association across several Caucasian populations (174,182,184). Interestingly, other work has shown the -308 polymorphism to be associated both with more erosive change in PsA patients (185), and with serum levels of circulating TNF- α . A recent study has reported that the -857 SNP may be a risk factor for PsA but not for psoriasis that is independent of the *PSORS1* locus (186).

The other replicated non-HLA MHC gene is the major histocompatibility complex class I-related gene A (*MICA*). The *MICA* gene is a highly polymorphic gene situated in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I region, located 47 kb upstream from the HLA-B locus, and extensive linkage disequilibrium (LD) between HLA-B and *MICA* has been described (187-189). A triplet microsatellite repeat in the transmembrane region of exon 5 of the *MICA* gene was found to be

associated with a number of immunologically mediated disorders such as RA (190), Bechet's Disease (191), and AS (192-194). The location of the *MICA* gene and its extensive LD with HLA alleles associated with PsA, as well as its association with the previously described diseases indicate that it is an interesting candidate gene for PsA, and several studies have demonstrated an association between *MICA* and PsA across several populations (183,195,196). The reported association was found to be independent of *HLA-Cw*0602* and psoriasis in a Spanish population (197), and was also replicated in an Israeli PsA cohort (198). *MICA* represents one of the few genetic associations that appears to be strictly involved with PsA and not psoriasis, as no evidence of an association with psoriasis has yet been published.

Two other non-HLA MHC genes have been identified as potential candidate genes in PsA however the evidence is less well established. The gene known as *PsorS1C1* (also referred to as *SEEK1*) has been suggested as a candidate gene, however, its theorized involvement is due entirely to location as it overlaps the 6p21-23 region and is slightly telomeric to and in LD with the *HLA-C* locus, was noted to have a strong association with psoriasis in the Swedish population and its effect was independent of *HLA-Cw*0602* (199). However, the function of this gene remains unknown. The Corneodesmosin (*CDSN*) gene is found roughly 160kb telomeric from *HLA-C*, and several reports have described associations with psoriasis (as well as LD with *HLA-C*) (200-202). *CDSN* makes an interesting candidate gene in psoriasis and PsA as it is the only transcript from the *PSORS1* region to be expressed in well differentiated keratinocytes (163),

and as well polymorphisms of this gene are known to increase mRNA stability, leading to a potential pathogenic mechanism (203).

1.8.3 - Non MHC Genes

While there are many candidate genes in PsA based on either location or putative function in a biological pathway, there is a paucity of replicated candidate gene studies. The IL-1 gene cluster on chromosome 2q12-13 is an area of special interest as the expression of IL-1 is known to be upregulated in both the serum and synovium of patients with PsA (204). Ravindran *et al* (205) noted an association with the IL-1 alpha 889C polymorphism, however, while this specific SNP was not replicated (206), an association with PsA was noted with a haplotype of other SNPs in the extend IL-1 family gene cluster (207).

The Killer Immunoglobulin-like Receptor (*KIR*) genes encode receptors on Natural Killer (NK) cells. The *KIR* gene cluster is highly polymorphic, nearing the level of variation observed in the MHC (208). The *KIR* receptors interact with MHC class I molecules, in particular those encoded by several *HLA-C* alleles (209). Once this interaction occurs, the threshold for triggering a T-cell by engagement of the classical T-cell receptor with an antigen presented by MHC molecules is lowered, while the presence of an inhibitory receptor will raise the threshold necessary for T-cell activation. An association has been observed between polymorphisms in the genes *KIR2DS1* and *KIR2DS2* with both PsA (210,211) and psoriasis (212), but only if the HLA ligand for the corresponding inhibitory receptors (KIR2DL1 and KIR2DL2/3) were absent. Martin *et al* (213)

have proposed a model of how certain HLA and KIR genotypes can influence susceptibility to PsA, which postulates the mechanism for a pathogenic role for HLA-Cw*0602 in the development of psoriasis and PsA.

A recent genome wide association study noted an association between psoriasis and a haplotype in the *II-23R* gene (214). This was quickly replicated (215,216). Interestingly, one of the SNPs in this haplotype is also associated with Crohn Disease as a protective allele (217). As there is evidence that IL-23 is involved in regulating Th1 pathway responses (218) and it has been detected in psoriatic skin (219), the *II-23R* gene made an obvious target for investigation in PsA. Two studies have replicated an association of *II-23R* with PsA (220,221). It is interesting to note, however that a recent study reports that synovial fluid, serum and synovial biopsies from 30 non-PsA SpA, 22 PsA and 22 RA patients do not show an increase in levels of IL-23R for SpA or PsA patients. An increase was observed in RA patients, suggesting that IL-23 is likely to be involved in psoriasis rather than PsA (222).

The protein tyrosine phospatase non-receptor type 22 (*PTPN22*) gene is expressed only in hematopoietic cells, acts as a regulator of the negative regulatory kinase cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase (CSK) in T cells, and may play a role in suppression of T-cell activation (223). A functional SNP at nucleotide position 1858 C>T causing an Arg \rightarrow Trp substitution (R620W) which disrupts the binding site for CSK is associated with IDDM (224), and other autoimmune diseases including RA (225) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (226) in Caucasian populations. To further examine the role of *PTPN22* a collection of 265 multiplex families was assembled by the Multiple Autoimmune Disease Genetics Consortium (MADGC) (227). At least two of nine "core" autoimmune diseases (RA, SLE, IDDM, multiple sclerosis (MS), autoimmune thyroid disease (Hashimoto thyroiditis or Grave's disease), juvenile RA, inflammatory bowel disease (Crohn disease or ulcerative colitis), psoriasis, and primary Sjogren syndrome) were present in each of these families. They observed that the PTPN22 1858 C>T polymorphism confers risk of four separate autoimmune phenotypes in these families: T1D, RA, SLE, and Hashimoto thyroiditis, suggesting a common underlying etiologic pathway for some, but not all, autoimmune disorders. No association was observed with psoriasis in the MADGC study, however, only 63 psoriasis patients were part of the study group. Since that time, several other studies have been conducted examining the association of PTPN22 with both psoriasis and PsA, and significant associations with both have been observed (228-231). The clearly evident association of PTPN22 with multiple autoimmune diseases makes it a strong candidate for continued investigation in PsA.

1.8.4 - Genome Wide Scans

Only one traditional genome wide linkage study has been performed in PsA, using a large Icelandic cohort. An initial LOD score of 2.17 on chromosome 16q21 was found, however this was increased to 4.19 when conditioned on paternal transmission (154). A subsequent study and the use of additional markers further raised the LOD score to 5.7 (232). The peak of this LOD score

was within 20Mb of the gene *CARD15* which has been associated with Crohn Disease (233). One study found an association between this gene and PsA (234). While this finding has not been replicated (235-237), a recent study has shown evidence of an interaction between *HLA-Cw6* and *CARD15* in psoriasis families (238).

Likewise, only one genome wide association study has been performed using a distinct PsA cohort (239). The study, which used both psoriasis and PsA cohorts from the US and the UK appears to have confirmed the associations with *IL-12/23R* and PsA. It is worth noting, however, that more recent reports suggest that these variants are not specific risk factors for arthritis, but relevant for susceptibility to psoriasis in general (240). A recent psoriasis genome wide association study that included two cohorts with high levels of PsA would appear to add further evidence to this contention (241).

The results of the PsA genome wide association study also confirmed that the MHC is truly the most important risk factor for psoriasis and that it plays a very major role in PSA, as the most highly associated SNP from the study was found 34.7 kb upstream from *HLA-C* (U.K. PSA: $p= 6.9 \times 10^{-11}$). The highest odds ratio was found for a coding SNP in the MHC class 1 gene *HCP5* (OR PsA 3.2, Psoriasis 4.1) and the effect was independent of the upstream *HLA-C* SNP. A novel PsA (and potentially psoriasis) locus was also identified on chromosome 4q27 (239). This region contains the *II-2* and *II-21* genes and was recently shown to be associated with autoimmune diseases such Celiac disease, Type 1 diabetes, Grave's disease and Rheumatoid Arthritis (242-245).

1.9 - Review of the Genetics of Related Diseases

1.9.1 - Ankylosing Spondylitis

Between 40 and 50% of PsA patients have spinal involvement, similar to ankylosing spondylitis (AS). AS is one of the most common forms of chronic, inflammatory arthritis: it is seronegative for rheumatoid factor (RF), affecting joints in the spine and sacroilium in the pelvis, causing eventual fusion of the spine (246). It has an estimated prevalence of 0.1–0.9%, and genetic factors have been strongly implicated in its aetiology, with a heritability estimated to be >90% (247). The mode of inheritance is unclear; however, the recurrence risk ratio suggests a multilocus, multiplicative model (248). A very strong association between AS and *HLA-B27* has been established for decades (249), and it is observed in over 90% patients with AS. However, *HLA-B27* is not the sole MHC molecule implicated in AS susceptibility. The entire genetic contribution of the MHC is estimated to be 50% of which HLA-B27 accounts for 16% of the effect (250). Only approximately 8% of individuals with *HLA-B27* develop AS, and 10% of Caucasian AS patients do not carry *HLA-B27* (251).

Three genome wide linkage studies have been performed in AS patient families. These data were re-analysed and then pooled for a meta-analysis by Carter *et al* (252). Not surprisingly, the MHC region showed the highest significance for linkage ($p < 10^{-5}$) to a 37–75 cM region of chromosome 6, consistent for linkage with the location of HLA-B27. The next strongest evidence of linkage was found at chromosome 16q ($p = 1.8 \times 10^{-4}$) overlapping the region

previously identified as displaying linkage to PsA. Other regions achieving moderate evidence of linkage (p < 0.01) were identified on chromosomes 3, 10 and 19. Nominal evidence of linkage was found for the region containing the IL-1 gene cluster on chromosome 2g, and with the CYP2D6 gene on chromosome 22. Both of these genes had previously reported associations with AS (207,253-256). While no true genome wide association study has been performed on AS patients, the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (WTCCC) did examine 14436 nonsynonymous SNPs and a further 897 SNPs in the MCH region, from 1000 AS cases and 1500 controls (242). This is by far the largest association study completed to date for AS, but nonetheless has only investigated a small proportion of the overall genetic diversity in relation to the disease (257). In addition to the expected associations of the SNPs from MHC region, significant associations were also identified with the genes IL-23R and ERAP-1 (also known as ARTS1). The finding of association with IL-23R is particularly interesting as it seems to provide evidence that variants of the gene are involved in bone disease, which counters the previously discussed contention that despite being associated with both PsA and psoriasis, IL-23R was more likely to be associated with psoriasis rather than PsA. Subsequent to the WTCCC study, the association of IL-23R with AS has been replicated in Spanish (258), Canadian (Newfoundland) (259) and UK (260) cohorts.

1.9.2 - Crohn Disease/Inflammatory Bowel Disease

It has long been recognized that patients with Crohn disease have an increased risk for the development of PsA and psoriasis (261-263). Both acute and chronic inflammation have been reported in the bowel of 15% of PsA patients (264) and 30% of psoriasis patients (265). These bowel lesions range from asymptomatic focal microscopic inflammation to inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) with macroscopic and histologic features indistinguishable from Crohn disease (266). As described previously, the only linkage study performed in PsA identified a linkage peak within 20 Mb of the known Crohn susceptibility gene CARD15 on chromosome 16g21. Linkage studies in Crohn/IBD indicated that another strong susceptibility region was located at chromosome 5q31 known as the IBD 5 locus (267,268). Subsequent investigation of the organic cation transporter (OCTN) gene cluster in this region revealed an association of a functional haplotype of two SNPs of the SLC22A4 and the adjacent SLC22A5 genes with Crohn disease (269). Given the known association with Crohn and PsA, Ho et al examined this haplotype in a PsA cohort, a psoriasis cohort, and an undifferentiated inflammatory arthritis cohort, and observed an association only with PsA (270), lending evidence that there is commonality in the genetic predisposition for inflammatory diseases such as Crohn and PsA (269).

At the time of this writing, there have been more than 30 replicated genes identified in Crohn Disease. The most common associations are the *CARD15* and *IBD5* loci, but several others found through genome wise association studies have also been replicated. These associations are summarized in table 1-5.
Gene/Locus	Region	Lead Author and Year of Publication (Replication)	
CARD15	16q12	Rioux, 2007 Hampe, 2007	
IBD5	5q31	Raelson, 2007 Hampe, 2007	
IL-23R	1p31	Libioulle, 2007 Franke, 2007 WTCCC, 2007	
ATG16l1	2q37	Libioulle, 2007 Rioux, 2007 WTCCC, 2007	
MST1	3p21	Parkes, 2007 Raelson, 2007	
PTGER4	5p13.1	WTCCC, 2007 Parkes, 2007	
IRGM	5q33	Parkes, 2007	
TNFSF15	9q32	WTCCC, 2007	-
PTPN2	18p11	Parkes, 2007	
			_

Table 1-5: Summary of selected genetic associations with Crohn Disease,

replicated by genome wide association studies

Adapted from (274)

Several published studies based on a candidate gene hypothesis have identified an association between nuclear-factor kappa-beta 1 (*NFKB1*) and IBD (271-273). *NFKB1* is a subunit of the NF-KB protein. NF-KB is a pleiotropic transcription factor which is present in almost all cell types and is involved in

many biological processes such as inflammation, immunity, cell differentiation, cell growth, tumourigenesis and apoptosis, and as described in section 1.5.3, it interacts directly with its receptor activator *RANK* in a central role in osteoclastogenesis (275-277). Interestingly, it has also been tentatively associated with psoriasis (278,279) and is directly involved in both the TNF- α receptor pathway (280,281) and in IL-23 mediated signalling (282,283).

A total of seven different genome wide association studies in several different populations (Asian, North American Caucasian, UK Caucasian, French Canadian) have been performed in Crohn disease, and interestingly, several have detected associations with *IL-23R*. The results have indicated both protective associations as well as disease-predisposing alleles (284). The repeated association of *IL-23R* with interrelated inflammatory immunologically mediated conditions such as PsA, psoriasis, AS, and Crohn/IBD clearly indicated that it is a multi-functional gene involved in systemic inflammation.

1.9.3 - Rheumatoid Arthritis

A detailed description of the genetics and pathogenesis of RA is not warranted as the disease and most implicated genes are substantially different from the disease process and genetics of PsA. The non-HLA genes which have been implicated in RA are summarized in table 1-6. A brief description of RA is included only to illustrate the difference between both diseases. For a considerable period of time, PsA was simply considered to be the co-occurrence of psoriasis and RA. RA is a chronic, systemic, inflammatory autoimmune

Gene/Locus	Region	Lead author and year of publication
MMEL1/TNFRSF14	1p36.32	WTCCC, 2007
PADI4	1p36.13	Suzuki, 2003
PTPN22	1p13.2	Begovich, 2004
STAT4	2q32.3	Amos, 2006
CTLA4	2q33.2	Plenge, 2005
TNFAIP3/OLIG3	6q23.3	Thomson, 2007
C5/TRAF1	9q33.2	Plenge, 2007
PRKCQ	10p15.1	WTCCC, 2007
KIF5A/PIP4K2C	12q13.3	WTCCC, 2007
CD40	20q13	WTCCC, 2007

Table 1-6: Summary of selected genetic associations in RA.

Adapted from (285)

disorder causing symmetrical polyarthritis of large and small joints, typically presenting between the ages of 30 and 50 years (286). Approximately 1% of the global population has RA, and it is found 3 times more frequently in females than in males. Like PsA the aetiology of RA is not fully understood but involves a complex interplay of environmental and genetic factors. The typical presentation is polyarticular, with pain, stiffness, and swelling of multiple joints in a bilateral, symmetric pattern. A minority of patients present with oligoarticular asymmetric involvement (287). As PsA is largely asymmetrical, the symmetry of the arthritis

present is one of the characteristics which helps differentiate PsA from RA, as well as the absence of the rheumatoid factor (RF) antibody, axial involvement, enthesopathy, and association with *HLA-B27* (288). While approximately 30% of RA patients will be RF seronegative (289), the previously described criteria for diagnosis of PsA (Moll & Wright, CASPAR) help distinguish these cases from RA.

Variation in the HLA region has been associated with RA since the late 1970's (290) and is the only region that has been consistently shown to be both linked and associated with RA across all populations. Whereas the association with PsA has been repeatedly shown to be with the HLA-Cw*0602, the HLA association with RA is with specific alleles of the class II gene, HLA-DRB1, that encode a conserved sequence of amino acids in the third hypervariable region (HVR3) of the class II DR-1 chain. These associated alleles are collectively referred to as the shared epitope (SE) (291). As described in section 1.7.3, the MADGC initially reported an association of RA with the PTPN22 gene, and this finding has been replicated several times in highly powered studies of populations of European descent (151,292-294). The WTCCC study also confirmed that the two strongest associations for RA are for HLA-DRB1 and PTPN22. Several recent reviews and genome wide association studies have reported extensive lists of SNPs associated with RA (285,295-298), however, of these the only overlap with reported associations with psoriasis or PsA remains the PTPN22 gene. While there are different HLA associations with RA and PsA reflecting the different pathogenesis of both diseases, the data regarding the

reported associations of both diseases with *PTPN22* indicate that there may be common underlying pathways in inflammatory arthritis.

1.9.4 – Shared Genetics of Immune-related Diseases

There exists a large spectrum of immunologically mediated diseases, from the seronegative spondyloarthropathies such as PsA and AS, as well as RA, to other non-arthritic diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, type 1 diabetes and asthma. While genetic associations have long been reported for each of these diseases, an increase in co-morbidity and clustering of different autoimmune diseases in families suggest the existence of an overlap in the genetic background of these diseases (299,300). Until recently, only the HLA locus and a few candidate genes have consistently been associated with these immunologically mediated conditions, however, with the development of genomewide association studies, a growing number of candidate genes and loci have been and continue to be identified.

Recently, Zhernakova *et al.* reviewed 22 genome wide association studies on 11 different immune mediated disorders (300). The authors observed that the major region linked to immune-related disorders was the HLA region, and also identified 23 genes that are shared by two or more diseases. While the prevailing line of thought has maintained that autoimmune disorders develop through different mechanisms from those that cause inflammatory disorders, many of these newly identified loci are shared by two or more immune-related diseases, and the majority of these shared genes belong to just a few immunological pathways: T-cell signalling and differentiation, innate immunity, and TNF signalling. Further, many of the disease-specific associated genes are involved in the same pathways or were members of two functional groups - one group consisted of genes that are shared between ulcerative colitis and Crohn disease (IBD), and the other group encoded cytokines and chemokines. Several of the disease-specific genes identified also belong to the three immunological pathways. Interestingly, at least one associated gene was involved in each pathway for almost all of the immune diseases that were studied, which highlights the overlap in these immunological pathways between diseases. (The overlap of genes in selected immune-related diseases is shown in Figure 1-2). Fully elucidating the shared pathogenesis between various immunologically mediated diseases has the potential to clarify new targets for therapeutic intervention by focusing on pathways rather than genes.



Figure 1-2: The overlap of genes associated with multiple auto-immune diseases

(The area of the overlap between *PTPN22* and Psor and PsA is left transparent as this association has not yet been confirmed. All other associations shown have been replicated.)

Adapted from Zhernakova et al., 2009 Special thanks to Mr. Lance Doucette For his assistance in composing this figure

1.10 - Rationale and Goals for Study

Broadly, the goals for this thesis are to confirm existing genetic associations with PsA, to identify novel gene associations and gene-gene interactions in PsA. As described previously, a large number of studies have been performed using several different ethnic populations from different locations around the world attempting to associate variations of the genes involved in different aspects of the pathogenesis of PsA. These studies have frequently produced conflicting results, due to such features as relatively small sample sizes, a low frequency of the gene variant being investigated, and ethnic heterogeneity of the populations being investigated.

As PsA is a complex disorder, the genetic component of PsA is likely to be the result of a combined effect of a number of genes, with each playing only a small role. One of the largest and most common challenges facing case control studies is the ethnic heterogeneity of the investigated populations. Newfoundland presents an interesting and unique population structure which can help to overcome the heterogeneity frequently found in other studies.

The island portion of the Canadian province of Newfoundland and Labrador is located in the Atlantic Ocean, off the eastern coast of Canada. The population of the island of Newfoundland consists mainly of descendants of English and Irish settlers who arrived in the late 18th and early 19th centuries, although settlements dating to the 1600's have been recorded (301). The settling of Newfoundland is unique when compared to colonization of other areas of the

New World, as the majority of those who immigrated to Newfoundland can be traced almost exclusively back to small regions in southwest England (the neighbouring counties of Cornwall, Devon, Somerset, Dorset, and Hampshire) and southeast Ireland (roughly a 30 mile radius from the city of Waterford). These areas were the principal ports of the United Kingdom's fishing industry at the time (302). The major migrations concluded in the mid-19th century at which point the population of the island was approximately 75,000 individuals. From this limited number of founding individuals, the population grew almost exclusively through expansion as the geographical and social isolation of this island has ensured very little inward migration since it was settled (303) and thus has lead to a small population (507 900 individuals; Statistics Canada 2008 - 50% of whom still live in communities smaller than 2500 individuals). While Newfoundland does not represent a true population isolate or founder population, showing levels of linkage disequilibrium comparable to that of an outbred European derived sample and the Afrikaner population of South Africa (304), there is evidence of relatively homogenous genetic background as demonstrated by a higher than expected prevalence of several Mendelian disorders (305). In addition, mating segregation between Irish Catholics and English Protestants, and geographical isolation of communities have resulted in several small population isolates, that have become more admixed as time and technology have allowed increased access into and out of the outports (303). In a review of the historical development of genetic isolation, it was observed that only 1% - 8% of breeding parents were immigrants to the area, and 60% of births had been to parents originating from the same

small community (306). As the Newfoundland population is almost entirely derived from settlers who shared a common geographic location and culture for several generations, the shared background combined with extensive genealogy from the current population are ideal for the study of complex disease such as PsA (305). The limitations of using a population such as Newfoundland in genetic studies are that the results may not be generalizable to more admixed population structures. In order to account for this, we have frequently used a PsA cohort from Toronto to validate our findings in the Newfoundland population.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 – Patient and Control Ascertainment

PsA was defined as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. All patients from the Newfoundland cohort were ascertained by a qualified rheumatologist (Dr. Proton Rahman). All patients were over the age of 18 years and were voluntary participants in this research study, who presented at rheumatology clinics under the Eastern Health management board in St. John's, NL, Canada. A protocol for clinical investigation for this study was approved by the Human Investigations Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of Memorial University of Newfoundland, and by the Eastern Health healthcare management board of St. John's, NL, Canada. All patients were Caucasians of northern European ancestry. All controls were ethnically matched, taken from the Newfoundland population, as well as matched for age and gender. Control subjects were originally participants in other research studies for conditions, that had had no pathological relationship to any form of skin disorder or arthritis, and were examined to sure there were no other auto-immune condition.

All patients from the Toronto cohort were Caucasian, were also ascertained by a qualified rheumatologist (Dr. Dafna Gladman) and were over the age of 18 years and were voluntary participants in this research study. The Toronto controls either were ascertained from the local HLA laboratory DNA bank which includes healthy volunteers and organ donors, or were population based. No information regarding age or gender was available for control subjects from the Toronto cohort, and ancestry was presumed to be Caucasian based on individual surname.

2.2 - DNA Extraction from Whole Blood

All DNA samples were extracted from white blood cells of venous blood which was collected from subjects in EDTA Vacutainer tubes. DNA was extracted from PsA probands and age and gender matched controls using the Promega Wizard Genomic DNA purification kit (307). Briefly, blood was added to a tube containing cell lysis solution and the components were mixed by inversion several times and allowed to incubate at room temperature for 10 minutes in order to lyse red blood cells. The mixture was then centrifuged at 2000 x g for 10 minutes. The supernatant was poured off without disturbing the remaining pellet of white blood cells, until approximately 100 µl of residual liquid remained. The pellet was then vortexed vigorously to resuspend the white blood cells, and nuclei lysis solution was added to the resuspended cells. The solution was pipetted 5-6 times to lyse the white blood cells. RNase solution was then added to the nuclear lysate and mixed by inversion. The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes and cooled to room temperature. Protein precipitation solution was added to the nuclear lysate and the solution was vortexed vigorously for 10-20 seconds, and centrifuged at 2000 x g for 10 minutes. A brown pellet containing the precipitated

protein was then visible. The supernatant containing the DNA was transferred to a clean 15 ml centrifuge tube containing room temperature isopropanol. This mixture was gently mixed by inversion until DNA was visible, and was then centrifuged at 2000 x g until it formed a small white pellet. The supernatant was carefully decanted so as to not disturb the DNA pellet, which was then gently washed 70% ethanol by inversion, and centrifuged at 2000 x g. The ethanol was gently aspirated using a pipette and the tube was inverted on clean absorbent paper leaving the pellet to air dry for 10-15 minutes. 250µl of DNA Rehydration Solution was added to the tube and incubated for 1 hour at 65°C. Concentration of extracted DNA was determined by spectrophotometry, and was then transferred to a clean, labelled 2000µl eppendorf tube and stored at -80°C.

2.3 - Marker Selection

The pathogenesis of PsA has been described in Chapter 1 as being the combination of several distinct mechanisms, involving components situated in cytokine-induced inflammation, enthesitis, bone remodelling, and angiogenesis. Thus, we have opted for a comprehensive approach to examine genetic markers potentially involved in all facets of the pathogenesis of PsA. A candidate gene approach is used to investigate novel associations, while meta-analysis is used to determine the proportion of involvement for markers which have been replicated in other populations. A haplotyping approach is employed in our admixed cohort

to attempt to validate an observed association across a gene cluster. Finally, a novel algorithm is employed to evaluate potential epistatic genetic interactions to determine whether the presence of multiple polymorphisms across several biological pathways from multiple chromosomes is a factor in the development of PsA. All SNPs chosen for the studies described here were selected on the basis of having been reported in previous association studies, or because they were non-synonymous – i.e., they caused an amino acid change in the protein for which the gene codes. As described by Risch, 2000, and summarized in Table 2-1 there is an order in preference of SNPs used in genotyping studies, and we have chosen those deemed to be the highest priority for association study

2.4 - SNP Genotyping

The detection of SNPs was performed by the analysis of primer extension products generated from previously amplified genomic DNA using a chip-based MALDI-TOF (Matrix Assisted Laser De-ionization – Time of Flight) mass spectrometry platform (Sequenom, Inc., San Diego, CA) (308-311). PCR and extension reactions were carried out by diluting the DNA sample to be analyzed to 2.5 ng/µl, following which 1 µl of DNA was combined with 200 µM of each dNTP, 0.1 units of HotStar *Taq* (Qiagen), 0.5 µl of 10× HotStar PCR buffer containing 15 mM MgCl₂, PCR primers mixed together at a final concentration of 200nM (for both multiplex and uniplex reactions), and 0.2 µl of 25 mM MgCl₂ in a

SNP	Description	Number (in thousands)
Туре		
1	Coding, Non-synonymous, non-conservative	60-100
11	Coding, Non-synonymous, conservative	100-180
111	Coding, Synonymous	200-240
IV	Non coding, 5' UTR	140
V	Non coding, 3' UTR	300
VI	Other non-coding	≥1000

 Table 2-1: Typology of SNPs and their occurrence.

(Adapted from Risch, 2000)

final reaction volume of 5µl. Reactions were heated at 95°C for 15 minutes followed by 45 cycles at 95°C for 20 seconds, 56°C for 30 seconds, and 72°C for 1 minute and a final incubation at 72°C for 3 minute. PCR primers to amplify the region around each SNP as well as extension primers were designed using Sequenom's SpectroDesigner software. Unincorporated dNTP's were removed from the amplification products using 0.3 units of the shrimp alkaline phosphatase (Sequenom). The reaction was placed at 37°C for 20 minutes, and the enzyme was deactivated by incubating at 85°C for 5 minutes. After shrimp alkaline phosphatase treatment, the homogenous massEXTEND reaction was then performed. The massEXTEND SNP assays were designed to generate extension products of different masses by incorporating either one dideoxynucleotide or one deoxynucleotide and one dideoxynucleotide at the polymorphic site (depending on which SNP allele was present), to the antisense extension primer which annealed immediately 5' of the polymorphic site. 1.242 µl of water, 0.2 µl of 10× Termination mix (Sequenom), 0.018 µl of 0.063 units/µl Thermosequenase (Sequenom), and 0.54 µl of 10 µM extension primer was then added to the amplification products. The MassEXTEND reaction was carried out at 94°C for 2 minutes and then 55 cycles of 94°C for 5 seconds, 52°C for 5 seconds, and 72°C for 5 seconds. The reaction mix was desalted by adding 3 mg of a cationic resin, SpectroCLEAN (Sequenom), and resuspended in 16 µl of water. Reactions were carried out in 384 well plastic plates, and where possible PCR reactions were multiplexed. All post-PCR sample preparation was performed using the Multimek 96 robotic system (Beckman Coulter, Fullerton, CA). Aliquots of the

samples were spotted using a SpectroJET nanolitre dispenser (Sequenom) onto a 384-element silicon chip preloaded with a 3-hydroxypicolinic acid matrix (SpectroCHIP, Sequenom). Mass spectra were generated by the MassARRAY spectrometer (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany; SEQUENOM). Genotypes were automatically determined with the aid of the SpectroTYPER-RT software (Sequenom).

2.5 – Fragment Analysis

The *MICA* repeat polymorphism was genotyped using the fragment analysis module of a Beckman Coulter CEQ 8000 capillary electrophoresis automatic DNA sequencer (312). Samples were prepared for analysis by performing PCR reactions in a 96-well thin walled microplate. Amplification reactions were carried out as described in section 2.3, with the difference that cycling was as follows: 16 cycles of 94°C for 45 seconds, 60°C for 45 seconds (decreasing temperature by 0.5°C/cycle such that the first annealing temperature was 60°C while the final annealing temperature was 52°C), and 72°C for 30 seconds. This was then followed by 16 cycles of 94°C for 45 seconds, 52°C for 45 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds. The sample was then prepared for loading into the CEQ 8000 instrument by creating a 1:10 dilution in the CEQ Sample Loading Solution. A total of 39.5µl of this dilution was added to 0.5µl of the of the size standard for a final volume of 40.0µl. This solution is then loaded into the instrument and the length of the fragments was calculated, and thus the number of repeats present in each sample was determined.

2.6 - Quality Control

Quality control measures employed to ensure that data used in the projects detailed in this thesis consisted of ensuring a 99% call rate for genotyping, as well as a 99.9% reproducibility of genotyping results. This was performed by randomly selecting 10% - 15% of samples for duplication in any PCR run to be performed in the same 384 plate as the primary reaction. Any genotypes not meeting these requirements were repeated until they met quality control criteria. Any samples which could not meet the quality control criteria were excluded from further analysis. All successful genotypes were investigated for fitness to the Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium (HWE), and any that were not found to fit HWE were excluded.

2.7 – Statistical Analysis

The statistical methodologies used in this work varied depending on the nature of the specific experiment being conducted and the required analysis. Broadly, all investigated genetic variants were tested to ensure fitness to the Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium. The specific statistical procedures employed for each experiment (univariate/multivariate analysis, haplotyping and sliding-window haplotyping, and meta-analysis) are described in detail in the appropriate chapter pertaining to that experiment.

Statistical power was calculated according to the methodology proposed by Skol *et al.*, in Nature Genetics in 2006 (313). Assuming a sample size of 250 cases and 250 controls, a population prevalence for PsA of 0.25% as described by Gelfand *et al.*, (18), and a disease allele frequency of 0.10, we have 96% power to detect a genotype relative risk of 2.0 at a significance level of p = 0.05, and 55% power to detect a genotype relative risk of 1.5. With a sample size of 300 cases and 300 controls, we have 99% and 63% power to detect genotype relative risks of 2.0 and 1.5, respectively.

3

Genetic Variation of the Major Histocompatibility Complex and Association with Psoriatic Arthritis

3.1

TNF-α Polymorphisms and Risk of Psoriatic Arthritis in Caucasian Populations

Proton Rahman¹, Fotios Siannis², Christopher Butt¹, Vernon Farewell², Lynette Peddle¹, Fawnda Pellett³, Dafna Gladman³.

¹St. Clare's Mercy Hospital, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's Newfoundland¹; ²MRC Biostatistics Unit, Institute of Public Health, Cambridge, UK; ³Center for Prognosis Studies in Rheumatic Diseases, University Health Network, University of Toronto

A version of this manuscript appeared in Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65(7): 919-23. Reprinted with permission

Introduction:

Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) is a complex immunologically mediated disorder that results from interplay between multiple genetic and environmental factors (23). Although the pathogenesis of PsA is still unclear, there is a substantial contribution of genetic factors to the aetiology of PsA (163). The MHC region has long been considered to harbour underlying PsA susceptibility gene(s) and it has been estimated that at least one third of the genetic contribution of PsA resides within this region (163). The tumour necrosis factor alpha (*TNF-a*) gene, which is located 250kb centromeric from *HLA-B*, has been proposed to be a high priority candidate gene in PsA (314). This premise is supported by studies noting significantly higher levels of TNF- α in serum, synovial fluid and synovial membrane of PsA patients as compared to OA patients and healthy controls (204,315). The importance of TNF- α in PsA is further strengthened by the marked clinical response of TNF- α blockade in PsA (316). Thus TNF- α appears to be a cytokine of critical importance in PsA.

However, genetic studies of *TNF-* α polymorphisms and PsA have produced conflicting results (174,182-185,198). Selected studies have noted a significant association of TNF- α polymorphisms in PsA (182,184), while other studies have failed to detect any such association (174,183,185,198). The inconsistencies in these results may reflect to the small effect size of *TNF-* α , insufficient sample size of PsA subjects and controls, differences in populations, the presence of linkage disequilibrium, or multiple testing. In view of the location

and proposed biologic effect of TNF- α , we felt it was prudent to further evaluate the relationship between *TNF-\alpha* promoter polymorphisms and PsA in two well characterized Canadian PsA populations, a founder population from Newfoundland and a heterogeneous population from Toronto, Ontario. This was followed by a meta-analysis of the TNF- α association studies in Caucasian PsA populations.

Methods:

Patients

This study was approved by the ethics committees at Memorial University of Newfoundland and the University of Toronto. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. Information was collected systematically and included age at onset of psoriasis, PsA and disease pattern. The control subjects were of similar ethnicity to the cases. Controls for the Newfoundland population were volunteers from Newfoundland who participated in our study as a result of a local campaign seeking population based controls for genetic studies. The Toronto controls were ascertained from the local HLA laboratory DNA bank which includes healthy volunteers and organ donors.

Laboratory Method

Blood samples were collected from patient volunteers with PsA and healthy controls in EDTA anticoagulant. DNA was extracted from peripheral blood lymphocytes using the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit from Promega (Madison, WI). DNA Samples were genotyped for five TNF variants by time-offlight mass spectrometry using the Sequenom platform. All five SNPs were in the 5^{I} – flanking region of TNF- α gene at the following positions: –1031 (T \rightarrow C), -863 (C \rightarrow A), -857 (C \rightarrow T), -308 (G \rightarrow A) and –238 (G \rightarrow A). Primer sequences were determined using Sequenom SpectroDESIGNER software v1.3.4 (Table 3-1).

SNP ID	rs number	FORWARD PRIMER	REVERSE	MASS EXTEND PRIMER
-1031	rs1799964	5'- ACGTTGGATGGG GAAGCAAAGGAG AAGCTG -3'	5'- ACGTTGGATGTA CATGTGGCCATA TCTCCC -3'	5'- GACCCTGACTTT TCCTTC –3'
-857	rs1799724	5'- ACGTTGGATGCT ATGGAAGTCGAG TATGGG-3'	5'- ACGTTGGATGTA TTCCATACCTGG AGGTCC –3'	5'- CCTCTACATGGC CCTGTCTTC-3'
-238	rs361525	5'- ACGTTGGATGAC ACAAATCAGTCA GTGGCC-3'	5'- ACGTTGGATGAT CAAGGATACCCC TCACAC-3'	5'- AGAAGACCCCCCC TCGGAATC-3'
-308	rs1800629	5'- ACGTTGGATGGG TCCCCAAAAGAA ATGGAG-3'	5'- ACGTTGGATGGA TTTGTGTGTAGG ACCCTG-3'	5'- GAGGCTGAACCC CGTCC-3'
-863	rs1800630	5'- ACGTTGGATGCT ATGGAAGTCGAG TATGGG-3'	5'- ACGTTGGATGTA TTCCATACCTGG AGGTCC -3'	5'- CGAGTATGGGGA CCCCC-3'

Table 3-1: Primer sequences for TNF-α SNPs

For each sample, 2.5 ng of genomic DNA was amplified under standard conditions using the forward and reverse primer pairs. After DNA amplification, all

unincorporated nucleotides in the PCR product were deactivated using shrimp alkaline phosphatase. A primer extension reaction was then carried out using the mass extend primer and the appropriate termination mix. The Primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip. The chip was scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker), and the resulting spectra were analyzed using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software.

With respect to the meta-analysis, the literature was searched up to and including October 2004. All articles pertaining to TNF- α polymorphisms in PsA were searched in Medline and Embase. As well the reference lists of the articles identified were also a searched. We then selected studies that examined Caucasian populations and provided enough data so that the number of minor alleles and the total number of alleles could be determined. The data was extracted by PR and then cross checked by CB.

Statistical Analysis:

Logistic regression was used to study the relationship between genotyping information and case/control status. The results are summarized in terms of odds ratios and significance tests. In addition an exploratory haplotype analysis based on EM imputation (317) was conducted.

Pairwise linkage disequilibrium was assessed for all combinations of TNF- α variants using Chi-squared tests. Strong associations were noted between – 1031 and the other variants. The most notable association was between -863 and -1031 (p < 0.001) which was present in separate populations, NF (p < 0.001) and Toronto (p < 0.001). For this reason -1031 was dropped from the haplotype analysis, which was based on the -238, -308, -857, and -863 variants. Meta-analyses were based on random effects analyses.

Results:

We examined 237 PsA subjects and 103 controls from Newfoundland and 203 PsA subjects and 101 controls from Toronto. The mean age of the PsA patients in Newfoundland were 50.1 years (11.3) and Toronto were 50.5 years (13.2). Forty-nine percent of PsA subjects were females in the Newfoundland cohort and 41% of PsA subjects were females in the Toronto cohort. With respect to the subtype of psoriatic arthritis, overall for both populations 61% had the polyarticular pattern, 27% the oligoarticular pattern, 5.2% the isolated spondyloarthropathy, and 7% were the remaining patterns. All probands had psoriasis vulgaris.

For the genotypes in the controls, there was no evidence of a departure from Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) in the Newfoundland control population (*p* values were 0.13, 0.31, 0.29, 0.43, and 0.15 for 238(A), 308(A), 857(T), 863(A), and 1031(C), respectively). For the Toronto control population the comparable p values were 0.16, 0.04, 0.08, 0.24, and 0.23. While there is some weak evidence of departure from HWE for the 308(A) and possibly the 857(T) polymorphisms, this evidence would not survive any form of adjustment for multiple testing.

The genotypes and allele frequencies for PsA subjects and controls for *TNF-* α polymorphisms in the Newfoundland and Toronto population are presented in Tables 3-2 and 3-3, respectively. For completeness these tables present significance levels based on Fisher's exact test for an association between allelic frequency and disease status in the separate populations but formal comparison of these must be based on tests of heterogeneity reported subsequently.

A combined analysis of data from both populations, based on a stratified logistic regression of allelic frequencies, demonstrated a significant association between disease status and the -238(A) variant (p = 0.01). There was no evidence of heterogeneity of the association between the populations (p = 0.49). The observed frequencies in the Newfoundland PsA population versus controls for -238(A) variant were 10.7% vs. 5.3% respectively, while in the Toronto population these were 8.8% vs. 5.9%.

For the -857(T) variant, there was no evidence of a relationship with disease status based on the combined analysis (p = 0.42). However, there was marginal evidence of heterogeneity between the populations (p = 0.07). Observed allelic frequencies for the -857(T) variant in the Toronto population were 14.8% vs. 8.4% in cases and controls respectively, whereas no comparable marked difference was found in the Newfoundland population in which the frequencies were 6.8% vs. 7.8%.

Table 3-2: *TNF-* α genotypes and minor allele frequencies of the Newfoundland Population

	Constant	NF PsA patients	Controls	OR	P value
	Genotype				
	G/G	181 (79.4%)	93 (90.3%)		
TNF α -238	G/A	45 (19.7%)	9 (8.7%)		
	AVA	2 (0.9%)	1 (1.0%)		
Allele F. (A)		10.7%	5.3%	2.13	0.03
	G/G	146 (64.9%)	67 (65.1%)		
TNF α -308	G/A	75 (33.3%)	33 (32.0%)		
	AVA	4 (1.8%)	3 (2.9%)		
Allele F. (A)		18.4%	18.9%	0.97	0.91
	C/C	191 (86.8%)	88 (85.4%)		
TNF α -857	T/C	28 (12.7%)	14 (13.6%)		
	T/T	1 (0.5%)	1 (1.0%)		
Allele F. (T)		6.8%	7.8%	0.87	0.74
	C/C	167 (72.3%)	70 (68.0%)		
TNF α -863	A/C	60 (26.0%)	30 (29.1%)		
	AVA	4 (1.7%)	3 (2.9%)		
Allele F. (A)		14.7%	17.5%	0.82	0.36
TNE ~ 1021	т/т	120 /50 20/ \	62 (61 20/)		
1111- 4-1031		77 (25 0%)	03(01.2%)		
	CIC	15 (6 90/)	7 (6 9%)		
Allolo E (C)	010	24 20/	22 8%	1 00	0.60
Allele F. (C)		24.370	22.070	1.09	0.09

Table 3-3: *TNF*- α Genotype and minor allele frequencies of the Toronto Population

	Genotype	Toronto PsA patients n=199	Controls N=101	OR	P value
	G/G	164 (82.4%)	90(89.1%)		
TNF α -238	G/A	35 (17.6%)	10(9.9%)		
	A/A	0 (0%)	1 (1.0%)		
Allele F. (A)		8.8%	5.9%	1.53	0.26
	G/G	144 (70.9%)	69 (68.3%)		
TNF α -308	G/A	53 (26.1%)	25 (24.8%)		
	A/A	6 (3.0%)	7 (6.9%)		
Allele F. (A)		16.0%	19.3%	0.80	0.31
	C/C	148 (74.4%)	86 (85.1%)		
TNF α -857	T/C	43 (21.6%)	13 (12.9%)		
	T/T	8 (4.0%)	2 (2.0%)		
Allele F. (T)		14.8%	8.4%	1.89	0.03
	C/C	155 (77.5%)	71 (68.0%)		
TNF α -863	A/C	41 (20.5%)	26 (29.1%)		
	A/A	4 (2.0%)	4 (2.9%)		
Allele F. (A)		12.3%	16.8%	0.69	0.13
TNE α -1031	т/т	126 (63%)	61 (61 6%)		
1101 4 - 1051	TIC	65 (32 5%)	32 (32 3%)		
	CIC	0.0(52.0%)	6 (6 1%)		
Allele E (C)	0,0	20.8%	22.2%	0.92	0.67
Allele I. (C)		20.070	22.2/0	0.52	0.01

For the -308(A), -863(A) and -1031(C) variants, there was no evidence of relationship with disease status (p values of 0.48, 0.28 and 0.64 respectively) or

heterogeneity of effects between populations (p values of 0.53, 0.61 and 0.57 respectively). Results based on a more conservative genotype analysis (318) not influenced by HWE assumptions (319) were very similar.

We then conducted a haplotype analysis for SNPs -238, -308, -857, and -863, in the two populations. The most notable result concerns the frequencies of the 1222 haplotype (where (1) indicates the presence of a minor allele, and (2) the presence of a major one) in patients and controls from Newfoundland (p = 0.04). The analysis suggests a greater frequency of this haplotype in cases than in controls. In Toronto, no significance was attached to this haplotype (p = 0.27). In the Toronto population the haplotype that appeared to be associated with the disease expression was 2212 (p = 0.03). This relation was not evident in Newfoundland (p = 0.6). Adjustments for multiplicity are required for interpretation purposes, however. A simple Bonferroni adjustment would generate significance levels of $0.04 \times 9 = 0.36$ and $0.03 \times 7 = 0.21$ (as we have nine possible haplotypes in Newfoundland and seven in Toronto). Thus we report these haplotype frequencies as hypothesis-generating for future studies. Nevertheless, these haplotype analyses do support the univariate SNP analyses, as they indicate that the presence of minor alleles at -238 in Newfoundland and at -857 in Toronto may be of importance for disease expression.

Meta-analysis

Nine cohorts from eight studies (including our two Canadian cohorts) were identified in the meta-analysis (174,182-185,198,320). The leading author, year

of publication, population, $TNF-\alpha$ variants and the number of minor and total alleles for each of the variants are listed in Table 3.1-4. The results of the metaanalysis are summarized in figure 3-1 for the TNF- α variants -238 and -308, which have been most extensively studied. The figures related to the other variants are not presented since they involve only three populations. Only the -238 variant was noted to have a significant association (OR 2.29 (95% CI 1.48, 3.55)). If the Japanese study is excluded from the meta-analysis, the pooled estimates for all the TNF- α variants were: -238(A) OR 2.37 (95% CI 1.52, 3.69); -308(A) OR 0.92 (95% CI 0.69, 1.23); -857 (T) OR 1.30 (95% CI 0.61, 2.79); -863(A) OR 0.75 (95% CI 0.55, 1.04); and -1031(C) OR 1.00 (95% CI 0.75, 1.33), the latter three being based only on the combined analysis of the Newfoundland and Toronto data. If, however, the Japanese study is included in the meta-analyses, this did not have a significant impact on the above results, leaving them practically unchanged (see fig 3.1-1 for -238(A) and -308(A)). Note that a test for heterogeneity in the -238 meta-analysis was associated with a marginal significance level of 0.05, likely associated with the higher ORs observed in the German studies (182,184). A more significant result was associated with the -308 analysis (p=0.01) due to the German_2 study's outlying OR (184). This serves as justification for the use of a mixed effects model which adjusts for heterogeneity.

Author	Year	Population		-238(A)	-308(A)	-857(T)	-863(A)	-1031(C)	488(A)
Rahman	2005	NFLD	Cases	49/456	83/450	30/440	68/462	107/440	
				(10.7%)	(18.4%)	(6.8%)	(14.7%)	(24.3%)	
			Controls	11/206	39/206	16/206	36/206	47/206	
				(5.3%)	(18.9%)	(7.8%)	(17.5%)	(22.8%)	
Rahman	2005	Toronto	Cases	35/398	65/406	59/398	49/400	83/400	
				(8.8%)	(16.0%)	(14.8%)	(12.2%)	(20.8%)	
			Controls	12/202	39/202	17/202	34/202	44/198	
				(5.9%)	(19.3%)	(8.4%)	(16.8%)	(22.2%)	
Hohler	2002	German_1	Cases	30/174	9/174				
				(17.2%)	(5.2%)				
			Controls	7/198	34/198				
				(3.5%)	(17.2%)				
Hohler	1997	German_2	Cases	20/124	19/124				
				(16.1%)	(15.3%)				
			Controls	7/198	32/198				
				(3.5%)	(16.1%)				
Gonzalez	2002	Spanish	Cases	15/162	25/162				
				(9.3%)	(15.4%)				
			Controls	14/220	24/220				
				(6.4%)	(10.9%)				
Gonzalez	2001	Jewish	Cases	7/104	8/104				
				(6.7%)	(7.7%)				
			Controls	3/146	15/146				
				(2.0%)	(10.3%)				
Al-Heresh	2002	Irish	Cases	23/248	52/248				17/248
				(9.3%)	(21.0%)				(6.9%)
			Controls	14/202	33/202				14/202
				(6.9%)	(16.3%)				(6.9%)
Balding	2003	Irish	Cases		70/298				
					(23.5%)				
			Controls		172/780				
					(22.1%)				

Table 3-4 – Summary of TNF- α associations studies in PsA

Hamamot	2000	0 Japanese	Cases	0/40	0/40	7/40	6/40	4/40	
0				(0%)	(0)	(17.5%)	(15.0%)	(10.0%)	
			Controls	4/174	5/174	27/174	27/174	22/174	
				(2.3%)	(2.9%)	(15.5%)	(15.5%)	(12.6%)	





Discussion:

PsA has a strong heritability as reflected by a relative risk of 55 among first degree relatives with PsA (141). The *TNF-a* gene has long been considered a major susceptibility gene in immunologically mediated disease including PsA, as this cytokine is of critical importance in the pathogenesis of PsA (163). The associations between the two most widely cited *TNF-a* promoter polymorphisms (-238 and -308 variants) and PsA have been evaluated in several Caucasian populations (174,182-185,198). Prior to our study, a significant association for *TNF-a* and PsA was noted only in German populations (182,184). In this study, we examined five common variants in the promoter region of the *TNF-a* gene, including -238 and -308. We noted a significant association between -238 variant and PsA in the Newfoundland population. The magnitude of our risk (OR=2) was not as high as reported in the German studies (OR=5). This may reflect a difference in population diversity, although it is well recognized that early association studies tend to overestimate the magnitude of the association conferred by a genetic polymorphism (321).

Our pooled analysis of all *TNF-* α studies in Caucasian PsA populations also noted a significant association between –238(A) and PsA. The -238(A) variant increased the odds of PsA by two fold in Caucasian populations. The meta-analysis failed to support the association with the -308 (A) variant, which was previously reported in one of the German studies (182). The pooled estimates for the other variants revealed no significant association, although the
estimates for -857, -863 and -1031 were based only on the combined analysis of the Canadian population and the small Japanese cohort.

The differing results noted in the Irish (174,185) and Spanish (183,198) populations may be due to ethnic admixture resulting in population stratification, population specific gene-gene or gene-environment interactions, variable linkage disequilibrium between the polymorphisms and statistical fluctuations (322,323). Another possible explanation is the weak genetic effect of the underlying polymorphisms. In a meta-analysis of 370 studies addressing 36 genetic associations for various outcomes, it was noted that when the sample size of less than 150 patients were used, there is a 7 fold higher rate of discrepancy between the first and subsequent studies, as compared to studies with a sample size of at least 150 (321). Except for our studies in the Canadian cohorts, all other studies reported their finding using less than 150 PsA probands. As a result these studies may be underpowered to reliably assess the impact of *TNF-* α polymorphisms in PsA.

As the previous studies were modest in size, we conducted a metaanalysis to assist in estimating the population-wide genetic effect of the commonly cited *TNF-* α polymorphisms. Our pooled analysis demonstrated a significant association between -238(A) and PsA. Based on this finding along with the positional (i.e., close to the *HLA-Cw6* locus) and functional characteristics of *TNF-* α , we feel that there is likely a genuine association between the -238(A) variant of *TNF-* α and PsA. However, we do acknowledge

85

that population stratification was not entirely avoided as family based controls were not used in these studies. Furthermore, publication bias may exist in the meta-analysis, as small negative association studies are often not published. As demonstrated in our study, since meta-analysis of association studies in complex diseases are helpful in estimating population-wide genetic effects, further efforts must be made to track all association data for a given polymorphism (positive or negative, small or large, published or not).

3.2

Meta-analysis of *MICA* triplet repeat polymorphism and risk of Psoriatic Arthritis in Caucasian populations

Christopher Butt¹, David Hallett², Mohammed Uddin¹, Jiaxun Cui¹, Yagang Xie¹, Proton Rahman³

¹Discipline of Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL, Canada. ²The Early Arthritis Program (TEAP), The Rebecca MacDonald Centre for Arthritis & Autoimmune Disease, Mt. Sinai Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada. ³St. Clare's Mercy Hospital, Division of Rheumatology, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL, Canada

An abstract of this paper was presented at 2009 EULAR Ann Rheum Dis. 2009; 68: Supp III: 184 Reprinted with permission

Introduction

Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) is an inflammatory form of arthritis usually seronegative for rheumatoid factor (6), It may affect as many as 30% of patients with psoriasis (7,8). PsA is a complex immunologically mediated disorder which likely results from the interplay of several genetic elements and environmental factors. Although psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) are interrelated disorders, PsA is a distinct entity with its own epidemiological clinical and genetic features. Furthermore, PsA demonstrates much greater heritability than does psoriasis among first degree relatives (λ_1 30.4 vs. 7.6) and among siblings of PsA and psoriasis patients (λ_s 30.8 vs. 8.8) (150).

The most common genetic association for both psoriasis and PsA has been shown to be the *HLA-Cw*0602* allele, however, other strong associations have been demonstrated for *HLA-B13*, *-B27*, *-B37*, and *–B57* (52,145). The *MICA* (major histocompatibility complex class I-related chain A) gene is a highly polymorphic gene situated in the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I region, located 47 kb upstream from the *HLA-B* locus, and extensive linkage disequilibrium between *HLA-B* and *MICA* has been described (187-189). The *MIC* genes represent a second lineage of mammalian MHC class I genes, and include seven members (*MICA–MICG*); five of these are pseudogenes and gene fragments, whereas *MICA* and *MICB* are functional genes closely related to each other (188). The *MICA* gene is expressed primarily in gastrointestinal epithelium (as well as keratinocytes and fibroblasts), and appears to act as a stress induced signal for the NKG2D receptor causing activation of natural killer (NK) cells and T-cells (324,325).

MICA encodes a cell surface glycoprotein of 383 amino acids, composed of three extracellular domains coded for by exons 2,3 and 4, a transmembrane domain coded for by exon 5 and a carboxy-terminal cytoplasmic tail (326,327). There is a triplet microsatellite repeat in the transmembrane region of exon 5 of the *MICA* gene. These repeat alleles are named A4, A5, A6, A9, A10 reflecting 4, 5, 6, 9, or 10 GCT repeats, or A5.1 reflecting 5 GCT repeats with the insertion of an additional G nucleotide. This repeat polymorphism has been associated with several autoimmune disorders such as RA (190), Bechet's Disease (191), Ankylosing Spondylitis (192-194) and PsA (183,195-198,328), across several populations. In order to evaluate the contribution of the *MICA* repeat polymorphism we analyzed PsA patients and healthy controls from the relatively homogeneous Newfoundland population, and then performed a meta-analysis of *MICA* alleles and PsA using previously reported data.

Methods

Patients

This study was approved by the ethics committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. Study participants were evaluated by a rheumatologist, and PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. Information was collected systematically and included age at onset of psoriasis, PsA, and disease pattern. The control subjects were ascertained from the Newfoundland population, and were all unrelated.

Laboratory Methods

Blood samples were obtained from 309 patient volunteers with PsA and 310 healthy controls in EDTA anticoagulant blood collection tubes. DNA was extracted from peripheral blood lymphocytes using the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit from Promega (Madison, WI). DNA Samples were genotyped for the *MICA* exon 5 repeat polymorphism using the Beckman Coulter CEQ 8000 automatic sequencer with primers designed using IDT's PrimerQuest program (www.idtdna.com).

With respect to the meta-analysis, the literature was searched up to and including January 2009. All articles pertaining to *MICA* repeat polymorphism in PsA were searched in Pubmed/Medline and Embase. As well, the reference lists of the articles identified were searched. We limited our selections to studies that examined Caucasian populations and provided enough data so that the number of individual repeat alleles (A4, A5, etc) as well as the total number of alleles present in both PsA patients and controls could be determined. The data was extracted by CB and then cross checked by DH and MU.

Statistical Analysis

Logistic regression was used to study the relationship between genotyping information and case/control status. The results are summarized in terms of odds ratios and significance tests. Pairwise linkage disequilibrium was assessed for all combinations of *MICA* repeat variants using Chi-squared tests. Meta-analyses were also based on logistic regression analyses and present results for individual studies and overall estimates of disease/genotype relationships from fixed effect stratified regression analyses.

Results

The results of the *MICA* genotyping in the Newfoundland population is summarized in table 3-5. The *MICA* A9 allele was detected in 102/309 PsA patients vs. 71/310 control subjects (OR 1.66, 95% Cl 1.16 – 2.37, *p*=0.005), and was found to be significantly associated with PsA in the Newfoundland population. *MICA* A6 was found in 79/309 patients vs. 101/310 controls (OR 0.71, 95% Cl 0.50 – 1.01, *p*=0.05). For the remaining alleles, *MICA* A5.1 was observed in 226/309 vs. 218/310 (OR 1.14, 95% Cl 0.81 – 1.16, *p*=0.43); for *MICA* A5 it was 51/309 vs. 72/310 (OR 0.65, 95% Cl 0.44 - 0.97, *p*=0.04) and for *MICA* A-4 it was 72/309 vs. 59/310 (OR 1.29, 95% Cl 0.88 – 1.90, *p*=0.19).

For the meta-analyses, a total of six studies with six different cohorts (including our own) met the inclusion criteria for analysis of the *MICA* A9 allele (195-198,328), while five were included for analysis of the *MICA* A4, A5, A6 alleles (196-198,328), and four were retained for analysis of the *MICA* A5.1 allele

 Table 3-5 – MICA triplet repeat polymorphism frequency in the

 Newfoundland population

MICA Repeat allele	NF PsA patients n=309		Con n=31	trols I0	OR (95% CI)	P value	
A4	72	(23.3%)	59	(19.0%)	1.29 (0.88-1.90)	0.19	
A5	51	(16.5%)	72	(23.2%)	0.65 (0.44-0.97)	0.04	
A5.1	226	(73.1%)	218	(70.3%)	1.14 (0.81-1.16)	0.43	
A6	79	(25.6%)	101	(32.6%)	0.71 (0.50-1.01)	0.05	
A9	102	(33.0%)	71	(22.9%)	1.66 (1.16-2.37)	0.005	

(196-198). The meta-analysis appears to reveal a strong association between the *MICA* A9 allele and PsA.

A total of 884 PsA cases and 1023 controls from six studies were genotyped for the *MICA* A9 allele. The overall OR and 95% CI for the association between PsA and *MICA* A9 was 1.89 (1.55 - 2.31; p < 0.0001). There was no significant heterogeneity between these studies. For the remainder of the *MICA* alleles, the meta-analysis revealed ORs of; A4 - 1.24 (0.98 - 1.57); A5 - 0.76 (0.58 - 0.98); A5.1 - 0.91 (0.73 - 1.13); A6 - 0.79 (0.64 - 0.98) [See Figs 3.2-1 a-e).

Figure 3-2(a-e): Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Models for MICA A9, A4, A5, A5.1, and A6.



Figure 3-2a: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for MICA A9



Figure 3-2b: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for MICA A4



Figure 3-2c: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model for MICA A5



Figure 3-2d: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model MICA A5.1



Figure 3.2-1e: Meta Analysis - Fixed Effects Model MICA A6

Discussion

The strongest genetic association for both psoriasis and PsA has repeatedly been shown to be the *HLA-Cw*0602* allele, although other significant associations with *HLA-B* alleles have been demonstrated. Even in the absence of *HLA-Cw*0602*, genome wide association studies of psoriasis and PsA indicate that the strongest associations are with the MHC region (239,241). As *MICA* is located 47kb from the *HLA-B* locus, the possibility exists that *MICA* may simply be in linkage disequilibrium with a true risk allele; however, previous studies have indicated that when *MICA* alleles are associated with PsA, it is independent of *HLA-Cw*0602* (195-198). We have observed a higher prevalence of the *MICA* A9 allele in our Newfoundland PsA cohort when compared to controls (33% vs. 22.9%), and through an extensive meta-analysis have demonstrated that the presence of the *MICA* A9 allele imparts a highly significant odds ratio 1.89 (95% CI 1.55 - 2.31; p < 0.0001) indicating that the *MICA* A9 allele is a risk factor for PsA.

PsA is thought to be a T cell mediated disease (92,93). It has been shown that the MICA protein is recognized as a ligand by intestinal epithelium NKG2D receptors of natural killer (NK) T-cells (329), although evidence suggests that MICA is not involved in antigen presentation (330). The recognition of MICA by NKG2D receptors is interesting as it has been reported that PsA is associated with variation of another family of NK receptors, the killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) (210,213,331). It has long been recognized that patients with Crohn Disease/Ulcerative Colitis have an increased risk for the development of PsA (263,265). There have been reported associations of *MICA* repeat polymorphisms and ulcerative colitis (332,333) as well as several other immunologically mediated diseases such as type I diabetes (IDDM) (334) and another seronegative spondyloarthropathy, ankylosing spondylitis (193,335). Cumulatively, the function of the *MICA* gene product and the reported disease associations suggest a direct involvement in PsA. Further studies exploring the functional role of *MICA* in PsA are warranted.

Finally, it is worth mentioning that upon completion of this work, another report regarding *MICA* repeat polymorphisms was released (336). While the authors did detect a higher frequency of the *MICA* A9 allele in PsA and PsA with type II psoriasis versus controls (46.0% and 58.6% vs. 30.8%, respectively) this difference did not achieve statistical significance after correction for multiple testing. However, as the sample size was small (200 PsA patients and 188 control subjects) we feel that it is unlikely these results would change the finding from our meta-analysis showing the *MICA* A9 allele is a significant risk factor for PsA.

3.3

Corneodesmosin polymorphisms in psoriatic arthritis

Christopher Butt¹, Proton Rahman¹, Fotios Siannis², Vernon T. Farewell², Dafna D. Gladman³.

¹St. Clare's Mercy Hospital, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's Newfoundland; ²MRC Biostatistics Unit, Institute of Public Health, Cambridge, UK ; ³Center for Prognosis Studies in Rheumatic Diseases, University Health Network, University of Toronto

A version of this manuscript appeared in Rheumatology (Oxford). 2005 ;44(5): 684-5. Reprinted with permission

Based on association studies and genome wide linkage scans in psoriasis. there is convincing evidence for a major psoriasis susceptibility locus within the MHC complex [as reviewed in (163)]. The primary area of interest resides in a 200 kb region between HLA-C and corneodesmosin (CDSN) that is in strong linkage disequilibrium (LD). Despite widely reported associations between HLA-Cw*0602 and psoriasis, there is ongoing debate about role of HLA-Cw*0602 as the causative allele, as this allele is neither necessary nor sufficient to develop psoriasis. Meanwhile, the CDSN gene, which is 160 kb from HLA-C, has been proposed as a candidate gene in psoriasis as it is the only PSORS1 transcript to be expressed in well differentiated keratinocytes, and is responsible for corneocyte adhesion and desquamation (163). However, association studies between CDSN and psoriasis have reported conflicting results and the data have been difficult to interpret due to LD with HLA-Cw6 (163,200-202,337-339). The association between CDSN polymorphisms and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) has not been systematically evaluated. Thus, based on the inter-relationship between psoriasis and PsA, and the location and proposed function of CDSN, we examined the association between CDSN polymorphisms and PsA in two distinct populations, a founder population from Newfoundland, Canada, and an admixed population from Toronto, Canada.

This study was approved by the local ethics committees at Memorial University of Newfoundland and the University of Toronto. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. The control subjects were ascertained from their respective regions, and were all unrelated.

Blood samples were collected from volunteers in EDTA anticoagulant and DNA was extracted from peripheral blood lymphocytes using the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit from Promega (Madison, WI). The following four SNPs in the *CDSN* gene [619 (rs707913); 1215; 1236 (rs1042127); 1243 (rs3132554)], were evaluated in our study. PsA subjects and controls were genotyped for the *CDSN* polymorphism by time-of-flight mass spectrometry, using the Sequenom platform. The PCR primers were designed using MassARRAY assay design software v1.3.4. Logistic regression was used to study the relationship between genotyping information and case/control status. The results are summarized in terms of significance tests.

We examined 226 PsA subjects and 107 controls from Newfoundland and 210 PsA subjects and 99 controls from Toronto. The genotypes for the controls satisfied the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. The allele frequencies for PsA subjects and controls for *CDSN* polymorphisms in the Newfoundland and Ontario population are presented in Table 3-6. We observed no association between *CDSN* polymorphisms (619, 1215, 1236 and 1243), and PsA in either the Newfoundland or Ontario cohorts.

Our results contrast those of Ahnini et al, who first reported an association between *CDSN* allele (+1243) and Type I psoriasis (337) and Capon et al, who noted a cluster of three *CDSN* polymorphisms to be associated with psoriasis, in differing ethnic populations (200) as well as Schmitt-Egenolf et al. who observed

SNP	Newfou	ndland		Toronto			
	PsA	Control	P value	PsA	Control	P value	
619 (C)	35.4%	40.6%	0.44	36.3%	32.2%	0.58	
1215 (G)	4.9%	1.5%	0.37	8.9%	6.2%	057	
1236 (G)	27.4%	30.8%	0.61	38.2%	34.3%	0.60	
1243 (T)	70.4%	75.2%	0.44	64.5%	69.4%	0.48	

 Table 3-6:
 Allele Frequencies of CDSN polymorphisms in Newfoundland and Toronto Population

that Corneodesmosin was more closely associated with psoriasis than *HLA-Cw6*0602* (338). However, the interpretation of these results is difficult as it is confounded by LD across this region. More recently, there has been heightened interest in the *CDSN* gene in psoriasis as a synonymous SNP in the *CDSN* gene has shown to increase mRNA stability and is associated with psoriasis across diverse populations (340). However, other investigators have failed to detect an association between *CDSN* polymorphisms and PsA (202,339).

In summary, we did not detect an association between *CDSN* polymorphisms and PsA in two distinct Canadian cohorts. However the possibility still remains that novel SNPs of these genes, or genes further up- or down-stream of *CDSN* may play a role in PsA. Alternatively, the *CDSN* may be in LD with the true susceptibility gene as a locus in a 70Kb interval around the *CDSN* gene has recently been mapped for psoriasis (201).

3.4

Association of SEEK1 and psoriatic arthritis in two distinct Canadian populations

P Rahman¹, C Butt¹, F Siannis², V T Farewell², L Peddle¹, F J Pellett³, C Schentag³ and D D Gladman³

¹ St Clare's Mercy Hospital, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's Newfoundland. ² MRC Biostatistics Unit, Institute of Public Health, Cambridge, UK. ³ Center for Prognosis Studies in Rheumatic Diseases, University Health Network, University of Toronto, Canada.

A version of this manuscript appeared in Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases 2005; **64**: 1370-1372. Reprinted with permission

INTRODUCTION

As psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) are interrelated disorders, these entities, at times, share common genetic determinants (163). The association of the HLA-Cw*0602 allele with psoriasis and PsA is one such example. HLA-Cw*0602 has long been considered to be the major predisposing factor for psoriasis (140,163), and the prevalence of this allele is also increased among subjects with PsA (341). Furthermore, in both these entities, the presence of HLA-Cw*0602 predicts an earlier age of onset of psoriasis (157,158,174). However, whether the HLA-Cw*0602 allele actually represents the true psoriasis gene or is in linkage disequilibrium with the true gene has not been adequately elucidated (140,163). SEEK1 (also known as PSORS1C1), which overlaps the 6p21-23 region and is in close proximity to the HLA-C locus, was recently noted to have a strong association with psoriasis in the Swedish population (199). In that study of 87 subjects with uncomplicated psoriasis, the +39604 polymorphism (rs3815097) in exon 2 of SEEK1 was found in 66% of patients with psoriasis as compared with 22% of controls (p = 0.000001). This polymorphism exhibited the strongest association with psoriasis and its effect was independent of HLA-Cw*0602. Because of the striking association of rs3815097 in SEEK1 and psoriasis, we set out to determine the prevalence of this SEEK1 polymorphism in two distinct Canadian populations.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients

This study was approved by the ethics committees at Memorial University of Newfoundland and the University of Toronto. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other causes for inflammatory arthritis. Information was collected systematically and included age at onset of psoriasis, PsA, and disease pattern. The control subjects were obtained from their respective regions, and were all unrelated.

Laboratory methods

Blood samples were collected from volunteers in EDTA anticoagulant, and DNA was extracted from peripheral blood lymphocytes using the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit from Promega (Madison, WI). Subjects with PsA and controls were genotyped for the *SEEK1* polymorphism by time of flight mass spectrometry, using the Sequenom platform. The polymerase chain reaction (PCR) primers were designed using MassARRAY assay design software, version 1.3.4. Mass array assay design was as follows: PCR primer 1: ACGTTGGATGTGCAACAGAAACCATCACCC; PCR primer 2: ACGTTGGATGTATGTGCTGGGAACTCAGTG. The primer sequences were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). For HLA genotyping, 200 ng of genomic DNA was amplified using the Dynal RELI SSO HLA-Cw* typing kit. PCR amplicons were identified by a reverse line assay using sequence-specific oligonucleotide probes. Assay results were interpreted using the pattern matching program provided by Dynal.

Statistics

Logistic regression was used to study the relationship between genotyping information and case-control status. The results are summarised as odds ratios (ORs) and significance tests. The association between age at onset of psoriasis and age at onset of PsA was examined semiparametrically (342). A χ^2 test was used to examine the relationship between the *SEEK1*(T) polymorphism and disease pattern.

RESULTS

One hundred and three patients with PsA (42% women) and 105 ethnically matched controls from Newfoundland were assessed. The mean (SD) age of the patients with PsA from Newfoundland was 49.6 (10.7) years, mean (SD) age of onset of psoriasis was 31.0 (14.1) years and of PsA 38.0 (10.8) years. Of the 103 patients with PsA cases who were genotyped for rs3815097, there were 3 homozygotes for the mutant T allele (TT), 47 heterozygotes (TC), and 53 homozygotes for wild-type C allele (CC). Of the 105 Newfoundland controls

genotyped, there were 3 homozygotes for the mutant T allele (TT), 31 heterozygotes (TC), and 71 homozygotes for the wild-type C allele (CC). The frequency for the minor (T) allele for the rs3815097 was 48.5% in the Newfoundland patients with PsA compared with 32.4% in controls (OR = 2.0; p = 0.02). Two hundred and two patients with PsA (41% women) and 100 ethnically matched controls from Ontario were genotyped. The mean (SD) age of the patients with PsA from Ontario was 50.5 (13.2) years, mean (SD) age of onset of psoriasis was 26.9 (12.2) years and of PsA 32.5 (10.8) years. Of the 202 patients with PsA who were genotyped for rs3815097, there were 17 homozygotes for the mutant T allele (TT), 77 heterozygotes (TC), and 108 homozygotes for wild-type C allele (CC). Of the 100 Ontario controls genotyped, there were 6 homozygotes for the wild-type C allele (CC). The frequency for the minor (T) allele for the rs3815097 was 46.5% in the Ontario patients with PsA compared with 38.0% in controls (OR 1.4; p = 0.16). The results are summarized in table 3-7.

A combined analysis of the Newfoundland and Ontario data demonstrated an overall association between the *SEEK1*(T) allele and PsA (p = 0.009). Additionally, there was no evidence for a *SEEK1*(T) allele and geographic location interaction (p = 0.39). Thus it cannot be established that the role of the *SEEK1*(T) allele in the incidence of PsA differs in the two populations. In separate analyses, the effect of *HLA-Cw*0602* is strong in the Newfoundland population (p = 0.0004) but is not noted in the Ontario population (p = 0.41). In contrast with the *SEEK1* analysis, however, a multivariate analysis does provide evidence for an

Table 3-7 Allele frequency of minor SEEK1 and HLA-Cw*0602									
	Newfoundland				Ontario				
	PsA	Controls	OR	p Value	PsA	Controls	OR	p Value	
SEEK1(T)	48.5	32.4	2.0	0.02	46.5	38.0	1.4	0.16	
HLA-Cw*0602	35.9	14.4	3.3	0.0004	28.2	23.5	1.3	0.41	

interaction between *HLA-Cw*0602* and geographic location (p = 0.02), demonstrating that the effect of *HLA-Cw*0602* on the incidence of PsA is significantly different in the two populations. Furthermore, when *HLA-Cw*0602* and its interaction with location is included in a multivariate model, addition of the *SEEK1*(T) allele does not improve the model significantly (p = 0.26). Therefore, although *SEEK1*(T) is associated with PsA, *SEEK1* does not appear to be a further susceptibility factor if the *HLA-Cw*0602* status is already known. Table 1 presents a summary of the allele frequency for the minor *SEEK1* allele (T) and the presence of the *HLA-Cw*0602* allele. Linkage disequilibrium between *HLA-Cw*0602* and *SEEK1*(T) is reflected in the fact that in the Newfoundland population, 18/75 (24%) of control subjects without *HLA-Cw*0602* have the *SEEK1*(T) allele, whereas 20/23 (87%) with *HLA-Cw*0602* have the *SEEK1*(T) allele. The parallel numbers in the Ontario population are 38/107 (36%) versus 56/57 (98%). There is some evidence of a different level of disequilibrium in the two populations (p = 0.03). When we explored the genotype/phenotype correlations for the minor (T) allele compared with the corresponding wild-type variant for *SEEK1*, no differences in the age of onset of psoriasis, PsA, or pattern of arthritis were noted.

DISCUSSION

Presently debate exists about whether $HLA-Cw^*0602$ is the causative allele in psoriasis or PsA as it is neither necessary nor sufficient to develop the disease. Thus it is prudent to investigate the role of neighbouring genes, such as *SEEK1*. At first glance, rs3815097 in *SEEK1* may not appear to be a strong candidate for PsA susceptibility as the function of *SEEK1* is not yet known and rs3815097 does not code for any amino acid change. However a striking association was noted between rs3815097 in exon 2 of *SEEK1* and psoriasis in the Swedish population (p<0.000001) (199). This association was independent of *HLA-Cw*0602*. An efficient way to validate the importance of *SEEK1* in PsA is to study multiple case-control populations, with the expectation that any important association will be seen in all populations. We examined two complementary populations. Newfoundland is a white founder population known to exhibit homogeneity comparable to the Hutterites (306). An advantage in examining this population is that it may allow the detection of small to modest genetic associations as a result of an increased "signal to noise ratio". Meanwhile, the

110

Ontario population is a well characterised heterogeneous PsA population that greatly enhances the generalisability of results.

In our study a statistically significant association was shown between *SEEK1* and PsA in the Newfoundland population alone. There was a trend for increased prevalence of *SEEK1* in the Ontario PsA population as compared with controls (46.5 v 38.0%) but this was not significant. However, there was also no evidence for a different relationship in the two separate populations, but when both populations were combined the evidence for an association was considerable (p = 0.009). Further analysis showed, however, that this association was not independent of *HLA-Cw*0602* status. The association noted in the Newfoundland population can probably be attributed to the extended linkage disequilibrium that exists in this young founder population.

A puzzling finding in our study was the lack of association between *HLA-Cw*0602* and PsA in the Ontario population, especially because previous studies from this cohort have confirmed this association (46,158). The allele frequency for the Ontario controls in this study (23.5%) was higher than previously reported for Ontario controls (9–15%) (46,158). This group of controls and patients was different from groups previously reported and may highlight the heterogeneity within the Ontario population. A further limitation of our study is the inability to rule out the possibility that an association exists for other SNP variants in the *SEEK1* gene, as only one SNP variant was studied. Finally, we are unable to decipher the independent contribution of psoriasis and inflammatory arthritis to *SEEK1*, as all our patients with PsA had both psoriasis and inflammatory arthritis. In

conclusion, data from our study does not support the premise that the rs3815097 SNP in *SEEK1* is an independent genetic determinant leading to susceptibility to PsA in the Newfoundland and Ontario populations.

4

Common genetic variants in autoimmune diseases: association with psoriatic arthritis.

4.1

Association of *PTPN22* in psoriatic arthritis: A case-control study

Christopher Butt¹, Lynette Peddle¹, Celia Greenwood², Sean Hamilton¹, Dafna Gladman³, Proton Rahman¹.

¹Memorial University of Newfoundland, ²Genetics and Genomic Biology, Hospital for Sick Children, Department of Public Health Sciences, University of Toronto, ³University Health Network, Toronto Western Hospital, University of Toronto

A version of this manuscript appeared in Arthritis Res Ther. 2006;8(1):R27 Reprinted with permission

Introduction:

Recently, a novel gene has attracted attention in the investigation of autoimmune disease. The *PTPN22* gene encodes a functional protein tyrosine phosphatase known as lymphoid phosphatase which acts as a regulator of the negative regulatory kinase cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase (CSK) in T cells, and may play a role in suppression of T-cell activation (223). A functional SNP 1858 C>T causing an Arg→Trp substitution (R620W) which disrupts the binding site for CSK was recently found to be associated with Type-1 diabetes (IDDM) (224). Subsequently associations have also been shown with other autoimmune diseases including rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (225) and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (226) in Caucasian populations. A large study in psoriasis involving 1,146 affected individuals (343) and a smaller study in psoriasis in 265 families with multiple autoimmune diseases, with only 63 psoriasis patients, revealed no association of the 1858 C>T variant of *PTPN22* and psoriasis (227).

Although psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) are interrelated disorders, PsA is a distinct entity with its own epidemiological, clinical and genetic features. Furthermore, PsA demonstrates much greater heritability among first degree relatives (λ_1 48) than psoriasis (λ_1 5-10) (145). Thus we set out to examine the association of these two high priority candidate genes in two well characterized Caucasian PsA cohorts.

Materials and Methods:

This study was approved by the ethics committees of Memorial University of Newfoundland and University of Toronto. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. All PsA probands were Caucasians. Information was collected systematically and included age at onset of psoriasis and PsA, and disease pattern. The control subjects were of similar ethnicity to the cases. Controls for the Newfoundland population were volunteers from Newfoundland that participated in our study as a result of a local campaign seeking population based controls for genetic studies. The Toronto controls were ascertained from the local HLA laboratory DNA bank which includes healthy volunteers and organ donors.

Whole blood samples were obtained from PsA probands and control subjects. DNA was extracted using the Promega Wizard Genomic DNA purification Kit. The detection of SNPs was performed by the analysis of primer extension products generated from previously amplified genomic DNA using a Sequenom chip-based MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry platform. In brief, PCR and extension reactions were designed using MassARRAY design software, and were carried out using 2.5 ng of template DNA. Unincorporated nucleotides in the PCR product were deactivated using shrimp alkaline phosphatase. The amplification of the SNP site was carried out using the MassExtend primer and involved the use of specific deoxy/dideoxy-nucleotide triphosphate (d/ddNTP) termination mixes which were also determined using MassARRAY assay design software. The primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip. The chips were scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation

(Bruker) and the resulting spectra were analyzed and genotypes were determined using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software. We genotyped PsA probands and control subjects for the *PPTN22* 1858 C>T polymorphism (rs2476601).

To determine differences in allele and genotyping frequencies, 2 X 2 contingency tables were used. Power calculations were performed by simulating cases and controls assuming a multiplicative model for disease risk, and varying the genetic risk associated each copy of the high-risk variant. Observed allele frequencies among controls were used to generate genotypes, together with an assumed baseline risk of PsA between 0.005 and 0.01. For each candidate gene, 100 simulated datasets were created, the trend test was performed, and we counted the number of simulations where the p-value was less than 0.05.

Results:

Two hundred and thirty eight Newfoundland PsA patients and 149 healthy Newfoundland controls were studied. With respect to the Newfoundland PsA patients, 53% were male and their mean age at the onset of the study was 49.7 years. The mean age of onset of psoriasis was 29.3 years (sd 14.2 years) and the mean age of onset of PsA was 38.1 years (sd 11.0 years). Sixty percent of the PsA patients had polyarticular disease 32% had oligoarticular disease and 7% had an isolated spondyloarthropathy. For the Toronto population, 207 PsA patients and 203 control subjects from the Toronto population were genotyped. With respect to the Toronto PsA patients, 61% were male and their mean age at the onset of the study was 39.6 years (sd 11.3 yrs). The mean age of onset of psoriasis was 26.8 years (sd 12.1 years) and the mean age of onset of PsA was 33.0 years (sd 10.8 years). Forty-four percent of the PsA patients had polyarticular disease, 40% had oligoarticular disease and 2.9% had isolated spondyloarthritis.

Of the 238 PsA patients genotyped for the 1858 C>T variant of *PTPN22* in the Newfoundland cohort, the C/C, C/T, and T/T genotypes for cases were 191, 44, and 3 respectively. For the 149 controls, the C/C, C/T, and T/T genotypes for controls were 121, 25, and 3 respectively. There was no difference in the minor allele (T) frequencies for the cases (10.5%) and controls (10.4%) for this *PTPN22* variant, p=0.96.

203 PsA patients and 199 control subjects were genotyped in the Toronto population for the 1858 C>T variant of *PTPN22*. For the PsA patients, the G/G, G/A, and A/A genotypes were 153, 43, and 7 respectively, while the Toronto control subjects were shown to be 167, 30, and 2. The minor allele (A) showed a frequency of 13.8% in PsA subjects versus 8.5% in controls. This was statistically significant when tested for the minor (T) allele (p=0.018) and for a trend in the genotypes (p=0.024). The rheumatoid factor (RF) was positive in 9% and 10% of the Newfoundland and Toronto cohorts respectively. After stratification for the presence of RF, we noted no association with RF positivity and the minor (T) allele for the *PTPN22* variant in either population.

All control genotypes satisfied the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Using the minor allele frequency of 0.10, observed among the controls for the *PTPN22* gene, this study had over 85% power to detect a genotype relative risk of 2.0 or greater at *PTPN22* and power near 0.67 to detect a genotype relative risk of 1.75.

Discussion:

This is the first study to assess the association of the high priority candidate gene variant PTPN22 1858 C>T specifically in PsA. With respect to the Newfoundland population, our results are consistent with the reported studies in psoriasis (227,343). However, a modest association was noted between this PPTN22 variant and PsA in the Toronto cohort. As the Toronto cohort is the first population to report a significant association between PTPN22 and PsA and contradicts previous larger studies in psoriasis (227,343), this result should be interpreted with caution until it is independently validated in another PsA population. It is conceivable that a true association exists and this association is disease (PsA) and population (Toronto) specific. It is worthwhile to note that the lymphoid-specific phosphatase encoded by *PTPN22* is among the most powerful inhibitors of T-cell activation, thus there is a potential rationale for this association. Alternatively, a false positive association may have occurred in the Toronto PsA cohort due to population stratification. As the reported RA associations with PTPN22 are almost exclusively with seropositive RA (225,227,344,345) we stratified our population based on seropositivity for

119

rheumatoid factor (RF), and found no association between the presence of RF and *PTPN22*.

Conclusions:

In conclusion, we obtained different results regarding the association of *PTPN22* in two PsA cohorts. A moderate association was noted in a well characterized, admixed PsA cohort, however this was not validated in a homogenous Caucasian cohort. Further studies in additional PsA populations are warranted to more definitively determine the role of *PPTN22* in PsA.
4.2

The interleukin-1 family gene cluster and psoriatic arthritis.

Christopher Butt¹, Mohammed Uddin¹, Angela Pope², Dafna Gladman³ Proton Rahman⁴

¹Discipline of Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL, Canada. ²Newfound Genomics, St. John's, NL, Canada. ³Center for Prognosis Studies in Rheumatic Diseases, University Health Network, University of Toronto; Toronto, Ontario, Canada. ⁴St. Clare's Mercy Hospital, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, NL, Canada

Introduction

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA) is an inflammatory arthritis associated with psoriasis. The disease presents with a variety of pathogenic subtypes. While the triggers for the disease have not yet been elucidated, it has a strong genetic component (145,150). PsA is largely an inflammatory disease, and the inflammatory cytokine IL-1 is expressed at increased levels in the serum, synovial fluid and skin of PsA patients (204,346). Recently, several reports have found an association between the *IL-1* gene cluster and ankylosing spondylitis including amongst a cohort from Newfoundland (254,347). A large clinical and immunologic overlap exists between PsA and AS; thus based on the known role of IL-1 and the observed association between the *IL-1* gene cluster and AS, our laboratory examined the association of SNPs in the *IL-1* gene cluster with PsA in a cohort from Newfoundland (207).

A significant association was noted in PsA with 2 adjacent *IL1B* markers (rs1143627 and rs16944) and an *IL1F7* marker (rs3811047) in the Newfoundland PsA cohort. Using adjacent 3-marker haplotype windows two regions in the *IL-1* gene cluster (markers rs3783547, rs3783543, and rs17561 in *IL1A*, and a region near the end of *IL1B*, through *IL1F7*, *IL1F8*, and into *IL1F10*, containing markers rs3811047, rs1562304, and rs3811058) were found to be associated with PsA. While these results are interesting, findings in a small founder population may not be generalizable to larger, more admixed populations. Thus, we set out to

validate our observation of association in the *IL-1* gene cluster in an admixed population from Toronto.

Methods

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland and the University of Toronto. Informed consent was obtained from all patients and participation was voluntary. Controls were volunteers from the Toronto area who participated in our study as a result of a local campaign seeking controls for genetics studies. Samples of whole blood were obtained from PsA probands and controls. DNA was extracted using the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification kit (Promega, Madison, WI). In total, Two hundred fifty PsA patients and two hundred forty seven controls were genotyped for 16 SNPs: 9 SNPs in IL-1A, 3 SNPs in IL-1B, and 2 SNPs each in IL-1F7 and IL-1F8. The SNPs used and results for this study are summarized in Table 4.1. SNP determination was performed using the chip-based matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry platform (Sequenom, San Diego, CA). Briefly, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and extension reactions were designed using MassArray design software (Sequenom). Primers were obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The PCR primers were used to amplify 2.5 ng of genomic DNA using standard conditions for MassArray genotyping. Unincorporated nucleotides in the PCR product were deactivated using shrimp alkaline phosphatase.

123

Amplification of the SNP site was carried out using the MassExtend primer and involved the use of specific d/ddNTP termination mixes that were also determined using MassArray design software. The primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip (Sequenom). The chip was scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker Analytik, Rheinstetten, Germany), and the resulting spectra were analyzed using SpectroTyper-RT software (Sequenom). Single marker associations and 2, 3 and 4 marker sliding window haplotypes were calculated using the Plink software package (348), and 2, 3 and 4 marker sliding window haplotypes were calculated using PHASE version 2.1 (349)

Results

All markers tested fit Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium. The SNP rs3917348 was excluded from analysis as it had a minor allele frequency of < 0.01. None of the remaining 15 markers tested displayed any significant associations. We estimated differences in haplotype frequencies between cases and controls for all overlapping windows of size 2, 3 or 4 markers across the region genotyped, using PHASE software, version 2.1 Parameter settings for PHASE were 300 burn-in, 300 runs, and 10000 permutations. To evaluate the number of significant results expected by chance, we permuted case and control labels and repeated the univariate 2-df tests, counting the number of significant results obtained in each permutation. Similarly, we permuted case and control labels and repeated the haplotype analyses, counting the number of significant case-control

associations within each gene. These permutation tests adjusted significance for the number of markers or windows tested. No combination of markers displayed significance following permutation testing. The results are summarized in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1 – SNPs from the *II-1* gene cluster and significance levels after permutations of sliding-window haplotypes.

SNP	Marker Number	2-marker haplotype	P-Value	3-marker haplotype	P-Value	4-marker haplotype	P-Value
rs2856836	1	1-2	0.9292	1-2-3	0.9837	1-2-3-4	0.9770
rs3783550	2	2-3	0.9948	2-3-4	0.9933	2-3-4-5	0.9708
rs3783547	3	3-4	0.9935	3-4-5	0.9717	3-4-5-6	0.9741
rs3783543	4	4-5	0.9108	4-5-6	0.9722	4-5-6-7	0.9555
rs17561	5	5-6	0.9729	5-6-7	0.9542	5-6-7-8	0.9500
rs1533463	6	6-7	0.9680	6-7-8	0.9222	6-7-8-9	0.9565
rs3783526	7	7-8	0.9640	7-8-9	0.9801	7-8-9-10	0.7926
rs1800587	8	8-9	0.8415	8-9-10	0.8569	8-9-10-11	0.7726
rs1800794	9	9-10	0.8157	9-10-11	0.6812	9-10-11-12	0.3920
rs1143627	10	10-11	0.4644	10-11-12	0.5144	10-11-12-13	0.5399
rs16944	11	11-12	0.5228	11-12-13	0.4996	11-12-13-14	0.6467
rs3811047	12	12-13	0.7899	12-13-14	0.8387	12-13-14-15	0.6832
rs2723187	13	13-14	0.5931	13-14-15	0.4333		
rs1562304	14	14-15	0.3026				
rs1900287	15						

Discussion

Recently two reports of an autosomal recessive autoinflammatory disease caused by mutations affecting IL1RN, referred to as deficiency of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist, or DIRA, have brought attention to the role of the IL-1 gene cluster in inflammatory disease (350,351). The patients carrying mutations to IL1RN were described as having life-threatening systemic inflammation with skin and bone involvement, which was resolved with the administration of recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist Anakinra (Biovitrum). The IL1RN gene lies just proximal to the IL-1gene cluster and codes for the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. The IL1RN cytokine regulates IL-1ß by binding tightly to the interleukin-1 receptor, thereby blocking access of interleukin-1 to the receptor. IL-1 and IL1RN are produced in patients with infection, trauma, or inflammatory conditions, where they compete for occupancy of the interleukin-1 receptor. Thus, it is likely that an inflammatory process may be affected by the relative amounts of interleukin-1 and interleukin-1-receptor antagonist circulating, a view which is supported by several animal models (352). Thus, the IL-1 gene cluster is an attractive target in the investigation of an inflammatory disease such as PsA.

In this study, we set out to replicate the observed finding of association between the *IL-1* gene cluster in a PsA cohort from Newfoundland (207), using the same markers in a second PsA cohort from Toronto. Genetic studies of this gene cluster and the seronegative spondyloarthropathies have garnered considerable attention as several reports have noted an association between the *IL-1* gene cluster and AS across Caucasian (including a Newfoundland cohort) and Asian populations (253,254,347,353,354). However, aside from the reported association in the Newfoundland population, a positive association between certain SNPs in the IL-1 gene cluster and PsA has been published only one other time (205), however when we attempted to replicate the findings of Ravindran et al. in our Newfoundland PsA cohort, we observed no association with those specific polymorphisms (206). The fact that no significance was observed in single marker or 2, 3 and 4 marker sliding window haplotypes in the Toronto cohort could be due to population specific variation in our Newfoundland cohort. As the population of Newfoundland is relatively small, the reported results for both AS and PsA could be explained by a founder effect, or due to cryptic relatedness between patients of both diseases, or due to the result of positive selection or genetic drift. The repeated associations of the IL-1 gene cluster with AS argue for this region's involvement in the seronegative spondyloarthropathies. As our Newfoundland PsA cohort has roughly 40% of patients who have been diagnosed with the spondylitis form of PsA (234) the reported association with the IL-1 gene cluster may represent an association with spondyloarthropathy rather than PsA per se. Further investigation in additional PsA cohorts is warranted.

4.3

Association of Nuclear Factor-KB in Psoriatic Arthritis

Christopher Butt¹, Shuying Sun², Lynette Peddle¹, Celia Greenwood², Sean Hamilton¹, Dafna Gladman³, Proton Rahman¹

¹Memorial University of Newfoundland, ²Genetics and Genomic Biology, Hospital for Sick Children, Department of Public Health Sciences, University of Toronto, ³Toronto Western Hospital, University of Toronto

A version of this manuscript appeared in J Rheumatol. 2005 Sep;32(9):1742-4. Reprinted with permission Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) is a complex immunologically mediated disorder that results from interplay between multiple genetic and environmental factors. Epidemiological studies implicate a substantive role for genetic factors in disease susceptibility and expression in PsA (23,140). Although association of PsA and alleles in the MHC region are well established, this region appears to contribute only one third of the total genetic variance to other forms of autoimmune inflammatory arthritis (355). Thus, it is prudent to investigate high priority candidate genes outside the MHC region in PsA.

Nuclear Factor- κ B (NF- κ B) exists as a multi-protein complex and is a pleiotropic transcription regulator that regulates key cytokines involved in regulating immune response including TNF- α and IL-1 β (356). These cytokines are important in the pathogenesis of PsA (356). Recently, the first potentially functional polymorphism of the *NFKB1* gene on chromosome 4q24 was described: an ATTG ins/del polymorphism in the promoter region of the gene, which decreases promoter activity in ulcerative colitis (271). NF- κ B has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis as the affinity for NF- κ B binding in rheumatoid arthritis synovium is significantly higher than osteoarthritis synovium (357). Thus, based on the proposed function of *NFKB1* and its association with inflammatory arthritis and colitis we set out to investigate the role of this *NFKB1* promoter ins/del polymorphism as well as other SNPs in the *NFKB1* gene, and two genes in the NF- κ B functional complex (*RELA* and *NFKB1*) in subjects with PsA from our founder population.

129

Methods

Patients

This study was approved by the local ethics committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland. Informed consent was obtained from all patients, who were all from the Newfoundland population. PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. The control subjects were also ascertained from Newfoundland and were all unrelated to each other, or to our patients.

Laboratory

Whole blood samples were obtained from PsA probands and control subjects. DNA was extracted using the Promega Wizard Genomic DNA purification Kit. The detection of SNPs was performed by the analysis of primer extension products generated from previously amplified genomic DNA using a chip-based MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry platform (Sequenom, Inc., San Diego, CA) (310). In brief, PCR and extension reactions were designed using MassARRAY design software, and were carried out using 2.5 ng of template DNA. Unincorporated nucleotides in the PCR product were deactivated using shrimp alkaline phosphatase. The amplification of the SNP site was carried out using the MassExtend primer and involved the use of specific d/ddNTP termination mixes which were also determined using MassARRAY assay design software. The primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip. The chips were scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation

(Bruker) and the resulting spectra were analyzed and genotypes were determined using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software.

We genotyped PsA probands and control subjects for the following polymorphisms: *NFkB1*: in the promoter region, -94delATTG; and the non synonymous coding SNPs rs4648065, rs4648072, rs4648085, rs4648086, rs4648099; *RELA* promoter SNP rs11568292, coding SNP rs7116571, and 3' SNPs rs2009453, rs6591183; and *NFKBIA* promoter SNPs -410 (rs2233409), - 642 (rs2233408), -673 (rs2233407), -949 (rs2233406) and 3' SNPs 2643 (rs8904), 2758 (rs696) and 3053 (rs2273650).

Statistical Analysis

Chi-square analysis was used to test the single locus associations between SNPs in NF-κB complex and PsA. Associations between multi-locus haplotypes and case or control status were tested using the software PHASE, version 2.1 (http://www.stat.washington.edu/stephens/software.html). This software uses a haplotype reconstruction method that assesses similarity between haplotypes using arguments based in coalescent theory (349,358). A permutation test is performed to examine the similarity of the haplotype distributions between cases and controls. Since the algorithm considers haplotype similarity, the permutation test has power even when the number of haplotypes is large.

Results

Two hundred and twenty four PsA probands (52% males) and 88 ethnically matched controls (62% males) were studied. All subjects were Caucasian of North European descent and considered to be native Newfoundlanders. The mean age of the PsA probands was 50.0 years (SD 10.9 years), age at onset of psoriasis 29.4 years (SD 14.3 years) and age at onset of PsA 37.9 years (SD 11.3 years). All of the genotypes for the controls satisfied the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Not all SNPs were successfully genotyped in every individual. The genotyping results of all non-homozygous polymorphisms are summarized in table 4-2.

With respect to single locus associations, none of the SNPs tested were found to be associated with PsA in the Newfoundland population. In particular, the allele frequency for the *NFKB1* -94delATTG was 41.7% in the cases and 41.6% in the controls (p=0.97). For the five non-synonymous coding SNPs of *NFKB1* (rs4648065, rs4648072, rs4648085, rs4648086, rs4648099), the genotypes were all homozygous for all probands and controls, with the exception of one control that was heterozygous for SNP rs4648072.

For *RELA* the 3' SNP rs2009453 the minor allele © had a frequencies of 42.2% vs. 40.3% in cases and controls respectively (p=0.67); while for the 3' SNP rs6591183 the minor allele (A) frequencies were 44.1% vs. 38.6% in cases and controls respectively (p=0.23); The *RELA* promoter SNP rs11568292 and coding SNP rs7116571, were found to be homozygous in all PsA probands and controls, except for one patient who was heterozygous for rs11568292.

The *NFKBIA* promoter SNP -410 (rs2233409) was found to have minor allele (T) frequencies of 25.0% vs. 28.1% in cases and controls respectively (p=0.45); for SNP -673 (rs2233407), the minor allele (T) frequencies were 5.8% vs. 4.2% respectively (p=0.42); for SNP -949 (rs2233406) the minor allele (T) frequencies were 31.3% vs. 34.5% respectively (p=0.60); and finally for SNP 2578 (rs696) the minor allele (A) frequency was 28.4% vs. 30.5% in cases and controls respectively (p=0.21). For the remaining *NFKBIA* promoter SNP -642 (rs2233408) as well as the 3' SNPs 2643 (rs8904), and 3053 (rs2273650) the genotypes were all homozygous for all probands and controls.

Haplotypes were formed with two markers for *RELA* (rs2009453 and rs6591183) and four markers for *NFKBIA* [-410 (rs2233409), -673 (rs2233407); -949 (rs2233406) and (rs696)]. No associations were found for haplotypes for *RELA* (0.37) and *NFKBIA* (0.90). We then re-analyzed all these markers as well as *NFKB1* -94delATTG for gene/gene interaction and again found no association (p=0.82).

Results were further analyzed to determine if there was any relationship between the minor allele frequency of each genotype, gender and early onset of psoriasis (defined as onset of psoriasis prior to age 40 years). No such association was observed.

133

	Genotype	NF PSA	Controls	p Value
	31	Patients		
NFkB1 -		n=224	n=83	
94delATTG	ATTG	75(33.5%)	26 (31.3%)	
rs28362491	ATTG/DEL	111(49.5%)	45 (54.2%)	
	DEL/DEL	38 (17.0%)	12 (14.5%)	
Allele F. (del)		41.7%	41.6%	NS
		n=196	n=88	
NFkB1	AA	196 (100%)	86 (98.9%)	
rs4648072	AG		1 (1.1%)	NS
RELA rs6591183		n=194	n=88	
	AA	36 (18.6%)	14 (15.9%)	
	AG	99 (51.0%)	40 (45.5%)	
Allele F. (A)	GG	59 (30.4%)	34 (38.6%)	
		44.0%	38.6%	NS
RELA rs2009453		n=193	n=88	
	CC	32 (16.6%)	15 (17.0%)	
	CT	99 (51.3%)	41 (46.6%)	
Allele F. (C)	TT	62 (32.1%)	32 (36.4%)	
		42.2%	40.3%	NS
RELA		n=182	n=71	
rs11568292	GG	182 (100%)	70 (98.6%)	
	AG		1 (1.4%)	NS
NFKBIA -949		n=211	n=84	
rs2233406	С	96 (45.5%)	40 (47.6%)	
	CT	98 (46.4%)	30 (35.7%)	
	Т	17 (8.1%)	14 (16.7%)	
Allele F. (T)		31.3%	34.5%	NS
NFKBIA -673		n=216	n=84	
rs2233407	A	191 (88.4%)	77 (91.7%)	
	AT	25 (11.6%)	27 (32.1%)	
	Т	0	0	
Allele F. (T)		5.8%	4.2%	NS
NFKBIA -410		n=220	n=84	
rs2233409	С	120 (54.5%)	47 (56.0%)	
	CT	90 (41.0%)	27 (32.1%)	
	Т	10 (4.5%)	10 (11.9%)	
Allele F. (T)		25.0%	28.0%	NS
NFKBIA 2578		n=222	n=88	
(rs696)	A	20 (9.0%)	8 (9.1%)	
	AG	86 (38.7%)	37 (42.0%)	
	G	116 (52.3%)	43 (48.9%)	
Allele F. (A)		28.4%	30.5%	NS

Table 4-2 – Frequency of polymorphisms in the NFKB1, RELA and NFKBIA

genes in the Newfoundland population

Discussion

As noted in a recent editorial, NF-κB serves as a "master switch" for the inflammatory cascade in rheumatic disease, as it is critically linked to many genes that result in synovitis such as pro-inflammatory cytokines and metalloproteinases (359). The NFKB1 protein is found most often bound with RelA to form the NF-κB complex (360). The complex is found inactive in the cytoplasm bound to an I-kappa-B inhibitory protein (NFKBIα), and is activated when the I-kappa-B kinases (IKBKA or IKBKB) phosphorylate serine residues on the NFKBIα protein, marking it for destruction via ubiquitination. The active NF-κB complex then is transported to the cell nucleus and binds DNA at kappa-B-binding motifs, thereby activating gene expression (361). Inappropriate activation of NF-κB has been linked to inflammatory events associated with autoimmune arthritis, asthma, septic shock, lung fibrosis, and atherosclerosis (275,362). There are no previous studies that have examined the role of NF-κB in PsA.

In our study, an association between PsA and SNPs of components of the NF-κB complex - *NFkB1*, *RELA*, and *NFKBIA* was not observed. In particular we did not detect any association between the *NFKB1* -94delATTG polymorphism and PsA. This study strongly suggests that the major *NFKB1* -94delATTG variant, which is associated with UC, is not associated with PsA. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that an association exists for other SNP variants in genes in the NF-κB pathway or that there is an association in other populations, as the Newfoundland population may not be representative of other admixed Caucasian populations (303). Furthermore, we also acknowledge that because of

our sample size we are unlikely to detect small differences in allele frequencies. Based on our observations, we conclude that there is no association between SNPs of components of the NF-KB complex - *NFkB1*, *RELA*, and *NFKBIA* in the Newfoundland population. The possibility remains that novel SNPs of these genes, or genes further up- or down-stream in the NF-KB pathway may contribute to dysfunction of the inflammatory process leading to PsA.

4.4

Lack of association of *SLC22A4*, *SLC22A5*, *SLC9A3R1* and *RUNX1* variants in psoriatic arthritis.

Christopher Butt¹, Shuying Sun², Celia Greenwood³, Dafna Gladman⁴, Proton Rahman⁵

¹Discipline of Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland. ²Department of Statistics, University of Toronto. ³Program in Genetics and Genomic Biology, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto. ⁴Psoriatic Arthritis Program, Toronto Western Research Institute, University of Toronto. ⁵Division of Rheumatology, Memorial University of Newfoundland (MUN).

A version of this manuscript appeared in Rheumatology (Oxford). 2005; 44(6): 820-1. Reprinted with permission.

INTRODUCTION

Psoriasis is a chronic inflammatory hyperproliferative skin disorder that affects 1-3% of the population (7). Up to a third of the patients with psoriasis may develop an inflammatory form of arthritis, referred to as psoriatic arthritis (PsA). Extensive epidemiological evidence supports the concept of PsA as a distinct entity (23). PsA is a heterogeneous disease with articular and extra-articular features. Moll and Wright described five clinical patterns of PsA, including symmetrical polyarthritis, a subtype that resembles rheumatoid arthritis (6). Various extra-articular features also occur in PsA including psoriasis (which is seen in the majority of subjects with PsA) and inflammatory bowel disease, such as Crohn disease. A significant overlap exists in the therapeutic approach for PsA, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn disease including an excellent clinical response to TNF blockade. Thus there are shared epidemiological features, clinical manifestations and therapeutic strategies for these autoimmune diseases.

With respect to aetiology of these complex, immunologically mediated disorders, PsA, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn disease appear to result from an interplay between multiple genetic and environmental factors. Common genetic elements to autoimmune diseases have been proposed as there is co-localization of susceptibility loci for autoimmune diseases in mouse (363) and also overlapping of susceptibility loci among autoimmune diseases in humans (364). Thus, when searching for susceptibility genes for PsA it is prudent to examine high priority candidate genes in related autoimmune disorders.

Recently, there have been major advances in the genetics of complex autoimmune diseases, with novel candidate genes being identified in psoriasis (*SLC9A3R1*) (365), rheumatoid arthritis (*SLC22A4* and *RUNX1*) (366), and Crohn disease (a haplotype of SNPs in SLC22A4 and SLC22A5) (269). As *SLC22A4*, *SLC22A5, SLC9A3R1* and *RUNX1* have a proposed role in chronic inflammatory disease, the phenotypes of which frequently overlap with PsA, we set out to examine the association of these genes with PsA in the Newfoundland founder population.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was approved by the local ethics committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland. Informed consent was obtained from all PsA patients, who were all from the Newfoundland founder population. PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. The control subjects were also ascertained from Newfoundland and were all unrelated to each other, or to our patients.

Whole blood samples were collected from PsA probands and control subjects in EDTA anticoagulant tubes and DNA was extracted from peripheral blood lymphocytes using the Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit from Promega (Madison, WI). In total, 259 PsA patients and 238 controls from Newfoundland were genotyped for three SNPs in *SLC22A4* (rs3792876, 1050152, rs3763112), 1

SNP in *SLC22A5* (rs2631367), 1 SNP in *SLC9A3R1* (rs734232), and 1 SNP in *RUNX1* (rs2268277) using the Sequenom MassArray platform using time-of-flight mass spectrometry (Sequenom, Inc., San Diego, CA) (310). All PCR primers and extension primers were designed using SpectroDESIGNER assay design software v1.3.4. All PCR and extension reactions were carried out using 2.5ng of template DNA. The primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip. The chips were scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker) and the resulting spectra were analyzed and genotypes were determined using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software. Not all samples were successfully genotyped for each SNP.

Chi square analysis was used to test the single locus associations between SNPs in our selected candidate genes and PsA. Associations between multi-locus haplotypes and case or control status were tested using the software PHASE, version 2.1 (http://www.stat.washington.edu/stephens/software.html). This software uses a haplotype reconstruction method that assesses similarity between haplotypes using arguments based in coalescent theory (349,358). A permutation test is performed to examine the similarity of the haplotype distributions between cases and controls. Since the algorithm considers haplotype similarity, the permutation test has power even when the number of haplotypes is large. Physical distances between the SNPs on the same chromosome were used in the PHASE analysis.

RESULTS

Two hundred and fifty-nine PsA probands and 238 ethnically matched controls were studied. All subjects were Caucasian of North European descent and considered to be native Newfoundlanders. The mean age of PsA patients at the time of study was 49.67 years, SD 10.95 years, and 48.5% of subjects were females. The mean age of onset of psoriasis in our cohort was 29.27 years, SD 14.16 years. All of the genotypes for the controls satisfied the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Not all SNPs were successfully genotyped in every individual.

With respect to single locus associations, none of the variants examined from *SLC22A4*, *SLC22A5*, *SLC9A3R1* and *RUNX1* were significantly associated with PsA in the Newfoundland population either by genotype or minor allele frequencies. These results are summarized in table 4-3. We then analyzed two marker haplotypes for markers of interest in rheumatoid arthritis [*SLC22A4* (rs3792876) and *RUNX1* (rs2268277)] and Crohn disease [*SLC22A4* (rs1050152) and *SLC22A5* (rs2631367)] and noted no association [(p=0.342), (p=0.81) respectively]. We also examined 2 marker combinations for the remaining SNPs in *SLC22A4* [(rs3792876 and rs1050152; p=0.48); (rs3792876 and rs3763112, p=0.580] as well as haplotypes for all four SNPs in *SLC22A4* on chromosome 5 (p=0.90). Finally we assessed the relationship of all 6 markers on three different chromosomes and again found noted no association (p=0.74).

	Genotype	NF PsA patients	Controls	OR (95% CI)	P value
SLC9A3R1					
(rs734232)					
Genotype Freq	GG	89 (35.0%)	74 (31.8%)		0.32
	GA	115 (45.3%)	100 (42.9%)		
	AA	50 (19.7%)	59 (25.3%)		
Allele Freq (A)		42.3%	46.8%	0.84 (0.65-1.08)	0.16
OCTN1/					
(m1050152)					
(IS 1050152)	00	90 (20 00/)	75 (22 20/)		0.59
Genotype Freq	CC	80 (30.9%)	13 (32.2%)		0.56
	TT	119 (45.9%)	113 (40.3%)		
Allele Erec (T)	11	00 (23.270)	43 (19.370)	4 4 4	0.42
Allele Fled (1)		40.1%	43.0%	(0.86-1.43)	0.42
OCTN1/					
SLC22A4					
(rs 3763112)					
Genotype Freq	GG	80 (31.6%)	76 (31.9%)		0.99
	GA	131 (51.8%)	122 (51.3%)		
	AA	42 (16.6%)	40 (16.8%)		
Allele Freq (A)		42.5%	42.4%	1.00 (0.78-1.29)	0.99
OCTN1/					
SLC22A4					
(rs3792876)					
Genotype Freq	CC	226 (87.6%)	196 (84.5%)		0.61
	CT	31 (12.0%)	35 (15.1%)		
	TT	1 (0.4%)	1 (0.4%)		
Allele Freq (T)		6.4%	8.0%	0.79	0.34
				(0.48-1.28)	
OCTN					
2/SLC22A5					
(rs2631367)					
Genotype Freq	GG	74 (28.7%)	56 (24.9%)		0.62
	GC	115 (44.6%)	108 (48.0%)		
	CC	69 (26.7%)	61 (27.1%)		
Allele Freq (G)		51.0%	48.9%	1.09	0.52
				(0.84-1.40)	
RUNX1					
(rs2268277)					
Genotype Freq	GG	114 (44.4%)	98 (42.8%)		0.23
	GC	116 (45.1%)	95 (41.5%)		
	CC	27 (10.5%)	36 (15.7%)		
Allele Freq (C)		33.1%	36.5%	0.86	0.27

Table 4-3 – Genotype and allele frequency of SLC9A3R1, SLC22A4,SLC22A4, and RUNX1 polymorphisms in the NL population.

DISCUSSION

The chromosome 5q31 region is a region of interest in various forms of autoimmune disease as it contains a cytokine gene cluster that has been implicated in Crohn disease and rheumatoid arthritis (268,367). Rioux et al. (267) found significant association of the 5g31 region with Crohn disease using microsatellite analysis of 256 Crohn disease trios. Further analysis using TDT identified two SNPs, one in the OCTN1 gene and one in the OCTN2 gene as being significantly associated with Crohn disease, a finding which has since been confirmed (269). Given that Crohn disease has a pathogenesis associated with inflammation and autoimmunity, Tokuhiro et al. investigated the cytokine gene cluster on 5g31 to determine if an association existed between this region and rheumatoid arthritis and determined that a SNP within SLC22A4/OCTN1 was significantly associated with rheumatoid arthritis (366). This SNP was shown to affect the expression of SLC22A4/OCTN1 by altering the binding affinity to the transcription factor RUNX1. Notably, it has been previously shown that mutation of a RUNX1 binding site was associated with systemic lupus erythematosus (368). Tokuhiro et al also observed an association of an intronic RUNX1 SNP with rheumatoid arthritis, however this association was determined to be independent of the observed SLC22A4/OCTN1 association, rather than epistatic (366). Interestingly, the disruption of a RUNX1 binding site in the putative PSORS2 locus on 17q25, less than three hundred bp downstream of the gene SLC9A3R1 was recently associated with psoriasis (365).

We noted no association between the organic cation transporter genes and PsA in the Newfoundland population. This is in contrast to a recent British study that investigated 471 Caucasian PsA patients and 605 population controls for similar variants in SLC22A4 and SLC22A5 (369). They noted two SNPs, rs3763112 mapping to SLC22A4 and rs2631367 mapping to SLC22A5, to be significantly associated with PsA (p=0.001 and p=0.007) respectively. Furthermore, a haplotype which was associated with Crohn disease (SNPs rs1050152 and rs2631367) was also strongly associated with PsA (p=0.0002) in their population. The lack of association of these SNPs and the Crohn disease haplotype in our study may reflect a difference in the PsA populations, as Newfoundland is a homogenous founder Caucasian population, while the population from Manchester is admixed. A potential benefit of studying the Newfoundland population is the possibility of an amplified genotype relative risk due to the enhanced signal to noise ratio that exists in the population as a result of genetic and relative environmental homogeneity. However, as locus homogeneity is also likely to exist in the Newfoundland population, not all genes of potential importance to PsA will be implicated in the Newfoundland population. We also cannot rule out the possibility that an association exists for other SNPs within these genes, or to other recently described organic cation transporter genes in the IBD5 locus (OCTN3) (370). Furthermore, we also acknowledge that because our sample size is modest we are unlikely to detect small differences in allele frequencies.

144

Despite the observation that *SLC9A3R1* has a plausible biologic role in psoriasis (365), as it is expressed in polarized epithelial cells, we found no association between the rs734232 variant of *SLC9A3R1* examined and PsA in the Newfoundland PsA population. All patients with PsA in our population had psoriasis.

Thus, although there is significant epidemiological clinical and immunological overlap between PsA, psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn disease, we were unable to implicate *SLC22A4*, *SLC22A5*, SLC9A3R1, and RUNX1 in the aetiology of PsA in Newfoundland.

5

Chasing disease pathology: gene variants from pathogenic mechanisms of psoriatic arthritis

5.1

VEGF, FGF1, FGF2 and EGF gene polymorphisms and psoriatic arthritis

Christopher Butt¹, Sooyeol Lim², Celia Greenwood³, and Proton Rahman⁴

¹Discipline of Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University of Newfoundland; St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. ²Genetics and Genome Biology, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto; Toronto, Ontario, Canada. ³Genetics and Genome Biology, Hospital for Sick Children, University of Toronto; Toronto, Ontario, Canada. ⁴Division of Rheumatology, St. Clare's Mercy Hospital, Memorial University of Newfoundland; St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada.

A version of this manuscript appeared in BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2007 Jan 4;8:1. Reprinted with permission

Background

Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) is an inflammatory form of arthritis usually seronegative for rheumatoid factor (6), which may affect as many as 30% of patients with psoriasis (7,8). Although psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) are interrelated disorders, PsA is a distinct entity with its own epidemiological clinical and genetic features. Furthermore, PsA demonstrates much greater heritability among first degree relatives (λ_1 48) than psoriasis (λ_1 5-10) (145).

Angiogenesis appears to be a first-order event in both psoriasis and PsA (127). Abnormalities in the vascular morphology of the nail-folds of psoriasis patients without nail disease have been observed (128), as well as an increase in the number of synovial membrane blood vessels in PsA joint tissue (90). Recently, the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ) agonist pioglitazone, which inhibits angiogenesis, has shown efficacy in the treatment of PsA in a small open-label study (132). Modest significance between a coding SNP of *PPAR\gamma* and PsA patients has been observed (371), suggesting that angiogenesis may be an important area of investigation in PsA.

Among angiogenic factors, the cytokines vascular endothelial growth factor (*VEGF*), epidermal growth factor (*EGF*), and fibroblast growth factors 1 and 2 (*FGF1* and *FGF2*) are powerful mitogens and play a central role in the initiation of angiogenesis. *VEGF* is the only mitogen that specifically acts on endothelial cells, and has been shown to stimulate the elongation, network formation, and branching of nonproliferating endothelial cells in culture that are deprived of oxygen and nutrients. As endothelial cells in tumours are routinely exposed to

periodic or constant hypoxia, it has been proposed that *VEGF* contributes to the formation of blood vessels in tumourigenesis (372). *FGF1* has been shown to play a role in both angiogenesis and tumourigenesis (373), while *FGF2* has been shown to play a crucial role in both skin and cartilage wound healing (374,375), and in combination with another pro-angiogenic factor synergistically induces vascular networks which remain stable for more than a year even after depletion of angiogenic factors (376). *EGF* likewise is important in wound healing and plays a role in tumour growth and development (377).

High levels of the cytokine VEGF have been found in the synovial joints of both early and established rheumatoid arthritis (RA), PsA (130), AS, (378), and psoriasis plaques (379). The treatment of PsA with TNF- α inhibitors has been shown to significantly reduce levels of circulating VEGF and FGF1 (380).

Several *VEGF* polymorphisms have been associated with the development of psoriasis (379,381). The 936 T allele (rs3025039) of the *VEGF* gene, and haplotypes of SNPs at positions -2578 (rs699947), -1154 (rs1570360), -634 (rs2010963) and 936 have been associated with younger age of onset of RA in a Korean population (382). Furthermore a haplotype of SNPs at positions - 2578, -1154 and -634 has been associated with disease severity for ankylosing spondylitis in the same population (383).

Both *FGF1* and *FGF2* have been observed to be upregulated in the synovial tissue of human subjects with RA (384) and significantly worsened clinical symptoms in a rat adjuvant-induced model of arthritis (385), while at least one polymorphism of the *EGF* gene (rs4444903) has been shown to significantly

affect *EGF* production (386). At the time of this report, genetic variations in the *FGF1*, *FGF2* or *EGF* genes have not been studied in either RA or the spondyloarthropathies.

Given the previously reported associations of VEGF in both RA and AS, and the role that VEGF, FGF1, FGF2 and EGF play in angiogenesis, we examined genetic variants of each of these genes in PsA subjects from Newfoundland.

Methods

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland. Informed consent was obtained from all patients. All PsA probands were Caucasians from the Newfoundland population. PsA was diagnosed as inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of any other aetiology for inflammatory arthritis. Information was collected systematically and included age at onset of psoriasis, PsA and disease pattern. The ethnically matched, healthy control subjects were also obtained from the Newfoundland population, and were unrelated to the cases.

Whole blood samples were obtained from PsA probands and control subjects. DNA was extracted using the Promega Wizard Genomic DNA purification Kit. The detection of SNPs was performed by the analysis of primer extension products generated from previously amplified genomic DNA using a Sequenom chip-based MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry platform. In brief, PCR and extension reactions were designed using MassARRAY design software, and were carried out using 2.5 ng of template DNA. Unincorporated nucleotides in the PCR product were deactivated using shrimp alkaline phosphatase. The amplification of the SNP site was carried out using the MassExtend primer and involved the use of specific deoxy/dideoxy-nucleotide triphosphate (d/ddNTP) termination mixes which were also determined using MassARRAY assay design software. The primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip. The chips were scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker) and the resulting spectra were analyzed and genotypes were determined using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software. We genotyped PsA probands and control subjects for the following polymorphisms: in the *VEGF* gene rs3025039, rs699947, rs1570360, and rs2010963; in the *FGF1* gene rs34011; in the *FGF2* gene rs1048201; and in the *EGF* gene rs4444903, rs11568943 and rs2237051.

For 2 x 2 contingency tables of allele frequencies, Fisher's exact tests were conducted to calculate the exact p-values, and odds ratios were also calculated. As supporting exploratory analyses, genotype frequencies were also examined: for each of the 2 x 3 contingency tables of genotype frequencies, two different statistical methods that require somewhat different modeling assumptions were used to generate p-values: one was Fisher's exact test, and the other was the Cochrane-Armitage trend test, which may have more power than Fisher's exact test if a trend exists across genotype categories under the additive genetic effect model.

151

Haplotype estimation was conducted in several stages using two software packages (Haploview (387) and Phase v2.1 (349,358)): Haploview was first run on the markers for each multi-marker gene to identify the linkage disequilibrium structure and check to ensure that the markers were appropriate for inclusion in the haplotype estimates. Once the markers for which haplotypes were to be constructed were identified for each gene, then Haploview was re-run to identify the likely haplotypes and determine their relative frequencies. In order to predict the haplotypes for each subject, the Phase software was run on the markers used for Haploview. Haplotyping was performed on the genes *EGF* and *VEGF* only, as there was only one genotyped marker in each of *FGF1* and *FGF2*. Haplotype odds ratios for disease associations were calculated using the mixture logistic regression method proposed by Sham et al. (2004) (388), fitted by using WinBUGS 1.4 (Medical Research Council Biostatistics Unit, Cambridge) (389), which estimates Bayesian model parameters by using Markov chain Monte Carlo methods.

Results

Two hundred and fifty-eight PsA probands and 154 ethnically matched controls were studied. All subjects were Caucasian of North European descent and considered to be native Newfoundlanders. The mean age of PsA patients at the time of study was 49.67 years (sd 10.95 years), and 48.5% of subjects were females. The mean age of onset of psoriasis in our cohort was 29.27 years (sd

14.16 years). Not all SNPs were successfully genotyped in every individual. The results of the genotyping experiments are given in Table 5.1-1.

Chi squared (χ^2) tests for a departure from the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium were performed on each marker by Haploview. The only marker that attained statistical significance in the control sample is rs4444903 in *EGF* gene (p < 0.01), and this marker was removed from further analysis; all the other markers satisfied H-W equilibrium.

Single Marker Association Tests

The marker *VEGF* +936 (rs3025039) yielded a statistically significant result when Fisher's exact test was performed to compare allele frequencies between cases and controls (see Table 5-1). There was a higher proportion of T alleles among controls than cases (cases 11.6% vs. 16.8% in controls); Fisher's exact *p* value was = 0.042, OR for the T allele: 0.653 (95% CI: 0.434, 0.982). This finding is consistent with those of the statistical tests on the genotype frequencies (Fisher's exact test p = 0.082; Trend test p = 0.035). The marker *VEGF* -634 (rs2010963) also appears to yield a statistically significant result when Fisher's exact test was performed on the genotype frequencies (p = 0.037). However, neither the Fisher's exact test on the allele table (p = 0.74) nor the trend test on the genotype table (p = 0.71) was statistically significant. The remaining two SNPs in the *VEGF* gene, *VEGF* -1154 (rs1570360) and *VEGF* -2578 (rs699947) displayed no evidence of an association with PsA. For the *FGF1* and *FGF2* markers (rs34011

	Genotype	NF PsA	patients	Controls	
VEGF+936	CC	200/258	(77.5%)	100/146	(68.5%)
rs3025039	CT	56/258	(21.7%)	43/146	(29.5%)
	TT	2/258	(0.8%)	3/146	(2.0%)
Allele Freq (T)		11.6%		16.8%	
VEGF-1154	GG	69/257	(26.8%)	35/147	(23.8%)
rs1570360	GA	121/257	(47.1%)	69/147	(46.9%)
	AA	67/257	(26.1%)	43/147	(29.3%)
Allele Freq (A)		49.6%		52.7%	
VECE 2579		60/057	(26 50/)	45/450	(20.09/)
re600047	AC	12//257	(20.5%)	45/150	(30.0%)
13033347	CC	65/257	(25.3%)	35/150	(23.3%)
Allele Freq (C)	00	49.4%	(20.070)	46.7%	(20.070)
VEGF-634	GG	118/255	(46.3%)	64/127	(50.4%)
rs2010963	GC	118/255	(46.3%)	45/127	(35.4%)
	CC	19/255	(7.4%)	18/127	(14.2%)
Allele Freq (c)		30.6%		31.9%	
FGF1	CC	110/242	(45.5%)	74/154	(48.0%)
rs34011	CT	108/242	(44.6%)	64/154	(41.6%)
	TT	24/242	(9.9%)	16/154	(10.4%)
Allele Freq (T)		32.2%		31.2%	
5050	00	407/054	(CE 70/)	00/454	164 20/)
rGF2	CT	70/254	(00.7%)	99/154	(04.3%)
151040201	TT	9/254	(31.1%)	9/15/	(50.5%)
Allele Freq (T)		18.7%	(3.270)	20.5%	(3.270)
Allele I led (1)		10.770		20.070	
FGF	AA	209/248	(84.3%)	122/153	(79.7%)
rs4444903	GA	4/248	(1.6%)	1/153	(0.7%)
	GG	35/248	(14.1%)	30/153	(19.6%)
Allele Freq (G)		14.9%		19.9%	
EGF	GG	78/256	(30.5%)	55/154	(35.7%)
rs2237051	GA	138/256	(53.9%)	72/154	(46.8%)
	AA	40/256	(15.6%)	27/154	(17.5%)
Allele Freq (A)		42.6%		40.9%	
ECE	00	222/242	(05.0%)	140/140	(04.0%)
re11568042	GA	200/243	(93.9%)	0/1/0	(54.0%)
131100343		0	(+.170)	0	(0.070)
Allele Freg (A)	143	2.1%		3.0%	
				0.0,0	

Table 5-1: Genotype frequencies of SNPs in VEGF, FGF1, FGF2 and EGF in PsA patients and controls

and rs1048201 respectively), there were no statistically significant findings in any of the tests (p > 0.5) that would suggest an association with PsA. For the two *EGF* SNPs, there was no evidence of association for either rs2237051 or rs11568943 in PsA.

Haplotyping

The *VEGF* marker +936 (rs3025039) is physically far from, and has low LD with, the other 3 markers in the gene (see Figure 5-1). Thus, it was decided that rs3025039 should be excluded when estimating multi-marker haplotypes within this gene, (this decision is consistent with the *VEGF* haplotyping work of Seo et al (383)) and only rs699947, rs1570360, and rs2010963 were considered for haplotyping. There are 3 main haplotypes (AAG, CGC, and CGG) at the loci rs699947, rs1570360, and rs2010963, and haplotype frequency estimates are shown in Table 5.1-2. Haploview performed χ^2 tests comparing frequencies of haplotype CGC and CGG, respectively, in cases and controls. For CGC, the haplotype frequency was 0.325 in controls and 0.308 in cases, while the χ^2 test gave a p value of 0.612. For CGG the haplotype frequency was 0.138 in controls and 0.186 in cases, while the χ^2 test gave a p value of 0.077.

In order to calculate haplotype odds ratios (HOR), Phase v2.1 was used to make haplotype predictions for individuals. The haplotype frequencies generated by Phase and Haploview were compared and it was determined that the results from the two software packages were consistent with each other. A logistic regression model was then fitted to the case-control data to determine the odds

155



Figure 5-1: Linkage Disequilibrium in VEGF Markers
Haplotype	Frequency in PsA cases	Frequency in controls
	(N=516) No. (%)	(N=300) No. (%)
CGC	159.0 (30.8%)	97.6 (32.5%)
CGG	96.0 (18.6%)	41.4 (13.8%)
AAG	256.0 (49.6%)	156.9 (52.3%)
All other haplotypes	5 (0.97%)	4.1 (1.4%)

Table 5-2:	Haplotype	frequencies	s for VEGF	rs699947,	rs1570360, a	and
rs2010963,	estimated	by using PH	HASE vers	ion 2.1.		

ratio associated with each haplotype. Since haplotypes for some individuals cannot be precisely determined due to phase ambiguities, the mixture logistic regression method (388) was used to account for the probabilistic determination of haplotypes for individuals. This was implemented in WinBUGS 1.4. Note that this implementation does not yield p-values due to its Bayesian nature, but statistical significance can still be assessed by checking whether the 95% CI of HOR spans 1.0.

The results of the HOR analysis for the *EGF* and *VEGF* markers are given in Tables 5-3 and 5-4. Neither of the haplotypes for either gene was found to be strongly related to the disease status. It was decided that the marker rs4444903 of the *EGF* gene should be excluded from haplotyping as it was not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium in the control sample. Thus, only *EGF* markers rs11568943 and rs2237051 were considered for haplotyping (See figure 5.1-2: The 2nd block of figure 1 corresponds to the haplotyping of our interest). No evidence of a haplotype association with PsA for *EGF* markers (rs11568943 and rs2237051) was observed.

Table 5-3: Haplotype Odds Ratios (HOR) for PsA associated with EGF rs11568943 and rs2237051. The baseline haplotype for reference is GG.

EGF	
haplotype	HOR (95% CI)
GA	1.106 (0.824, 1.504)
AA	0.702 (0.264, 1.844)

Table 5-4: Haplotype Odds Ratio (HOR) analysis for VEGF rs699947, rs1570360, and rs2010963. The reference haplotype is AAG.

VEGF	
haplotype	HOR (95% CI)
CGC	0.946 (0.687, 1.294)
CGG	1.481 (0.932, 2.340)



Figure 5-2: Linkage Disequilibrium in EGF Markers

Of the 258 PsA probands, 164 had polyarticular disease (63.6%); 79 had oligoarticular disease (30.6%); 5 patients had isolated DIP variant (1.9%), 5 had isolated spondyloarthropathies (1.9%) and 3 had arthritis mutilans (1.1%). Due to the low frequency of the isolated DIP, isolated spondylitis, and arthritis mutilans variant, we assessed differences in allele frequencies for our markers in between the oligoarticular and polyarticular subtypes of PsA, (data summarized in Table 5-5).

With respect to axial involvement, as noted above isolated spondylitis was relatively rare in our cohort. Most of the cases of spondylitis occurred in conjunction with either oligoarthritis or polyarthritis. Thus we stratified our PsA probands as having spondylitis or no spondylitis irrespective of peripheral involvement. We noted that 40 (15.5%) of our patients had a concomitant spondyloarthropathy and 201 patients (78.0%) had no axial involvement. For the remaining 17 patients there was insufficient information to properly assess for the presence of spondylitis (data summarized in Table 5-6). As noted in tables 5.1-5 and 5.1-6, no significant differences in minor allele frequencies were noted between variants of PsA and any of the SNPs examined in our study using Fisher's exact test.

Discussion

The proposed physiological role of the cytokines coded for by the VEGF, FGF1, FGF2 and EGF genes, along with the increased levels of these angiogen-

Table 5-5: Minor allele frequencies in oligoarticular and polyarticular subsets of PsA.

No significant differences were found between these two subgroups for any marker.

SNP	Minor allele frequency for Oligoarticular disease [N= 79; 30.6% of cases]	Minor allele frequency for Polyarticular disease [N= 164; 63.6% of cases]
VEGF +936 (T) rs3025039	0.12	0.11
<i>VEGF</i> -1154 (A) rs1570360	0.52	0.48
VEGF -2578 (C) rs699947	0.47	0.51
VEGF -634 (C) rs2010963	0.30	0.31
<i>FGF1</i> (T) rs34011	0.32	0.33
<i>FGF2</i> (T) rs1048201	0.21	0.18
EGF (G) rs4444903	0.16	0.15
<i>EGF</i> (A) rs2237051	0.46	0.42
EGF (A) rs11568943	0.01	0.03

Table 5.6: Minor allele frequencies in the spondyloarthritis subgroups of PsA.

No significant differences were found between these two subgroups for any marker.

SNP	Minor allele frequency for cases with NO spondylitis [N=201; 78.0% of cases]	Minor allele frequency for cases with Spondylitis present [N=40; 15.5% of cases]
VEGF +936 (T) rs3025039	0.12	0.11
VEGF -1154 (A) rs1570360	0.48	0.53
VEGF -2578 (C) rs699947	0.5	0.45
VEGF -634 (C) rs2010963	0.31	0.29
FGF1 (T) rs34011	0.32	0.36
FGF2 (T) rs1048201	0.21	0.21
EGF (G) rs4444903	0.15	0.20
EGF (A) rs2237051	0.42	0.50
EGF (A) rs11568943	0.02	0.05

-ic factors in arthritic synovium, make these worthy targets for evaluation of genetic association.

We have observed an increased frequency in the T allele of *VEGF* +936 (rs3025039) in control subjects when compared to our PsA patients [Fisher's exact p-value = 0.042; OR 0.653 (95% CI: 0.434, 0.982)] indicating that this SNP may play a protective role against the development of PsA. This is in contrast to Han et al. (382) who observed an association of the T allele with the development of RA. It is worth noting that the pattern of increasing vascularity in PsA synovial tissue has been shown to be markedly distinct from that observed in RA: PsA patients were shown to have predominantly tortuous, bushy vessels while RA patients had mainly straight, branching vessels (101). This potentially indicates differing mechanisms of angiogenesis, lending further evidence to the idea that there are indeed different pathogenic mechanisms in RA and PsA, which is not necessarily surprising.

Although the -1154 G \rightarrow A (rs1570360) and -634 G \rightarrow C (rs2010963) *VEGF* variants were not associated with rheumatoid arthritis in a white population from Spain (390), interesting observations were found in assessing patients with primary systemic vasculitides from North-western Spain. With respect to this, biopsy-proven giant cell arteritis (GCA) patients, who had severe ischemic complications exhibited a significantly increased frequency of *VEGF* -634 G allele compared with GCA patients not affected by ischemic complications or with healthy controls. Interestingly, patients carrying the *VEGF* -634 C allele, associated with high production of *VEGF* had significantly reduced frequency of

severe ischemic events in the setting of this large and middle-sized blood vessel vasculitis. In this regard, the carriage rate of the risk allele G showed statistically significant skewing comparing GCA patients with severe ischemic events with the remaining GCA patients (GG + GC compared with CC). These results suggest a potential implication of the VEGF gene -634 G-->C polymorphism in the development of severe ischemic manifestations of GCA. High VEGF levels may have a compensatory effect supporting neoangiogenesis mechanisms that may protect GCA patients from the development of severe ischemic complications such as irreversible visual loss (391). In contrast, in Henoch-Schonlein Purpura (HSP), a small-sized blood vessel vasculitis involving skin, gut and kidney, the high VEGF producing -1154 G allele was increased in HSP patients with nephritis compared with healthy controls. Similarly, the high VEGF producing -634 C allele was also increased in patients with nephritis compared to controls. The -1154G/-634C haplotype was also associated with susceptibility to HSP nephritis. Moreover, a protective effect against nephritis in patients with HSP was observed for the -1154A/-634G VEGF promoter haplotype. These results also suggest a potential implication of the VEGF -1154 G-->A and -634 G-->C polymorphisms in the development of nephritis in patients with HSP (392). It is also worth noting that in several instances the frequency of disease-associated and other alleles have been shown to be markedly different between Caucasian and Asian populations (393,394) including alleles associated with RA and other autoimmune conditions (395), therefore, our observed differences in the allele

frequency of VEGF +936 (rs3025039) from other published reports is not surprising.

Conclusions

Thus, the first investigation of genetic variations of the pro-angiogenic cytokines *VEGF*, *FGF1*, *FGF2*, and *EGF* in PsA has produced some interesting results. We observed that the T allele of *VEGF* in +936 (rs3025039) may act as a protective allele in the development of PsA, in contrast to other reports which have observed a higher frequency of the allele in RA patients. The possibility does remain that an association exists for novel SNPs in these genes which may affect transcription levels or cause other functional changes, or within regulatory genes for *VEGF*, *FGF1*, *FGF2* and *EGF*. It is also quite possible that variants in genes for other molecules which function in angiogenesis may be involved with PsA. Further studies regarding the association of pro-angiogenic markers in PsA would be beneficial to help elucidate pathogenic pathways in this disease.

5.2

PPAR-γ gene polymorphisms and Psoriatic Arthritis

Christopher Butt¹, Dafna Gladman², Proton Rahman¹

¹St. Clare's Mercy Hospital, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's Newfoundland. ²Center for Prognosis Studies in Rheumatic Diseases, University Health Network, University of Toronto

A version of this manuscript appeared in J Rheumatol. 2006 Aug;33(8):1631-3. Reprinted with permission

Introduction

Recently, Bongartz *et al.* reported on the use of a novel class of insulinsensitizing drugs (thiazolidinediones) in the treatment of active psoriatic arthritis (PsA) (132). Specifically, in this open labelled trial, six out of 10 patients with active PsA improved sufficiently to satisfy the psoriatic arthritis response criterion (PsARC) after pioglitazone was instituted. Pioglitazone was developed for the treatment of type II diabetes mellitus and acts as a ligand for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (*PPAR* γ). The *PPAR* γ gene is expressed in many human tissues and its activation has previously been shown to play a role in suppressing both angiogenesis and inflammation (133,396). Specifically, *PPAR* γ activation can decrease proinflammatory cytokine expression and suppress neoangiogenesis in models of inflammatory disease (133).

PPARy is a potential candidate gene for susceptibility in PsA, as Mingrone et al. demonstrated that abnormal lipid metabolism often co-exists with glucose intolerance in subjects with psoriasis (397). Secondly, epidemiological studies have noted increased prevalence of type I diabetes (IDDM) in subjects with psoriasis. Also, the Pro12Ala SNP of *PPARy* has previously been associated with type 2 DM (398) and biomarkers of systemic inflammation (399). Finally, several animal models have shown that peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ agonists significantly reduced the progression of experimentally induced osteoarthritis in guinea pigs (400), and clinical disease activity scores as well as histological scores of joint destruction in a mouse model of collagen-induced arthritis (401). Given the potential physiological role of *PPARy* activation and the apparent success of PPARy-agonist in the treatment of active PsA and in animal models of arthritis, we decided to examine four known coding polymorphisms in the *PPARy* gene in our PsA population: Pro12Ala (rs1801282), Pro40Ala (rs1805192), Pro115Gln (rs1800571), and C161T (rs3856806). The PPARy Pro12Ala SNP has previously been associated with reduced transcriptional and receptor activity of PPARy (402) and the presence of the Ala isoform has been linked to higher insulin sensitivity and both higher and lower body mass index (403,404), while the Pro12Pro isoform has been associated with both higher levels of biomarkers of inflammation as well as shorter survival times in patients with end-stage renal disease (399). The Pro40Ala, Pro115Gln and C161T polymorphisms have all previously been inconsistently associated with diabetes, insulin sensitivity and obesity (402,404,405).

Methods

PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. All PsA probands were Caucasians from the Newfoundland population, and were unrelated to each other. Information was collected on a standardized protocol and included age at onset of psoriasis, PsA and disease pattern. Control subjects were healthy volunteers from Newfoundland who responded to an advertisement seeking controls for genetic studies. As the control subjects were examined we verified that they did not have PsA at the time of the study nor did they have a history of psoriasis or inflammatory arthritis. This study was approved by the local ethics committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland. Informed consent was obtained from all patients.

The island portion of the Canadian province of Newfoundland and Labrador is located in the Atlantic Ocean, off the eastern coast of Canada. The population of the island of Newfoundland consists mainly of descendants of English and Irish settlers who arrived in the 17th and 18th centuries. The geographical and social isolation of this island has ensured very little inward migration for several hundred years and thus has lead to a small population (530 000 individuals; Statistics Canada 2001) which has grown mostly through internal expansion, with a relatively homogenous genetic background ideal for the study of complex disease.

Whole blood samples were obtained from PsA probands and control subjects. DNA was extracted using the Promega Wizard Genomic DNA purification Kit. The detection of SNPs was performed by the analysis of primer extension products generated from previously amplified genomic DNA using a Sequenom chip-based MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry platform. In brief, PCR and extension reactions were designed using MassARRAY design software, and were carried out using 2.5 ng of template DNA. Unincorporated nucleotides in the PCR product were deactivated using shrimp alkaline phosphatase. The amplification of the SNP site was carried out using the MassExtend primer and involved the use of specific deoxy/dideoxy-nucleotide triphosphate (d/ddNTP)

termination mixes which were also determined using MassARRAY assay design software. The primer extension products were then cleaned and spotted onto a SpectroChip. The chips were scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker) and the resulting spectra were analyzed and genotypes were determined using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software.

Samples were genotyped for all four *PPAR* variants by time-of-flight mass spectrometry using the Sequenom platform. All four SNPs were previously reported coding variations, three of which caused an amino-acid change: Pro12Ala, Pro40Ala, Pro115Gln, while the fourth SNP C161T was synonymous, resulting in no amino acid change in the final protein. All primers were designed using Sequenom SpectroDESIGNER software, scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker), and analyzed using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software. Statistical analysis of all *PPAR* variants was performed using chi-square tests.

Results

Of the four *PPARy* SNPs examined, two (Pro40Ala and Pro115Gln) were found to be non-polymorphic in our population. The genotype frequencies of the remaining SNPs are given Table 5-7. For the Pro12Ala (rs1801282) SNP, an

	Genotype	PsA patients N=251	Controls N=235	p-value
PPARγ Pro12Ala rs1801282 Allele Freq (G)	CC GC GG	208 (82.9%) 41 (16.3%) 2 (0.8%) 9.0%	177 (75.3%) 51 (21.7%) 7 (3.0%) 13.8%	0.017
PPARγ C1431T rs3856806 Allele Freq (T)	CC TC TT	207(80.9%) 43 (16.8%) 6 (2.3%) 10.7%	185 (79.4%) 40 (17.2%) 8 (3.4%) 12.0%	0.56

Table 5-7: 0	Genotype	frequencies	in PPARy	in PsA	patients	from
Newfoundla	and					

association was noted for the minor allele between PsA cases and controls (9.0% vs. 13.8% respectively, p=0.017; OR: 0.62, 95% CI: 0.45 - 0.93), and this association remained significant (p=0.034) in multiple testing using Bonferroni's correction. Meanwhile, no association was noted for the C161T (rs3856806) SNP (10.7% vs. 12.0%, respectively, p=0.56). No haplotype associations were noted and there was no correlation between the genotypes and age of onset of psoriasis, age of onset of PsA or disease pattern.

Discussion

ï

In our study a modest association was noted for the Pro12Ala (rs1801282) SNP, which results in an amino acid change from proline to alanine. To our knowledge, cases and controls were not related to each other. Even though selection of cases and controls was not limited to one geographic region, it is

conceivable that cryptic relatedness exists in the Newfoundland population, resulting in an ascertainment bias.

Interestingly, a previous study noted no association between PPARy polymorphisms and uncomplicated psoriasis (406). This would appear to suggest that the Pro12Ala variant of the PPARy gene confers susceptibility specifically to PsA rather than psoriasis. However we would use caution in interpreting this result, as 2 separate populations were studied in the psoriasis and PsA reports. Thus, further investigation of this gene from PsA and psoriasis subjects from our population as well as other independent populations is now warranted.

5.3

Lack of association between genes regulating osteoclastogenesis and Psoriatic Arthritis.

Christopher Butt¹, Dafna Gladman², Proton Rahman¹

¹Memorial University of Newfoundland, ²Toronto Western Hospital, University of Toronto

Psoriatic Arthritis (PsA) is a complex immunologically mediated disorder that results from interplay between multiple genetic and environmental factors. One of the pathological hallmarks of PsA is the presence of extensive bone resorption with concomitant new bone formation (49). Osteoclasts are the primary cells responsible for bone resorption, and there is a significant increase in the amount of osteoclast precursor cells (OPCs) observed in PsA patients (112). Signalling of OPCs to begin maturation to osteoclasts is initiated when the receptor-activator of NF-κB (RANK) – an OPC surface receptor molecule - binds to its ligand (RANKL). Osteoprotegerin (OPG) is a natural antagonist to RANKL, acting as a soluble decoy receptor for RANKL that blocks osteoclast formation by inhibiting RANKL binding to RANK helping to maintain balanced bone remodelling (407). Imbalances in any of these three molecules could affect normal bone remodelling leading to the pattern of simultaneous bone loss and gain observed in PsA, thus we decided to examine some known SNPs in RANK, RANKL and OPG to determine if an association existed with PsA in a founder population.

This study was approved by the local ethics committee at Memorial University of Newfoundland. All patients were unrelated, and informed consent was obtained from all participants. PsA was diagnosed as an inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of other aetiologies for inflammatory arthritis. The control subjects were ascertained from our founder population, and were all unrelated to each other and our patient group. DNA Samples were genotyped for three *OPG* SNPs (rs2073618, rs2073617,

rs3102735), two *RANKL* SNPs (rs922996, rs12721445), and one *RANK* SNP (rs1805034), by time-of-flight mass spectrometry using the Sequenom platform. All *OPG* and *RANKL* SNPs have previously reported associations with arthritic or bone-loss conditions, while the *RANK* SNP is the only identified coding SNP in that gene that results in an amino acid change present at a high heterozygosity level. All primers were designed using Sequenom SpectroDESIGNER software, scanned using a mass spectrometry workstation (Bruker), and analyzed using the Sequenom SpectroTYPER-RT software. Statistical analysis of all *OPG*, *RANK*, and *RANKL* variants was performed using chi-square tests.

Of the six SNPs examined, none were observed to have significant differences in minor allele frequencies between our patient and control populations (rs2073618 48.8% vs. 50.2%; rs2073617 50.0% vs. 45.5%; rs3102735 14.3% vs. 14.4%; rs1805034 48.0% vs. 51.9%; rs922996 50.0% vs. 45.1%), while rs12721445 was found to be completely non-polymorphic in our founder population (Table 5-8), and no differences were observed when analyzed by early-onset patients, gender, or type of arthritis (all *p* values > 0.05). All genotypes satisfied the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

An association between PsA and known SNPs of the genes *RANK*, *RANKL* and *OPG* was not observed in our founder population, suggesting that variants in these genes are not involved in the pathogenesis of PsA. The possibility does remain that an association exists for novel SNPs in these genes which may affect transcription levels or cause other functional changes, or that variants in genes for other molecules which play a role in osteoclast maturation or bone resorption/formation may play a role. Furthermore, we also acknowledge that because of our sample size we are unlikely to detect small differences in allele frequencies.

Table-5-8: Association of selected SNPs in the OPG, RANK, and RANKL genes in PsA.

	Genotype	# of PsA patients	# of Controls with each
		with each genotype	genotype
OPG	CC	67/252 (23.8%)	54/238 (22.7%)
rs2073618	GC	124/252 (49.2%)	129/238 (54.2%)
	GG	61/252 (24.2%)	55/238 (23.1%)
Allele Freq (G)		48.8%	50.2%
OPG	TT	61/252 (24.2%)	67/236 (28.4%)
rs2073617	CT	130/252 (51.6%)	123/236 (52.1%)
	CC	61/252 (24.2%)	46/236 (19.5%)
Allele Freq (C)		50.0%	45.5%
OPG	TT	195/259 (75.3%)	172/236 (72.9%)
rs3102735	CT	54/259 (20.8%)	60/236 (25.4%)
	CC	10/259 (3.9%)	4/236 (1.7%)
Allele Freq (C)		14.3%	14.4%
RANK	TT	76/259 (29.3%)	50/235 (21.3%)
rs1805034	CT	117/259 (45.2%)	126/235 (53.6%)
	CC	66/259 (25.5%)	59/235 (25.1%)
Allele Freq (C)		48.0%	51.9%
RANKL	CC	61/256 (23.8%)	76/235 (32.3%)
rs922996	TC	134/256 (52.4%)	106/235 (45.1%)
	TT	61/256 (23.8%)	53/235 (22.6%)
Allele Freq (T)		50.0%	45.1%
RANKL	TT	252/252 (100%)	236/236 (100%)
rs12721445			

6

Epistasis: a novel algorithm detects gene-gene interaction in psoriatic arthritis.

Mohammed Uddin¹, Christopher Butt¹, Tina Yu², Todd Wareham², Takeo Yoshikawa³, Walter P. Maksymowych⁴, Proton Rahman¹

¹Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University. ²Department of Computer Science, Memorial University ³Laboratory for Molecular Psychiatry, RIKEN (Institute of Physical and Chemical Research) Brain Science Institute, Saitama, Japan. ⁴University of Alberta, Edmonton

Introduction

The genetic contribution to complex disease is thought to be the result of multiple variants of several genes across multiple pathways, each with low penetrance (408). The predisposition imparted by individual gene variants may act independently or interact with other genes to result in an additive effect or a synergistic co-effect. As well, disease susceptibility and severity can vary across populations of differing ethnic backgrounds. This variance is likely due to the result of a shared genetic background within ethnic groups, or due to the interaction of specific gene variants with local environmental factors.

The advent of the International HapMap project (409) has enabled researchers to take advantage of knowledge of linkage disequilibrium (LD) present in the genome to elucidate the relationship between SNPs and their nearest neighbours, as well as the frequency of the these variants across several populations. The hoped-for end result is a small set of variants (tagSNPs) that capture most variation in the genome.

The data obtained from the HapMap has enabled several significant findings, from fine mapping small regions implicated in disease (221,410,411) to larger genome wide scans (239,242,412). Despite the prevailing wisdom that complex disease is the result of interplay of multiple variants, the majority of these studies do not examine potential epistatic interactions between the genotyped markers. Conventional haplotyping may not pick up associations of markers separated by great distances and thus not affected by LD on the same chromosome. Further, as multiple genes from different chromosomes interacting

to form a biological effect are the norm rather than the exception (i.e., cytokines and cytokine receptors, blood coagulation cascade) foregoing this type of intraand intergenic marker analysis may result the underestimation of the contribution of combined gene variants to disease phenotype.

In recent years, much effort has been put into genome-wide association studies (GWAS). Frequently, such studies fail to detect associations of relevant biological pathways to disease phenotypes. One of the reasons for such failures is the use of single-locus association analyses that ignore or down-play the effects of multi-gene interactions (413). Most proposed methods and analyses for capturing epistatic effects are limited to small numbers of genes (414). One of the most prominent and commonly used methods is non-parametric multifactorial dimensionality reduction (MDR), which is a constructive induction algorithm (415). This algorithm uses 90% of the data as training data and the remaining 10% is for validation. In simulation on 10 SNPs, the MDR approach detected gene-gene interactions in the presence of 5% genotyping error and 5% missing data (416). Unfortunately, the MDR approach is limited to very small numbers of SNPs, i.e., less than 50 and is not scalable to large datasets (417,418).

Another proposed method employs multi-locus tests which use a 1 degree of freedom (1-d.f) model of interaction (419). This method has been tested successfully in simulation on 12 SNPs for two genes relative to a very small sample size and on a real dataset consisting of 6 SNPs for N-acetyltransferase 2 (*NAT 2*) relative to a moderately large case-control colorectal adenoma cohort (420). However, this method only detects interactions between two loci and does not handle missing data. The most comprehensive method to date was proposed by Zhang et al. (421) in which they introduced a Bayesian epistasis association mapping (BEAM) model that computes the posterior probability of a disease associated marker set using Monte Carlo Markov chains. The method was successfully tested on an age-related macular degeneration genome-wide casecontrol data set genotyped for 96 cases and 50 controls. This method computes interactions based on six statistical models and handles interactions of up to six genes. However, it is not clear if larger groups of interactions or missing data can accommodated in this method. Common problems of existing methods are the inability to detect interactions among multiple loci, poor scalability to even moderate size datasets, and poor handling of missing data (which is very common in real datasets). The need for novel methods that solve all of these problems has been recently acknowledged as of being of great importance (422).

In order to analyze interactions such as these, we have made use of a novel algorithm developed by Mohammed Uddin (423) to examine multi-marker epistasis in PsA. The details of the algorithm and results of algorithm validation experiments are included in Appendix 1.

Methods

Data

The PsA cohort was taken from the Newfoundland population. Markers for analysis were chosen as SNPs from genes which we had previously reported significant associations (221,371,424,425), with additional inclusion criteria being that the markers were bi-allelic and were hypothesized as being involved in three primary events in PsA – namely, cytokine-driven inflammation (*II-23R*; GeneID 149233, Chromosome 1p31.3; *TNF-a*; GeneID 7124, Chromosome 6p21.3), T-cell activation (*PTPN22*; GeneID 26191, Chromosome 1p13.1), and angiogenesis (*PPAR-y*; GeneID 5468, Chromosome 3p25).

This study was approved by the ethics committee of Memorial University of Newfoundland. Informed consent was obtained from all patients, and participation was on a purely voluntary basis. All PsA probands were Caucasians from the Newfoundland population, and were diagnosed by a rheumatologist. PsA was diagnosed as inflammatory arthritis in patients with psoriasis, in the absence of any other aetiology for inflammatory arthritis. Information was collected systematically and included age at onset of psoriasis, PsA and disease pattern. The ethnically matched, healthy control subjects were also obtained from the Newfoundland population, and were unrelated to the cases. There were a total of 240 PsA patients and 129 control subjects. The PsA case-control haplotypes includes 0.33% and 0.20% missing data, respectively

Genotyping Methods

Whole blood samples were obtained from PsA probands and control subjects. DNA was extracted using the Promega Wizard Genomic DNA purification kit. The detection of SNPs was performed by the analysis of primer

181

extension products generated from previously amplified genomic DNA using a Sequenom chip-based MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry platform (310).

Results

The results of the analysis with our Competitive Co-Evolutionary Algorithm are displayed in Figure 6-1. After 10000 permutations, 40 SNP interactions displayed significance with $p < 1.0 \times 10^{-4}$. Of these, 22 were composed exclusively of SNPs from II-23R. The highest haplotype risk ratios were observed in an AC epistatic genotype of PPAR-y rs1801282 and IL-23R rs6660226 (HRR 2.92, 95% CI 2.04 - 4.18). The next highest HRR was observed in an AAC 'haplotype' which contained PPAR-y rs1801282 and IL-23R rs6660226 and an additional II-23R SNP of rs1857292 (HRR 2.89, 95% CI 2.02 - 4.14). PPAR-y rs1801282 was observed in 18 epistatic genotypes – 6 of these included IL-23R rs6660226, while the remaining 12 included II-23R rs11209081 (all but 1 of these 12 also included II-23R rs1857292). The PTPN22 SNP rs2476601 was only observed in three epistatic genotypes, all of which also contained PPAR-y rs1801282 and *IL-23R* rs6660226. Of the 5 *TNF-a* SNPs included in this data set, only one (rs1800630, also referred to as TNF- α -863) was ever observed, appearing in a single CGAA epistatic genotype consisting of $TNF-\alpha$ rs1800630, PPAR-y rs1801282, IL-23R rs6660226, II-23R rs1857292 which provided the lowest observed HRR of 2.37. It remains possible that different interactions or

182



Figure 6-1: Results of the Competitive Co-Evolutionary algorithm in PsA.

different HRR may have been observed had our PsA patients been stratified according to the 5 different clinical subtypes (145).

Discussion

The results obtained here show the presence of only *IL-23R* SNPs in 22 of the 40 observed PsA epistatic genotypes and the involvement of at least one *IL-23R* SNP in all of the 40 PsA epistatic genotypes adds further evidence to the recently observed association of this gene with PsA (221,241). Functionally, IL-23R has a plausible biological role in PsA, as IL-23 is a proinflammatory cytokine and may account for pathologic T cell responses. IL-23 is also expressed on the surface of both macrophages and dendritic cells and thus may have a roll in controlling barrier function and immune response (426) IL-23 can directly induce the production of IL-22 from both murine and human naive T cells. These results suggest that Th17 cells, through the production of both IL-22 and IL-17, might have essential functions in host defence and in the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases such as psoriasis (427).

The observation of *PPAR-* γ appearing in nearly 50% of observed significant epistatic genotypes (and always in conjunction with at least one *II-23R* SNP) is interesting as it speaks directly to the multiple pathogenic processes (both inflammation and angiogenesis, as well as others) which must occur simultaneously in the development of PsA. *TNF-* α has been repeatedly

associated with PsA, and a recent meta-analysis of 8 populations recently showed that the -238 allele is significantly associated with PsA (424). The fact that this allele does not appear in any of our 'haplotypes' coupled with its central role in driving many inflammation processes argues that it may be an independent risk factor for PsA.

While *PTPN22* has been repeatedly associated with several immunologically mediated diseases (227) the evidence for its association with PsA has been mixed (229,425). As the gene functions in the inhibition of T cell activation, it does suggest a plausible biologic mechanism for the epistatic interactions observed here. Increased levels of the IL-23 cytokine brought about due to variation in the receptor (encoded by the *IL-23R* gene) can lead to differentiation of type 17 and type 1 helper T cells (Th17 and Th1). These activated T cells will then secrete further inflammatory cytokines which feedback into the inflammatory cycle (428). The specific *PTPN22* SNP examined here (rs2476601) introduces an Arg \rightarrow Trp substitution, which disrupts a binding site for a negative regulatory kinase in T cells. Thus, a normal suppression mechanism for T cell activation is abrogated, which could further perpetuate the cycle of T-cell over-activation in psoriatic skin and joints.

It must be noted that there are some significant issues that the current iteration of our algorithm design did not consider. One such issue was the population stratification bias. Our proposed CCA algorithm is designed to detect SNPs and the underlying haplotypes from a case-control cohort that is ethnically matched. A cohort with mixed ethnicity will disrupt the accuracy of the algorithm as mixed ethnicity will introduce a stratification bias which this algorithm does not consider while computing haplotype frequencies. Hence, using a mixed population in a cohort might produce false positive results.

Our results show the power of detecting interactions which are not restricted to a fixed number of loci, hence demonstrating the advantages of our CCA-based method over other proposed methods that use models to detect interactions from a limited number of loci. For example, while the BEAM algorithm is computationally sound, it is likely that more than 6 distinct loci can interact in complex diseases. Moreover, our CCA proposes a novel algorithm that can quickly and reliably estimate the likelihood of haplotype frequencies in the presence of up 15% missing data. This suggests that our CCA should scale well for larger datasets. There is no proposed multiple correction test that can be applied to the large number of tests we are performing in our CCA. Multiple correction tests for single locus association commonly use Bonferroni tests when all tests are considered independent. To identify gene-gene interaction from multiple loci, the LD structure can introduce dependency. Hence, the permutation test (which is applied in our CCA) is more appropriate (429). The significance level of the test was considered based on the number of permutation-iterations. As the permutation test is computationally expensive, we only apply it on haplotypes whose significance is greater than a given threshold. Further, we acknowledge that the small sample size used in each of our disease cohorts may contribute to a false-positive result. Methods of power calculation for multiple gene-gene interactions from different chromosomes are yet to be identified.

Commonly used methods (i.e. Quanto) for power computation are limited to compute for pair of genes (430). The power computation for detecting interactions from multiple genes located in different chromosome needs more research to suffice the growing need for gene-gene interactions. Finally, it is a drawback that the current iteration of the algorithm can only accommodate biallelic SNPs. To fully account for variation that may contribute to disease, it will be necessary to include multi-allelic SNPs, and Copy Number Variants (CNVs), such insertion/deletion or repeat polymorphisms in an analysis.

This report is meant to be a pilot study to gauge the applicability of the algorithm to single-gene and multi-gene/multi-chromosomal complex disease. As we have now shown that the model has been validated, we will soon begin to apply our software to larger datasets, and attempt to include methods for dealing more fully with other types of human genetic variation.

7

Summary, Critique, and Future Directions

7.1 - Study Design

PsA is clearly a disease with a significant genetic component. Heritability within family units is quite high, as the recurrence risk ratio for first degree relatives of a PsA patient (λ_1) is 30.4 and for siblings (λ_s) is 30.8 (150). While it is likely a disease that involves the interaction of multiple environmental and genetic factors, identifying the genetic basis of the disease will contribute to understanding the many pathways involved in this complex disease, and help to determine an individual's susceptibility risk, or the severity of disease they are likely to experience. Establishing this would allow for earlier and more specifically targeted intervention to mitigate the effects of the disease.

Genetic studies which are designed to identify genes or polymorphisms involved with disease, or to identify genes at least in LD with a causative allele are typically carried out as either linkage studies or association studies. Linkage studies are employed when large families with multiple generations are available for analysis (431-433). Linkage analysis works well for Mendelian diseases; however, it is not as successful when used to examine complex diseases which display incomplete penetrance, genetic heterogeneity, or have multiple causative loci or an environmental trigger. In order to properly undertake linkage analysis assumptions must be made regarding such things as the mode of inheritance, disease penetrance, and candidate gene frequency. These assumptions can lead to error in the analysis if they are incorrect (144). As PsA is a complex disease, and we are have unrelated case subjects with little available family history, linkage would be an ineffective manner in which to investigate the genetics of PsA in our patient cohort.

When large families are not available, association studies are frequently employed to evaluate genetic risk factors. Association studies are typically executed as either transmission disequilibrium tests (TDT), family based association tests (FBAT) or case-control studies. The TDT is an application of the McNamara's test statistic which measures the over-transmission of an allele from heterozygous parents to affected offspring. It requires trios consisting of parents and an affected offspring, but can also be used if there is more than one affected offspring (434). Variations have been devised which require the genotyping of only one parent (435). Compared with conventional tests for linkage, the TDT has the advantage that it does not require data either on multiple affected family members or on unaffected sibs.

The FBAT allows analysis of possibly incomplete nuclear families. (435) This test conceptualises TDT tests as a two stage procedure. In the first stage, a statistic to test for association between the trait locus and the marker locus is specified. In the second stage, the distribution of the genotyped marker data is computed by treating the offspring genotype data as random. The first stage allows flexibility in modeling while the second stage ensures correct false positive rates regardless of population admixture, genetic model misspecification or the ascertainment strategy (435). Our PsA patient cohorts consist of unrelated individual probands with no additional family members. Thus, as with traditional linkage, the TDT and FBAT would be inappropriate to analyse our subjects.

Genetic case-control association studies use subjects who already have a disease or trait to determine if the frequency of alleles or genotypes of these patients differ from controls who do not have the disease or trait. The case subjects are patients who have been definitively diagnosed with the disease being investigated; the controls are known to be unaffected. If a difference in the frequency of an allele or genotype of the polymorphism being tested between the two groups is observed, it indicates that the genetic marker may increase or decrease risk of the disease or likelihood of the trait, or be in linkage disequilibrium with a genetic variant which does. Likewise, the analysis of a casecontrol association study makes use of a simple approximation in the odds ratio. However, while case-control association studies are relatively easy to design and implement, they are prone to bias and confounding. In order to minimise bias, care must be taken in the selection of both cases and controls, in establishing definitions of disease, risk factors and in ensuring there are no confounding associations between detection of disease and risk factor exposure. Confounding factors must be identified prior to the start of the study. Individual cases can be matched to controls where is it thought that other factors, aside from the genotype of interest, might contribute to the development of disease and confound the causal association under investigation (436). Cases and controls are commonly matched by age and sex, and care must be taken to avoid population stratification unduly influencing the result of the analysis (population stratification will be discussed in more detail in section 7.2). The single largest drawback to a case-control association study is that the results, by definition, only

191

reveal an association of the variable being investigated with the disease. If a genetic association is noted with a disease, it does not provide evidence of causation between the disease and the genetic variant (437).

If the limitations inherent to case-control study design are adequately addressed, then association studies are very useful when searching for genes which confer a relative risk of between 1.5 and 4.0. The sample size required in order to detect an effect of that magnitude is much smaller than would be required through linkage (438). As illustrated in Figure 7-1, assuming an allele frequency of 0.2 in the population being tested, you would require approximately 500 samples in order to detect an allele with a genotype relative risk of 2.0. Approximately 3500 would be required in order to capture an allele of the same frequency with a genotype relative risk of 2.0 via linkage. Thus, based on the composition and size of the patient cohort available, a case-control association study is clearly the optimal study design for experiments conducted in this thesis.

7.2 – Cohort Selection and Utilization

Throughout the experimental work presented in this thesis, there has been repeated use of a PsA cohort from Newfoundland, and a second PsA cohort from


Figure 7-1:Comparison of sample sizes required to detect a genetic effect via linkage (dashed lines) and association (solid lines). Adapted from Risch, 2000

Toronto. While combining both patient cohorts into one group for genotyping would have provided the studies presented here with a larger sample size and thus increased the statistical power of the findings, it was decided to analyze them separately in order to control for the possibility of population stratification.

Population stratification refers to differences in allele frequencies between cases and controls due to differences in ancestry rather than association of genes with disease. Stratification can be a problem for association studies, as an observed association could be due to the underlying structure of the population rather than a genuine disease associated locus. Conversely, a true association might not be found if the locus is less prevalent in the population where the case subjects are chosen. While it has been shown that the Newfoundland population does not represent a true population isolate or founder population, with levels of linkage disequilibrium comparable to that of an outbred European derived sample and the Afrikaner population of South Africa (304), the fact remains that Newfoundland was founded by a limited number of settlers and the population grew largely through internal expansion rather than in-migration (305). This combined with religion-influenced mating segregation in early Newfoundland history, and geographical isolation of communities could potentially lead to population stratification.

One proposed method of controlling for population stratification has been to genotype unlinked markers. When this method was tested on 44 unlinked markers in four case-control studies, stratification was detected in only one study, although the signal was no longer apparent after more stringent matching of

194

cases and controls based on the birthplaces of the individuals' grandparents. This has been interpreted as evidence that stratification may be less of a concern than originally anticipated (439). A larger study by Freedman *et al*, in Nature Genetics in 2004 analyzed unlinked SNPs in 11 different studies (440). None of the 11 studies showed statistically significant evidence of stratification after correcting for multiple hypotheses testing, however the authors did state that assessments based on a few dozen markers lack power to rule out moderate levels of stratification that could cause false positive associations. Other evidence, however, has shown that the effects of stratification can be largely overcome by carefully matching cases and controls according to self-reported ancestry and geographical origin (441). Therefore, based upon the cumulative evidence of these studies regarding the nature and likelihood of population stratification, and despite the potential loss of statistical power, the experiments detailed here were performed by using both PsA cohorts separately – the Newfoundland cohort was used for initial investigation, and the Toronto PsA cohort was used for replication.

7.3 - Marker Selection

At the time the experiments detailed in this thesis began in 2004, casecontrol association studies were usually carried out as hypothesis-testing research. Variants in a single gene or small number of genes with a known or putative role in a disease process were genotyped in patients and control subjects usually from within one centre. As the sample sizes in these studies were typically small, the need for statistical correction was minimal. Results often overestimated the true genetic effect size as a consequence of the "winner's curse" phenomenon. Simply put, the genetic effect in an association study is biased upward, conditional on that study being the first to reach statistical significance and be published (442).

The first genome-wide association study (GWAS) was published in 2002, and used 65,761 SNPs in 94 cases (443). GWAS were thought to be especially useful in the study of complex disease, as it changed the focus from hypothesisdriven research to hypothesis-generating research. As the pathogenesis of many common diseases was not fully elucidated, it was hoped that finding genetic associations would yield clues towards disease process and progression. 2005 marked the first year that multiple GWAS were published (444,445), and with the introduction of large, highly accurate (0%-2% missing data; <0.5% errors) 1 million marker ``SNP chips`` from Affymetrix and Illumina in 2007-2008, the cost of performing a GWAS has dropped immensely (approximately \$500 [U.S.] per subject; an approximate 2,000-fold reduction of cost per genotype in just under 10 years), (446) making them much more feasible. While performing a GWAS has become more feasible, the number of SNPs now being tested means that after corrections for multiple testing even GWAS using 2000-5000 samples are, in fact, underpowered to detect genetic effects of even modest sizes (447). Were the studies described in this thesis initiated today, they would undoubtedly contain a greater SNP density due to the lower cost of genotyping, and efforts

would be made to collaborate with other groups in order to initiate well powered GWAS of PsA. The studies presented here have attempted to fully utilize the technology available to us at the time they were conducted by performing association studies in accordance with the literature standards of the time, and by later using large numbers of SNPs to fine-map and haplotype regions associated with PsA (See chapters 4.2 and 6).

7.4 - Patient History, Lifestyle and Environmental Factors

A potentially large source of confounding error in the studies presented in this thesis is the lack individual patient medical histories, and their environmental exposures. There is considerable evidence that infection may play a role in the development of PsA. Acute episodes of guttate psoriasis have been associated with streptococcal infection (448), and one study indicated that the prevalence of positive streptococcal throat swabs in *HLA-Cw*0602* positive patients was twice the prevalence among *HLA-Cw*0602* negative patients, while no difference was observed among *HLA-Cw*0602* positive versus negative controls. In sub-Saharan Africa PsA is almost universally associated with HIV infection, even though prior to the HIV epidemic, seronegative spondyloarthropathies were considered uncommon in Africans (449,450). Genetic factors responsible for the immune response to infection, or the nature of the infectious agent may play a role in the development of PsA.

Trauma has long been associated with psoriasis (the "Koebner phenomenon" (107)), and several articles have reported on the triggering role of trauma in inducing arthritis in patients with psoriatic disease (451-453). As reviewed in McGonagle et al, 2009 (106) the recent recognition of a synovioentheseal complex (SEC) may help resolve the relationship between synovitis and enthesitis in PsA, while also advocating a role for a localized Koebner phenomenon. The SEC model shows how enthesis fibrocartilage could derive lubrication and nourishment from adjacent synovium in a manner identical to the long appreciated interaction between articular cartilage and synovium. Hence, all sites of disease in PsA could potentially be linked to the common denominator of enthesitis. Several micro-anatomical studies have shown that there appears to be an 'enthesis organ' which is prone to microdamage at insertion sites and adjacent tissues, microscopic inflammatory and vascular changes both at and near the insertion itself and the immediately adjacent synovium. Given the known link with skin psoriasis and trauma, these findings of clinically unrecognized trauma at insertions sites are especially noteworthy. It is a distinct possibility that genes involved with the structure of tendon and ligament insertion points, or which control the marrow fluid that occupies the spaces between the bone and insertion points, or genes responsible for the response to such microtrauma may be quite important in the pathogenesis of PsA.

Smoking has also been linked to a large number of immunologically mediated diseases. In the western world, smoking is the most well established environmental risk factor for IBD, increasing the risk by approximately two-fold

198

(454), and at least one study has shown that the expression of certain genes is upregulated in the descending colon mucosa in smoking Crohn patients versus patients who have never smoked (455). Tobacco use has also been shown to be associated with the risk of development of psoriasis (456) and with poor long term outcome in AS patients (457,458). Direct gene-environment interactions have also been observed with respect to smoking and rheumatic disease: one study has reported a significant multiplicative interaction between the 1858 C>T SNP of the *PTPN22* gene and smoking for more than 10 pack-years (459), and a history of smoking has been shown to interact with the presence of *IL-13* polymorphisms to increase the risk of PsA (460).

Clearly, patient history and lifestyle play a role in the development of diseases and may modulate the course of autoimmune disease. Analysis of patient history along with genotypes could provide interesting data with respect to gene-environment interactions.

7.5 – DNA Source May Contribute to Genotype Results

All DNA samples used in the studies presented in this thesis were extracted from white blood cells of venous blood. This method is the most commonly used manner of obtaining DNA from patients who do not require invasive medical interventions. However, a growing body of evidence suggests that DNA obtained from sources other than those primarily involved in disease processes (i.e., in PsA, from the sites of psoriatic skin lesions, or from synovium inflamed joints, or enthesis sites) may not be the most appropriate for analysis for genetic association.

One recent study established that there is tissue-specific splicing of DNA (461). The authors studied the genetic control of both exon-level and wholetranscript level variation in expression in two cell types (white blood cells, and cortical brain tissue from a set of control individuals), combined with parallel genome-wide genotyping of these samples. Using identical genome-wide screens in two primary tissue types allowed them to identify polymorphisms with clear effects on both overall expression and splicing, and to show that these effects are often tissue specific. A total of 23 high confidence associations with total expression and 80 with alternative splicing as reflected by expression levels of specific exons were identified. Fewer than 50% of the implicated SNPs showed effects in both tissue types, reflecting strong evidence for distinct genetic control of splicing and expression in differing tissue types. When the results were compared to reported associations of SNPs in genome wide scans of diseases, the authors noted several overlaps, including an over-representation of autoimmune diseases such as AS, Crohn, RA, and T1D. Most of these connections appeared to relate to alternative splicing as opposed to overall expression changes, suggesting that changes in splicing patterns may be more consequential for disease than those which affect only gene expression. Of specific interest to the work presented in this thesis, splicing effects of a SNP in the PTPN22 gene were observed. The authors postulate that excess of

representation of autoimmune disease in these tissue-specific splicing variants may be due to the growing recognition of the importance of rare genetic variants in common disease (462,463). Specifically, the authors state that: "It is generally assumed that when a common SNP is associated with disease in a genome-wide study, that it, or some other common variant in LD with it, is responsible for the association. It is theoretically possible, however, that many of the associations observed are not due to single common variants, but rather due to a constellation of more rare disease-causing variants that happen to occur, by chance, more frequently along with one of the common alleles at given SNP as opposed to the other. In such a case, the signal of association credited to a common SNP is actually a synthetic association resulting from the contributions of multiple rare SNPs. In such cases a screen for a common SNP associated with an underlying biological effect (such as expression or splicing) is not likely to identify a causal site."

Further to differential control of splicing in various tissue types, another study has shown that there are significant differences in the SNPs observed in DNA from diseased tissue versus non-diseased tissue and blood (464). While this study was examining the genetic contribution to abdominal aortic aneurysm (a multifactorial, although non-autoimmune disease), the results are interesting and relevant to the critique of this thesis. The authors observed specific *BAK1* SNP alleles in both aneurysmic (31 cases) and healthy aortic tissue (5 cases) without seeing them in the matching blood samples. These same *BAK1* SNPs have been reported, although rarely (average frequency < 0.06%), in reference

BAK1 DNA sequences. The potential that rare variants from reference sequences could be more frequent in diseased tissue presents an interesting challenge to the current methods of performing association studies or fine mapping of regions. At the current time, common variants (typically with a minor allele frequency greater than 5%) are chosen from the HapMap data for genotyping in order to capture other variants through LD, while rarer variants are typically not used. The authors of this study hypothesize that multiple variants of genes may pre-exist in "minority" forms within specific tissue in the non-diseased state, and may be selected for when intra- and/or extracellular conditions change, leading the tissues to be predisposed to an increased genetic susceptibility to disease. This tissue specific increased predisposition would not be identified in a routine genetic analysis of DNA from blood, and thus could easily lead to false-negative results for genes with plausible biological mechanisms in disease pathogenesis.

7.6 - Results Summary

This thesis has attempted to take a comprehensive genetic approach towards the study of PsA and have examined polymorphisms in genes involved in the several different pathogenic aspects of the disease. The research presented here has identified significant associations with pro-inflammatory genes in the MHC region (*TNF-a*, *MICA*) and established them as genuine associations via meta-analysis of previously published works. The work presented here is among the first to examine genes involved in angiogenesis, observing associations with both *PPAR-y* and *VEGF*. The association with *VEGF* is particularly noteworthy, as this gene also plays a role in inflammation. The results regarding T-cell activating *PTPN22* gene have proven controversial with respect to PsA; however, we have observed an association which has been replicated (228-230), adding to the evidence that this gene may play a role in several immunologically mediated diseases.

While not as exciting as positive associations, negative associations are important results as they exclude targets. This research is also among the first to examine genes involved in bone morphogenesis, observing no association between the OPG, RANK, and RANKL genes. We have also been able to narrow the possible factors for the overlap between PsA and conditions such as RA and Crohn disease by eliminating NFKB1, NFKBIA, RELA, SLC22A4, SLC22A5, SLC9A3R1 and RUNX1 as candidate genes for PsA. Likewise, the failure to replicate SNPs in the IL-1 gene cluster - while confounding results observed in the Newfoundland cohort - serve to add to the information scope of the impact of high-priority candidate genes, and remind us that all results from a small, relatively homogenous population must be interpreted with caution due to the possibilities of population stratification and founder effects. Finally, we are the first research team to analyze epistatic interactions in PsA, finding an association between variants of II23-R, PTPN22, and PPARy, and the first to propose an algorithm capable of examining more than 6 epistatic interactions (421). The results obtained from the epistasis analysis are particularly interesting as they

illustrate once again that a complex disease is likely due to the interplay of several polymorphisms in different genes, each individually carrying only a small risk.

To summarize, the proper design and execution of association study has been demonstrated here, by the use of several study motifs: univariate and multivariate analysis, meta-analysis, small and large-scale haplotyping, and the use of computational power to address epistatic interactions. Through careful design and analysis, the data collected here represent a large contribution to the body of knowledge regarding the genetics of PsA.

7.7 Context of Results

A model has been proposed which ties together genetic and immunologic elements for the development of psoriasis and PsA (465). While the precise role of *HLA-Cw6* in psoriasis remains unknown, it has been postulated that it may be involved in antigen presentation to CD8+ T cells, whose migration into the epidermis appears to be required for the development of psoriatic lesions (466). During a flare of streptococcal infection, CD8+ T cells encounter strep antigens presented via HLA-Cw6 in the tonsils, where they proliferate and then migrate into epidermal tissue. This migration causes activation of macrophages and dendritic cells, which release TNF- α , which further facilitates the entry into epidermis, and thus begins activation of several TNF- α receptor mediated

pathways (via macrophages) which then signal to NF-κB in the nucleus. Genetic alterations in the tumour necrosis factor α interacting protein 3 (*TNFAIP3*) and TNFAIP3-interacting protein 1 (*TNIP1*) genes may play very important roles in antigen presenting cells and macrophages because of the central role of these genes in regulating NF-kB signalling (note that *TNFAIP3* and *TNIP1* have been noted to be associated with psoriasis via GWAS (241)). A subset of these CD8+ T cells will express II-17 (known as Th-17 cells). As production of II-17 is partially stimulated by II-23 and II-1, variations in the *II-12B*, *II23A*, *II-23R* and/or *II-1* gene cluster and associated subunits and receptors, genetic alterations in any of these cytokines stimulate keratinocyte proliferation and up regulate keratinocyte innate immune defence mechanisms, including defensin, psoriasin, and other proteins that are highly expressed in psoriasis lesions, provoking epidermal hyperplasia.

While this does explain some of the genetic involvement in the immunology of psoriasis, clearly something more must occur in order for uncomplicated psoriasis to proceed into PsA. As virtually all of the cytokines described in the preceding paragraph also play a role in synovial inflammation, bone remodelling, enthesitis, and the initiation of angiogenesis (as described in section 1.6), further genetic variation in any of the described genes in these pathways could lead to the development of arthritis accompanying psoriasis. The fact that PsA typically develops 7-10 years after the onset of psoriasis gives adequate time following a triggering event for the dysregulation of skin histopathology to migrate further into bone and joint areas to cause PsA if

predisposing genetic variation is present. The results of our epistasis algorithm, showing the interaction of variants in *II23-R*, *PTPN22*, and *PPARy* serve to reinforce this hypothesis.

7.8 – Possible Future Directions

Despite the successes, it is important to keep these results in context as there are criticisms which can be fairly attributed to these studies. PsA is a heterogeneous disease with several endophenotypes. Stratifying arthritic disease according to endophenotype has previously been shown to be a successful method in order to identify genetic association when none was evident prior to stratifying patient groups (467). The problem with this is that in performing such stratification, we reduce sample size and therefore power to detect an association. Given that PsA has a population prevalence of 0.25%, and that the population of Newfoundland and Labrador is approximately 507 900, there is approximately a maximum of 1270 PsA patients in Newfoundland and Labrador. Given the extreme population spread on the island of Newfoundland, and the division of health care services into regional health boards, we are likely now approaching the maximum number of PsA patients available. Further reducing the sample size by stratifying patients would likely jeopardize the opportunity to observe a gene effect if one is present. Also, population stratification in the structure of the Newfoundland population is an important characteristic to consider. As most residents of Newfoundland are largely descended from

immigrants from small areas of southwest England and southeast Ireland, there are likely to be founder effects in the genetic structure of the population. This is quite evident as there is an over representation of monogenic diseases in our population – approximately 10 fold higher than the other Atlantic Provinces (305). This evident founder effect could also serve to bias our results in both positive and negative fashions: it is possible for instance that our observed positive associations could be the result of a gene variant that is simply present in our population at a higher frequency than other admixed Caucasian populations due to the founder effect. Likewise, it is possible that our inability to replicate candidate gene variants observed in other populations could be due to an under representation of that variant in the founding population.

PsA does present unique challenges in the study of complex disease when compared to others, as it represents a "disease-within-a-disease". As described previously in approximately 70% of PsA cases psoriasis precedes the onset of arthritis by between 7 – 10 years (25), and only about 30% of patients with psoriasis develop PsA (8). Distinguishing between genetic variants responsible for PsA and those responsible for uncomplicated psoriasis is a large challenge for well designed studies of PsA; however the time of onset of PsA from psoriasis does provide investigators with a potential mechanism to investigate genetic differences between the two. By performing a case control study using psoriasis patients who have had established disease for longer than 10 years as a control group, an investigator will have ensured that the control group is unlikely to develop PsA, as they have surpassed the typical time frame for development of PsA. Thus, any differences in allele frequencies between the PsA cohort and psoriasis control cohort may represent genuine PsA markers. For those markers which appear to be associated with both conditions, a comparison of the relative risk for each group could potentially reveal a real PsA association: as PsA represents a "disease-within-a-disease", an associated marker has the potential to appear in both PsA and psoriasis groups. If the calculated relative risk is higher for the PsA cohort as opposed to the psoriasis cohort, then that marker is likely to represent a PsA risk allele. The stratification of PsA patients by endophenotype can serve to further strengthen this finding by examining the marker in an AS cohort as well. If the marker is found to be associated with AS, then it is more likely to be involved with arthritic disease as opposed to psoriatic skin disease.

A further manner in which to identify true PsA genes is through the use of expression studies. There are medications which can have different effects on psoriasis and PsA. The drug efalizumab (also known as Raptiva, which has recently been removed from the market) effectively treats psoriasis patients and the psoriasis of PsA patients; however it does not affect the arthritis portion of the disease, and may in fact worsen the course of arthritis (468,469). Examining the gene expression levels of PsA patients before and after treatment with efalizumab would likely provide more evidence regarding genes involved in PsA rather than uncomplicated psoriasis, as you would expect the expression levels of psoriasis-related genes to drop following treatment. Genes that still remained

over or under expressed after treatment when compared to healthy controls would likely be involved in the arthritis portion of PsA.

More recent work has identified another source of genetic influence on psoriasis, as micro RNAs (miRNAs) have been implicated in the pathogenesis of psoriasis (470). MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are an abundant class of short (~22 nucleotides), non-protein-coding RNAs that regulate the expression of proteincoding genes at the posttranscriptional level. Specifically, the authors of this study identified the first miRNA that is entirely restricted to skin epithelium and showed that it is over expressed in psoriasis. One of the targets of this miRNA for post-transcriptional suppression is a negative regulator of the STAT3 pathway, which is activated by inflammatory cytokines (e.g. Interleukin-6, interferon-y) and functions in the regulation of both innate and adaptive immunity. Constitutive activation of this pathway has been reported to lead to a psoriasis-like phenotype in transgenic mice, stressing its relevance in psoriasis (471). Their results suggest that the increased expression of this miRNA leads sustained activation of the STAT3 signalling pathway, and thus may contribute to increased or prolonged skin inflammation in response to T cell-derived cytokines, due to a seemingly aberrant negative feedback in cytokine signalling in keratinocytes. Interestingly for the pathogenesis of both psoriasis and PsA, two other miRNAs (one which was found to be significantly over-expressed, and one which was significantly under-expressed) were direct mediators of the TNF- α pathway. Clearly, future genetic studies of PsA should examine these emerging genetic regulators.

Copy-number variation (CNV) is also another emerging area of genetic study that is worthy of consideration in the investigation of PsA, as data has already established that a deletion comprising the genes *LCE3B* and *LCE3C* is significantly associated with risk of psoriasis (472). Likewise, a higher copy number of the β -defensin gene cluster found on chromosome 8 has been demonstrated to be a susceptibility factor for psoriasis (473). While no specific CNVs have been found for PsA, others have been found to be associated with susceptibility to autoimmune and inflammatory disorders (474). As the extent of CNVs in the human genome has only recently begun to be fully appreciated (475,476), investigating this form of genetic variation could lead to new insights regarding the genetic contribution to PsA.

Regardless of the method used to investigate the genetics of PsA, the difficulties in study design and analysis can be overcome. As described previously, the choice of adequate control groups is crucial. The ideal genetic study of PsA (whether through SNPs, CNVs, miRNAs, or direct sequencing) would consist of large (the ideal sample size being over 1000), well characterized and stratified PsA patient groups (according to pattern of arthritis, and also according to whether the cases were sporadic or had a family history), but would also contain multiple control groups. In addition to normal, healthy controls, control groups should consist of uncomplicated psoriasis patients, AS patients, and in addition to this every effort should be made by researchers to collect and characterized as many PsA patients as possible who develop arthritis prior to psoriasis - what is known as "psoriatic arthritis *sine* psoriasis" (477,478). The

inclusion of sufficient numbers of these proposed control cohorts would allow investigators to definitively distinguish between variations associated specifically with PsA as opposed to psoriasis. Comparison of DNA from disease sites as well as that from white blood cells would also be beneficial. In addition to identifying rare variants involved in common disease, examining tissue from these multiple groups of patients with autoimmune diseases would help to characterize the exact disease processes involved across multiple autoimmune diseases, and further help to elucidate the common shared pathways in these types of diseases (300).

Finally, the possibility also exists that the genetic nature of PsA is more complex than we currently understand and thus, better targets than the ones we have chosen to investigate exist. There has, at the time of this writing, been only a single genome wide association study performed specifically in PsA. As we approach the post-genomic era and more and different markers are available for analysis such as the locations of Copy Number Variants and non-coding RNA silencers, the genetic analysis of complex and uncommon diseases such as PsA will become easier, especially as computational problems towards solving epistatic interactions between all of these variants are overcome, and the networks of interactions of all of these genetic elements are more clearly established.

As a final summary of the work in this thesis, Figure 7-2a describes all candidate genes which to date have been analysed in PsA. Figure 7-2b indicates

211

those which have reported positive associations, and figure 7-2c shows which have been replicated by subsequent reports.



Figure 7-2a: Summary of all candidate genes for PsA assessed in the literature up to September 2009.



Figure 7-2b: Genes in yellow indicate positive reports of association with PsA, current as of September, 2009.



Figure 7-2c: Genes shown here are the only candidate genes with replicated associations with PsA reported in the literature – current as of September 2009.

References

Gladman DD. Natural history of psoriatic arthritis. Baillieres Clin.Rheumatol.
 1994 May;8(2):379-394.

(2) Capon F, Munro M, Barker J, Trembath R. Searching for the major histocompatibility complex psoriasis susceptibility gene. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2002 May;118(5):745-751.

(3) Nickoloff BJ, Nestle FO. Recent insights into the immunopathogenesis of psoriasis provide new therapeutic opportunities. J.Clin.Invest. 2004 Jun;113(12):1664-1675.

(4) Blumberg BS, Bunim JJ, Calkins E, Pirani CL, Zvaifler NJ. Nomenclature and Classification of Arthritis and Rheumatism (Tentative) Accepted by the American Rheumatism Association. Bull.Rheum.Dis. 1964 Mar;14:339-340.

(5) Alibert J. Precis theorique et pratique sur les maladies de la peau. Paris: Calle et Ravier; 1818.

(6) Wright V, Moll JMH. Psoriatic Arthritis. Seronegative Polyarthritis: North Holland Publishing Company; 1976. p. 169-223.

(7) Goodfield M. Skin lesions in psoriasis. Baillieres Clin.Rheumatol. 1994 May;8(2):295-316. (8) Gladman DD, Shuckett R, Russell ML, Thorne JC, Schachter RK. Psoriatic arthritis (PSA)--an analysis of 220 patients. Q.J.Med. 1987 Feb;62(238):127-141.

(9) Gladman DD, Brockbank J. Psoriatic arthritis. Expert Opin.Investig.Drugs 2000 Jul;9(7):1511-1522.

(10) Dougados M,. Psoriatic arthritis: is it for real? Joint, bone, spine : revue du rhumatisme 2007 07;74(4):311-2.

(11) Gladman DD,. Psoriatic Arthritis from Wright's Era Until Today. The Journal of rheumatology.Supplement 2009 08;83:4-8.

(12) Lebwohl M. Psoriasis. Lancet 2003 Apr 5;361(9364):1197-1204.

(13) Shbeeb M, Uramoto KM, Gibson LE, O'Fallon WM, Gabriel SE. The epidemiology of psoriatic arthritis in Olmsted County, Minnesota, USA, 1982-1991. J.Rheumatol. 2000 May;27(5):1247-1250.

(14) Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis. Dermatol. Ther. 2004;17(5):350-363.

(15) Lomholt G. Psoriasis: Prevalence, Spontaneous Course and Genetics. A Census Study on the Prevalence of Skin Diseases on the Faroe Islands. Copenhagen: GEC CAD; 1963.

(16) Hellgren L. Association between rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis in total populations. Acta Rheumatol.Scand. 1969;15(4):316-326.

(17) Lawrence RC, Hochberg MC, Kelsey JL, McDuffie FC, Medsger TA, Jr, Felts WR, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of selected arthritic and musculoskeletal diseases in the United States. J.Rheumatol. 1989 Apr;16(4):427-441.

(18) Gelfand JM, Gladman DD, Mease PJ, Smith N, Margolis DJ, Nijsten T, et al. Epidemiology of psoriatic arthritis in the population of the United States. J.Am.Acad.Dermatol. 2005 Oct;53(4):573.

(19) Ciocon DH, Horn EJ, Kimball AB. Quality of life and treatment satisfaction among patients with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis and patients with psoriasis only : results of the 2005 Spring US National Psoriasis Foundation Survey. Am.J.Clin.Dermatol. 2008;9(2):111-117.

(20) Zachariae H, Zachariae R, Blomqvist K, Davidsson S, Molin L, Mork C, et al.
Quality of life and prevalence of arthritis reported by 5,795 members of the Nordic
Psoriasis Associations. Data from the Nordic Quality of Life Study. Acta
Derm.Venereol. 2002;82(2):108-113.

(21) Harrison BJ, Silman AJ, Barrett EM, Scott DG, Symmons DP. Presence of psoriasis does not influence the presentation or short-term outcome of patients with early inflammatory polyarthritis. J.Rheumatol. 1997 Sep;24(9):1744-1749.

(22) Gelfand JM, Robert SS, Nijsten T, Steven RF, Thomas J, Kist J. The prevalence of psoriasis in African Americans: results from a population-based study. J.Am.Acad.Dermatol. 2005 01;52(1):23-6.

(23) Gladman D.D., Rahman P. Psoriatic Arthritis. In: Ruddy S., Harris E.D.,
Sledge C.B., Budd R.C., Sergent J.S., editors. Kelly's Textbook of Rheumatology.
6th Edition ed. Philadelphia: W. B. Saunders Co; 2001. p. 1071-1079.

(24) Kammer GM, Soter NA, Gibson DJ, Schur PH. Psoriatic arthritis: a clinical, immunologic and HLA study of 100 patients. Semin.Arthritis Rheum. 1979 Nov;9(2):75-97.

(25) Taylor W, Gladman D, Helliwell P, Marchesoni A, Mease P, Mielants H, et al. Classification criteria for psoriatic arthritis: development of new criteria from a large international study. Arthritis Rheum. 2006 Aug;54(8):2665-2673.

(26) Rahman P, Schentag CT, Gladman DD. Immunogenetic profile of patients with psoriatic arthritis varies according to the age at onset of psoriasis. Arthritis Rheum. 1999 Apr;42(4):822-823.

(27) Gladman DD. Psoriatic Arthritis. In: Gordon K, Ruderman E, editors. Psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2005. p. 57-65.

(28) Khan M, Schentag C, Gladman DD. Clinical and radiological changes during psoriatic arthritis disease progression. J.Rheumatol. 2003 May;30(5):1022-1026.

(29) Gladman DD, Antoni C, Mease P, Clegg DO, Nash P. Psoriatic arthritis: epidemiology, clinical features, course, and outcome. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2005 Mar;64 Suppl 2:ii14-7. (30) Gladman DD, Farewell VT, Nadeau C. Clinical indicators of progression in psoriatic arthritis: multivariate relative risk model. J.Rheumatol. 1995 Apr;22(4):675-679.

(31) Veale DJ, Barnes L, Rogers S, FitzGerald O. Immunohistochemical markers for arthritis in psoriasis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 1994 Jul;53(7):450-454.

(32) McGonagle D, Lories RJ, Tan AL, Benjamin M. The concept of a "synovioentheseal complex" and its implications for understanding joint inflammation and damage in psoriatic arthritis and beyond. Arthritis Rheum. 2007 Aug;56(8):2482-2491.

(33) Jones SM, Armas JB, Cohen MG, Lovell CR, Evison G, McHugh NJ. Psoriatic arthritis: outcome of disease subsets and relationship of joint disease to nail and skin disease. Br.J.Rheumatol. 1994 Sep;33(9):834-839.

(34) McHugh NJ, Balachrishnan C, Jones SM. Progression of peripheral joint disease in psoriatic arthritis: a 5-yr prospective study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003 Jun;42(6):778-783.

(35) Kane D, Stafford L, Bresnihan B, FitzGerald O. A prospective, clinical and radiological study of early psoriatic arthritis: an early synovitis clinic experience. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003 Dec;42(12):1460-1468.

(36) Wong K, Gladman DD, Husted J, Long JA, Farewell VT. Mortality studies in psoriatic arthritis: results from a single outpatient clinic. I. Causes and risk of death. Arthritis Rheum. 1997 Oct;40(10):1868-1872.

(37) Taylor WJ, Fellow DE, Helliwell PS. Case definition of psoriatic arthritis. Lancet 2000 Dec 16;356(9247):2095; author reply 2096.

(38) Bennett RM. Psoriatic Arthritis. In: McCarty DJ, editor. Arthritis and allied conditions. 9th Edition ed. Philadelphia: Lea & Febiger; 1979. p. 645.

(39) Vasey F EL. Psoriatic Arthropathy. In: Calin A, editor. Spondyloarthropathies Orlando: Grune & Stratton; 1984. p. 151-185.

(40) Dougados M, van der Linden S, Juhlin R, Huitfeldt B, Amor B, Calin A, et al. The European Spondylarthropathy Study Group preliminary criteria for the classification of spondylarthropathy. Arthritis Rheum. 1991 Oct;34(10):1218-1227.

(41) McGonagle D, Conaghan PG, Emery P. Psoriatic arthritis: a unified concept twenty years on. Arthritis Rheum. 1999 Jun;42(6):1080-1086.

(42) Fournie B, Crognier L, Arnaud C, Zabraniecki L, Lascaux-Lefebvre V, Marc V, et al. Proposed classification criteria of psoriatic arthritis. A preliminary study in 260 patients. Rev.Rhum.Engl.Ed. 1999 Oct;66(10):446-456.

(43) Torre Alonso JC, Rodriguez Perez A, Arribas Castrillo JM, Ballina Garcia J, Riestra Noriega JL, Lopez Larrea C. Psoriatic arthritis (PA): a clinical, immunological and radiological study of 180 patients. Br.J.Rheumatol. 1991 Aug;30(4):245-250.

(44) Cohen MR, Reda DJ, Clegg DO. Baseline relationships between psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: analysis of 221 patients with active psoriatic arthritis. Department of Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study Group on Seronegative Spondyloarthropathies. J.Rheumatol. 1999 Aug;26(8):1752-1756.

(45) Elkayam O, Ophir J, Yaron M, Caspi D. Psoriatic arthritis: interrelationships between skin and joint manifestations related to onset, course and distribution. Clin.Rheumatol. 2000;19(4):301-305.

(46) Gladman DD, Anhorn KA, Schachter RK, Mervart H. HLA antigens in psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 1986 Jun;13(3):586-592.

(47) Gladman DD, Farewell VT, Wong K, Husted J. Mortality studies in psoriatic arthritis: results from a single outpatient center. II. Prognostic indicators for death. Arthritis Rheum. 1998 Jun;41(6):1103-1110.

(48) Queiro-Silva R, J CT, T Tinture-Eguren, I Lopez-Lagunas. A polyarticular onset predicts erosive and deforming disease in psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2003 01;62(1):68-70.

(49) Gladman DD, Stafford-Brady F, Chang CH, Lewandowski K, Russell ML. Longitudinal study of clinical and radiological progression in psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 1990 Jun;17(6):809-812.

(50) Hanly JG, Russell ML, Gladman DD. Psoriatic spondyloarthropathy: a long term prospective study. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 1988 May;47(5):386-393.

(51) Rahman P, Nguyen E, Cheung C, Schentag CT, Gladman DD. Comparison of radiological severity in psoriatic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2001 May;28(5):1041-1044.

(52) Gladman DD, Farewell VT. Progression in psoriatic arthritis: role of time varying clinical indicators. J.Rheumatol. 1999 Nov;26(11):2409-2413.

(53) Gladman DD, Hing EN, Schentag CT, Cook RJ. Remission in psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2001 May;28(5):1045-1048.

(54) Ali Y, Tom BD, Schentag CT, Farewell VT, Gladman DD. Improved survival in psoriatic arthritis with calendar time. Arthritis Rheum. 2007 Aug;56(8):2708-2714.

(55) Krueger JG, Bowcock A. Psoriasis pathophysiology: current concepts of pathogenesis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2005 03;64 Suppl 2:ii30-6.

(56) Schon MP, W-Henning Boehncke. Psoriasis. N.Engl.J.Med. 2005; 352(18):1899-912.

(57) Hansson G. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N.Engl.J.Med. 2005 04/21;352(16):1685-95.

(58) Warrington KJ, Peter DK, Robert LF, James FL, Stephen LK, Jorg JG. Rheumatoid arthritis is an independent risk factor for multi-vessel coronary artery disease: a case control study. Arthritis research 2005;7(5):R984-91.

(59) Maradit-Kremers H, Cynthia SC, Paulo JN, Karla VB, Veronique LR, Steve JJ. Increased unrecognized coronary heart disease and sudden deaths in rheumatoid arthritis: a population-based cohort study. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 02;52(2):402-11.

(60) Christophers E,. Psoriasis--epidemiology and clinical spectrum. Clin.Exp.Dermatol. 2001 06;26(4):314-20.

(61) McDonald CJ, Calabresi P. Psoriasis and occlusive vascular disease. Br.J.Dermatol. 1978 11;99(5):469-75.

(62) Henseler T, Christophers E. Disease concomitance in psoriasis. J.Am.Acad.Dermatol. 1995 06;32(6):982-6.

(63) Mallbris L, Akre O, Granath F, Yin L, Bernt Lindelof, Ekbom A. Increased risk for cardiovascular mortality in psoriasis inpatients but not in outpatients. Eur.J.Epidemiol. 2004;19(3):225-30. (64) Gelfand JM, Andrea LN, Daniel BS, Wang X, David JM, Andrea BT. Risk of myocardial infarction in patients with psoriasis. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 2006 10/11;296(14):1735-41.

(65) Herron MD, Hinckley M, Matthew SH, Papenfuss J, Christopher BH, KristinaPC. Impact of obesity and smoking on psoriasis presentation and management.Arch.Dermatol. 2005 12;141(12):1527-34.

(66) Sommer DM, Jenisch S, Suchan M, Christophers E, Weichenthal M. Increased prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in patients with moderate to severe psoriasis. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 2006 12;298(7):321-8.

(67) Neimann AL, Daniel BS, Wang X, David JM, Andrea BT, Joel MG. Prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors in patients with psoriasis. J.Am.Acad.Dermatol. 2006 11;55(5):829-35.

(68) Gisondi P, Tessari G, Conti A, Piaserico S, Schianchi S, Peserico A. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome in patients with psoriasis: a hospital-based case-control study. Br.J.Dermatol. 2007 07;157(1):68-73.

(69) Gladman DD,. Mortality in psoriatic arthritis. Clin.Exp.Rheumatol. 2008 09;26(5):S62-5.

(70) Ruderman EM. Treatment advances in psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2005 Aug;7(4):313-318.

225

(71) Ujfalussy I, Koo E, Sesztak M, Gergely P. Termination of disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs in rheumatoid arthritis and in psoriatic arthritis. A comparative study of 270 cases. Z.Rheumatol. 2003 Apr;62(2):155-160.

(72) Whiting-O'Keefe QE. Methotrexate and histologic hepatic abnormalities: a meta-analysis. Am J Med 1991;90(6):711-6.

(73) Gladman DD. Traditional and newer therapeutic options for psoriatic arthritis: an evidence-based review. Drugs 2005;65(9):1223-1238.

(74) Spadaro A, Riccieri V, Sili-Scavalli A, Sensi F, Taccari E, Zoppini A. Comparison of cyclosporin A and methotrexate in the treatment of psoriatic arthritis: a one-year prospective study. Clin.Exp.Rheumatol. 1995 Sep-Oct;13(5):589-593.

(75) Salvarani C, Cantini F, Olivieri I, Macchioni P, Padula A, Niccoli L, et al. Efficacy of infliximab in resistant psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2003 Aug 15;49(4):541-545.

(76) Canete JD, Pablos JL, Sanmarti R, Mallofre C, Marsal S, Maymo J, et al. Antiangiogenic effects of anti-tumor necrosis factor alpha therapy with infliximab in psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 May;50(5):1636-1641.

(77) Goedkoop AY, Kraan MC, Picavet DI, de Rie MA, Teunissen MB, Bos JD, et al. Deactivation of endothelium and reduction in angiogenesis in psoriatic skin

and synovium by low dose infliximab therapy in combination with stable methotrexate therapy: a prospective single-centre study. Arthritis Res.Ther. 2004;6(4):R326-34.

(78) Mease PJ. Psoriatic arthritis assessment and treatment update. Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2009 Jul;21(4):348-355.

(79) Leonardi CL, Alexa BK, Kim AP, Yeilding N, Guzzo C, Wang Y. Efficacy and safety of ustekinumab, a human interleukin-12/23 monoclonal antibody, in patients with psoriasis: 76-week results from a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial (PHOENIX 1). Lancet 2008; 371(9625):1665-74.

(80) Gottlieb A, Menter A, Mendelsohn A, Shen YK, Li S, Guzzo C, et al. Ustekinumab, a human interleukin 12/23 monoclonal antibody, for psoriatic arthritis: randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial. Lancet 2009 Feb 21;373(9664):633-640.

(81) Cohen SB, Dore RK, Lane NE, Ory PA, Peterfy CG, Sharp JT, et al. Denosumab treatment effects on structural damage, bone mineral density, and bone turnover in rheumatoid arthritis: a twelve-month, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase II clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2008 May;58(5):1299-1309.

(82) Veale DJ, Ritchlin C, FitzGerald O. Immunopathology of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2005 Mar;64 Suppl 2:ii26-9.

(83) Myers W, Opeola M, Gottlieb AB. Common clinical features and disease mechanisms of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2004 Aug;6(4):306-313.

(84) Anandarajah AP, Ritchlin CT. Pathogenesis of psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2004 Jul;16(4):338-343.

(85) Ritchlin CT. Pathogenesis of psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2005 Jul;17(4):406-412.

(86) Elder JT, Hammerberg C, Cooper KD, Kojima T, Nair RP, Ellis CN, et al. Cyclosporin A rapidly inhibits epidermal cytokine expression in psoriasis lesions, but not in cytokine-stimulated cultured keratinocytes. J.Invest.Dermatol. 1993 Dec;101(6):761-766.

(87) Granstein RD. New treatments for psoriasis. N.Engl.J.Med. 2001 Jul 26;345(4):284-287.

(88) Gardembas-Pain M, Ifrah N, Foussard C, Boasson M, Saint Andre JP, Verret JL. Psoriasis after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Arch.Dermatol. 1990 Nov;126(11):1523.

(89) Kanamori H, Tanaka M, Kawaguchi H, Yamaji S, Fujimaki K, Tomita N, et al. Resolution of psoriasis following allogeneic bone marrow transplantation for
chronic myelogenous leukemia: case report and review of the literature. Am.J.Hematol. 2002 Sep;71(1):41-44.

(90) Veale D, Yanni G, Rogers S, Barnes L, Bresnihan B, Fitzgerald O. Reduced synovial membrane macrophage numbers, ELAM-1 expression, and lining layer hyperplasia in psoriatic arthritis as compared with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1993 Jul;36(7):893-900.

(91) Laloux L, M CV, Allain J, Martin N, Kerboull L, Chevalier X. Immunohistological study of entheses in spondyloarthropathies: comparison in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2001 04;60(4):316-21.

(92) Costello P, Bresnihan B, O'Farrelly C, FitzGerald O. Predominance of CD8+ T lymphocytes in psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 1999 May;26(5):1117-1124.

(93) Costello PJ, Winchester RJ, Curran SA, Peterson KS, Kane DJ, Bresnihan B, et al. Psoriatic arthritis joint fluids are characterized by CD8 and CD4 T cell clonal expansions appear antigen driven. J.Immunol. 2001 Feb 15;166(4):2878-2886.

(94) Chang JC, L RS, K JF, B JS, J AL, L LC. CD8 T cells in psoriatic lesions preferentially use T-cell receptor V beta 3 and/or V beta 13.1 genes. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 1994 09/27;91(20):9282-6.

(95) Tassiulas I, S RD, Centola M, A NT, D TB. Clonal characteristics of T cell infiltrates in skin and synovium of patients with psoriatic arthritis. Hum.Immunol. 1999 06;60(6):479-91.

(96) Valdimarsson H, Baker BS, Jonsdottir I, Powles A, Fry L. Psoriasis: a T-cellmediated autoimmune disease induced by streptococcal superantigens? Immunol.Today 1995 Mar;16(3):145-149.

(97) Schlaak JF, Buslau M, Jochum W, Hermann E, Girndt M, Gallati H, et al. T cells involved in psoriasis vulgaris belong to the Th1 subset. J.Invest.Dermatol. 1994 Feb;102(2):145-149.

(98) Kruithof E, Baeten D, De Rycke L, Vandooren B, Foell D, Roth J, et al. Synovial histopathology of psoriatic arthritis, both oligo- and polyarticular, resembles spondyloarthropathy more than it does rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res.Ther. 2005;7(3):R569-80.

(99) Baeten D, Kruithof E, De Rycke L, Boots AM, Mielants H, Veys EM, et al. Infiltration of the synovial membrane with macrophage subsets and polymorphonuclear cells reflects global disease activity in spondyloarthropathy. Arthritis Res.Ther. 2005;7(2):R359-69.

(100) Espinoza LR, Vasey FB, Espinoza CG, Bocanegra TS, Germain BF. Vascular changes in psoriatic synovium. A light and electron microscopic study. Arthritis Rheum. 1982 Jun;25(6):677-684. (101) Reece RJ, Canete JD, Parsons WJ, Emery P, Veale DJ. Distinct vascular patterns of early synovitis in psoriatic, reactive, and rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1999 Jul;42(7):1481-1484.

(102) Habif T. Psoriasis and other papulosquamous diseases. In: Habif T, editor. Clinical Dermatology. 3rd Edition ed. St. Louis: Mosby; 1996. p. 190-235.

(103) McGonagle D, Gibbon W, Emery P. Classification of inflammatory arthritis by enthesitis. Lancet 1998 Oct 3;352(9134):1137-1140.

(104) Tan AL, Benjamin M, Toumi H, Grainger AJ, Tanner SF, Emery P, et al. The relationship between the extensor tendon enthesis and the nail in distal interphalangeal joint disease in psoriatic arthritis--a high-resolution MRI and histological study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007 Feb;46(2):253-256.

(105) Jevtic V, Watt I, Rozman B, Kos-Golja M, Demsar F, Jarh O. Distinctive radiological features of small hand joints in rheumatoid arthritis and seronegative spondyloarthritis demonstrated by contrast-enhanced (Gd-DTPA) magnetic resonance imaging. Skeletal Radiol. 1995 Jul;24(5):351-355.

(106) McGonagle D, Benjamin M, Tan AL. The pathogenesis of psoriatic arthritis and associated nail disease: not autoimmune after all? Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2009 Jul;21(4):340-347. (107) Ritchlin CT. From skin to bone: translational perspectives on psoriatic disease. J.Rheumatol. 2008 Jul;35(7):1434-1437.

(108) Rho J, Takami M, Choi Y. Osteoimmunology: interactions of the immune and skeletal systems. Mol.Cells 2004 02/29;17(1):1-9.

(109) Takayanagi H,. Osteoimmunology: shared mechanisms and crosstalk between the immune and bone systems. Nature reviews. Immunology 2007 04;7(4):292-304.

(110) Mensah KA, Edward MS, Christopher TR. Altered bone remodeling in psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2008 08;10(4):311-7.

(111) Resnik D. Psoriatic Arthritis. In: Resnick D, Niwayama G, editors. Diagnosis of Bone and Joint Disorders. 2nd Edition ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1988.p. 1171-1198.

(112) Ritchlin CT, Haas-Smith SA, Li P, Hicks DG, Schwarz EM. Mechanisms of TNF-alpha- and RANKL-mediated osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption in psoriatic arthritis. J.Clin.Invest. 2003 Mar;111(6):821-831.

(113) Schett G, Stolina M, Bolon B, Middleton S, Adlam M, Brown H, et al. Analysis of the kinetics of osteoclastogenesis in arthritic rats. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 Oct;52(10):3192-3201. (114) Boyle WJ, W SS, David LL. Osteoclast differentiation and activation. Nature 2003 05/15;423(6937):337-42.

(115) Udagawa N, Kotake S, Kamatani N, Takahashi N, Suda T. The molecular mechanism of osteoclastogenesis in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res. 2002;4(5):281-289.

(116) Komuro H, Olee T, Kahn K, Quach J, D CB, Shikhman A. The osteoprotegerin/receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB/receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand system in cartilage. Arthritis Rheum. 2001 12;44(12):2768-76.

(117) Abu-Amer Y, Erdmann J, Alexopoulou L, Kollias G, F PR, S LT. Tumor necrosis factor receptors types 1 and 2 differentially regulate osteoclastogenesis. The Journal of biological chemistry 2000 09/01;275(35):27307-10.

(118) Keffer J, Probert L, Cazlaris H, Georgopoulos S, Kaslaris E, Kioussis D. Transgenic mice expressing human tumour necrosis factor: a predictive genetic model of arthritis. EMBO J. 1991 12;10(13):4025-31.

(119) Li P, Edward MS, Regis JO, Ma L, R JL, Christopher TR. Systemic tumor necrosis factor alpha mediates an increase in peripheral CD11bhigh osteoclast precursors in tumor necrosis factor alpha-transgenic mice. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 01;50(1):265-76. (120) Anandarajah AP, E MS, Totterman S, Monu J, C YF, Shao T. The effect of etanercept on osteoclast precursor frequency and enhancing bone marrow oedema in patients with psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2008 03;67(3):296-301.

(121) Ritchlin CT, Fitzgerald O. Pathogenesis of Psoriatic Arthritis. In: Ritchlin CT, Fitzgerald O, editors. Psoriatic and Reactive Arthritis Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier; 2007. p. 48-60.

(122) Lories RJU, Derese I, Frank PL. Modulation of bone morphogenetic protein signaling inhibits the onset and progression of ankylosing enthesitis. J.Clin.Invest. 2005 06;115(6):1571-9.

(123) Lories RJU, Matthys P, K dV, Derese I, F PL. Ankylosing enthesitis, dactylitis, and onychoperiostitis in male DBA/1 mice: a model of psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2004 05;63(5):595-8.

(124) Braun J, Bollow M, Neure L, Seipelt E, Seyrekbasan F, Herbst H, et al. Use of immunohistologic and in situ hybridization techniques in the examination of sacroiliac joint biopsy specimens from patients with ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum. 1995 Apr;38(4):499-505.

(125) Peng H, Wright V, Usas A, Gearhart B, Shen HC, Cummins J, et al. Synergistic enhancement of bone formation and healing by stem cell-expressed VEGF and bone morphogenetic protein-4. J.Clin.Invest. 2002 Sep;110(6):751-759.

(126) Hashimoto S, L Creighton-Achermann, Takahashi K, Amiel D, R DC, LotzM. Development and regulation of osteophyte formation during experimental osteoarthritis. Osteoarthr.Cartil. 2002 03;10(3):180-7.

(127) Leong TT, Fearon U, Veale DJ. Angiogenesis in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: clues to disease pathogenesis. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2005 Aug;7(4):325-329.

(128) Bhushan M, Moore T, Herrick AL, Griffiths CE. Nailfold video capillaroscopy in psoriasis. Br.J.Dermatol. 2000 Jun;142(6):1171-1176.

(129) Creamer D, Jaggar R, Allen M, Bicknell R, Barker J. Overexpression of the angiogenic factor platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor/thymidine phosphorylase in psoriatic epidermis. Br.J.Dermatol. 1997 Dec;137(6):851-855.

(130) Fearon U, Reece R, Smith J, Emery P, Veale DJ. Synovial cytokine and growth factor regulation of MMPs/TIMPs: implications for erosions and angiogenesis in early rheumatoid and psoriatic arthritis patients. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. 1999 Jun 30;878:619-621.

(131) Kuroda K, Sapadin A, Shoji T, Fleischmajer R, Lebwohl M. Altered expression of angiopoietins and Tie2 endothelium receptor in psoriasis. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2001 May;116(5):713-720.

(132) Bongartz T, Coras B, Vogt T, Scholmerich J, Muller-Ladner U. Treatment of active psoriatic arthritis with the PPARgamma ligand pioglitazone: an open-label pilot study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2005 Jan;44(1):126-129.

(133) Jiang C, Ting AT, Seed B. PPAR-gamma agonists inhibit production of monocyte inflammatory cytokines. Nature 1998 Jan 1;391(6662):82-86.

(134) Murata T, He S, Hangai M, Ishibashi T, Xi XP, Kim S, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma ligands inhibit choroidal neovascularization. Invest.Ophthalmol.Vis.Sci. 2000 Jul;41(8):2309-2317.

(135) Yamakawa K, Hosoi M, Koyama H, Tanaka S, Fukumoto S, Morii H, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonists increase vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2000 May 19;271(3):571-574.

(136) Rhee EJ, Oh KW, Lee WY, Kim SY, Oh ES, Baek KH, et al. The effects of C161-->T polymorphisms in exon 6 of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma gene on bone mineral metabolism and serum osteoprotegerin levels in healthy middle-aged women. Am.J.Obstet.Gynecol. 2005 Apr;192(4):1087-1093. (137) Rhee EJ, Oh KW, Yun EJ, Jung CH, Park CY, Lee WY, et al. The association of Pro12Ala polymorphism of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma gene with serum osteoprotegerin levels in healthy Korean women. Exp.Mol.Med. 2007 Dec 31;39(6):696-704.

(138) Ashley-Koch A. Determining genetic component of a disease. In: Haines JL, Pericak-Vance M, editors. Genetic analysis of complex diseases. 2nd edition ed. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2006. p. 91-115.

(139) Bowcock AM, Krueger JG. Getting under the skin: the immunogenetics of psoriasis. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 2005 Sep;5(9):699-711.

(140) Elder JT, Nair RP, Henseler T, Jenisch S, Stuart P, Chia N, et al. The genetics of psoriasis 2001: the odyssey continues. Arch.Dermatol. 2001 Nov;137(11):1447-1454.

(141) Moll JM, Wright V. Familial occurrence of psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 1973 May;32(3):181-201.

(142) Pedersen OB, Svendsen AJ, Ejstrup L, Skytthe A, Junker P. On the heritability of psoriatic arthritis. Disease concordance among monozygotic and dizygotic twins. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2008 Oct;67(10):1417-1421.

(143) Moll JM, Wright V. Psoriatic arthritis. Semin.Arthritis Rheum. 1973;3(1):55-78. (144) Risch N. Linkage strategies for genetically complex traits. I. Multilocus models. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 1990 Feb;46(2):222-228.

(145) Rahman P, Elder JT. Genetic epidemiology of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2005 Mar;64 Suppl 2:ii37-9; discussion ii40-1.

(146) Hellgren L. Psoriasis. Stockholm, Sweden: Almqvist & Wiksell; 1967.

(147) Christophers E., Henseler T. Psoriasis type I and type II as subtypes of nonpustular psoriasis. In: Roenigk H, Maibach H, editors. Psoriasis New York: Marcel Dekker; 1990. p. pp15-21.

(148) Elder JT, Nair RP, Guo SW, Henseler T, Christophers E, Voorhees JJ. The genetics of psoriasis. Arch.Dermatol. 1994 Feb;130(2):216-224.

(149) Myers A, L JK, S AL, D JW. Recurrence risk for psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis within sibships. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2005 06;44(6):773-6.

(150) Chandran V, Schentag CT, Brockbank JE, Pellett FJ, Shanmugarajah S, Toloza SM, et al. Familial aggregation of psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2009 May;68(5):664-667.

(151) Seldin MF, Shigeta R, Laiho K, Li H, Saila H, Savolainen A. Finnish casecontrol and family studies support PTPN22 R620W polymorphism as a risk factor in rheumatoid arthritis, but suggest only minimal or no effect in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Genes Immun. 2005 12;6(8):720-2. (152) Pociot F, M FM. Genetics of type 1 diabetes mellitus. Genes Immun. 2002 08;3(5):235-49.

(153) Rahman P, Gladman DD, Schentag CT, Petronis A. Excessive paternal transmission in psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1999; 42(6):1228-31.

(154) Karason A, Gudjonsson JE, Upmanyu R, Antonsdottir AA, Hauksson VB, Runasdottir EH, et al. A susceptibility gene for psoriatic arthritis maps to chromosome 16q: evidence for imprinting. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2003 Jan;72(1):125-131.

(155) Nair RP, Henseler T, Jenisch S, Stuart P, Bichakjian CK, Lenk W, et al. Evidence for two psoriasis susceptibility loci (HLA and 17q) and two novel candidate regions (16q and 20p) by genome-wide scan. Hum.Mol.Genet. 1997 Aug;6(8):1349-1356.

(156) Trembath RC, Clough RL, Rosbotham JL, Jones AB, Camp RD, Frodsham A, et al. Identification of a major susceptibility locus on chromosome 6p and evidence for further disease loci revealed by a two stage genome-wide search in psoriasis. Hum.Mol.Genet. 1997 May;6(5):813-820.

(157) Enerback C, Martinsson T, Inerot A, Wahlstrom J, Enlund F, Yhr M, et al. Evidence that HLA-Cw6 determines early onset of psoriasis, obtained using sequence-specific primers (PCR-SSP). Acta Derm.Venereol. 1997 Jul;77(4):273-276. (158) Gladman DD, Cheung C, Ng CM, Wade JA. HLA-C locus alleles in patients with psoriatic arthritis (PsA). Hum.Immunol. 1999 Mar;60(3):259-261.

(159) Elder JT,. PSORS1: linking genetics and immunology. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2006 06;126(6):1205-6.

(160) Nair RP, Stuart PE, Nistor I, Hiremagalore R, Chia NV, Jenisch S, et al. Sequence and haplotype analysis supports HLA-C as the psoriasis susceptibility 1 gene. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2006 May;78(5):827-851.

(161) Farber EM, Nall L. Epidemiology: natural history and genetics. In: Roenigk Jr HH, Maibach HI, editors. Psoriasis New York: Dekker; 1998. p. 107-157.

(162) Henseler T, Christophers E. Psoriasis of early and late onset: characterization of two types of psoriasis vulgaris. J.Am.Acad.Dermatol. 1985 Sep;13(3):450-456.

(163) Bowcock AM, Cookson WO. The genetics of psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis and atopic dermatitis. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2004 Apr 1;13 Spec No 1:R43-55.

(164) Bowcock AM, Psoriasis genetics: the way forward. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2004 06;122(6):xv-xvii.

(165) Samuelsson L, Enlund F, Torinsson A, Yhr M, Inerot A, Enerback C, et al. A genome-wide search for genes predisposing to familial psoriasis by using a stratification approach. Hum.Genet. 1999 Dec;105(6):523-529. (166) Zheng J, Jin S, Shi R. Confirmation of PSORS psoriasis susceptibility loci in a Chinese population. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 2003 Apr;295(1):14-18.

(167) Hwu WL, Yang CF, Fann CS, Chen CL, Tsai TF, Chien YH, et al. Mapping of psoriasis to 17q terminus. J.Med.Genet. 2005 Feb;42(2):152-158.

(168) Tomfohrde J, Silverman A, Barnes R, Fernandez-Vina MA, Young M, Lory D, et al. Gene for familial psoriasis susceptibility mapped to the distal end of human chromosome 17q. Science 1994 May 20;264(5162):1141-1145.

(169) Speckman RA, Wright Daw JA, Helms C, Duan S, Cao L, Taillon-Miller P, et al. Novel immunoglobulin superfamily gene cluster, mapping to a region of human chromosome 17q25, linked to psoriasis susceptibility. Hum.Genet. 2003 Jan;112(1):34-41.

(170) Hewett D, Samuelsson L, Polding J, Enlund F, Smart D, Cantone K, et al. Identification of a psoriasis susceptibility candidate gene by linkage disequilibrium mapping with a localized single nucleotide polymorphism map. Genomics 2002 Mar;79(3):305-314.

(171) Huffmeier U, Lascorz J, Traupe H, Bohm B, Schurmeier-Horst F, Stander M, et al. Systematic linkage disequilibrium analysis of SLC12A8 at PSORS5 confirms a role in susceptibility to psoriasis vulgaris. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2005 Nov;125(5):906-912.

(172) Sagoo GS, Tazi-Ahnini R, Barker JW, Elder JT, Nair RP, Samuelsson L, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide studies of psoriasis susceptibility reveals linkage to chromosomes 6p21 and 4q28-q31 in Caucasian and Chinese Hans population. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2004 Jun;122(6):1401-1405.

(173) Alper CA, Charles EL, Devendra PD, Zuheir LA, Dolores AF, Edmond JY. The haplotype structure of the human major histocompatibility complex. Hum.Immunol. 2006 01;67(1-2):73-84.

(174) Al-Heresh AM, Proctor J, Jones SM, Dixey J, Cox B, Welsh K, et al. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha polymorphism and the HLA-Cw*0602 allele in psoriatic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2002 May;41(5):525-530.

(175) Martinez-Borra J, Gonzalez S, Santos-Juanes J, Sanchez del Rio J, Torre-Alonso JC, Lopez-Vazquez A, et al. Psoriasis vulgaris and psoriatic arthritis share a 100 kb susceptibility region telomeric to HLA-C. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2003 Sep;42(9):1089-1092.

(176) Duffin KC, Chandran V, Dafna DG, Gerald GK, James TE, Rahman P.Genetics of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: update and future direction.J.Rheumatol. 2008 07;35(7):1449-53.

(177) Murray C, Mann DL, Gerber LN, Barth W, Perlmann S, Decker JL, et al. Histocompatibility alloantigens in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Evidence for the influence of multiple genes in the major histocompatibility complex. J.Clin.Invest. 1980 Oct;66(4):670-675.

(178) Eastmond CJ. Psoriatic arthritis. Genetics and HLA antigens. Baillieres Clin.Rheumatol. 1994 May;8(2):263-276.

(179) Gladman DD, Farewell VT, Kopciuk KA, Cook RJ. HLA markers and progression in psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 1998 Apr;25(4):730-733.

(180) Korendowych E, Dixey J, Cox B, Jones S, McHugh N. The Influence of the HLA-DRB1 rheumatoid arthritis shared epitope on the clinical characteristics and radiological outcome of psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2003 Jan;30(1):96-101.

(181) Ho PY, Barton A, Worthington J, Thomson W, Silman AJ, Bruce IN. HLA-Cw6 and HLA-DRB1*07 together are associated with less severe joint disease in psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2007 Jun;66(6):807-811.

(182) Hohler T, Grossmann S, Stradmann-Bellinghausen B, Kaluza W, Reuss E, de Vlam K, et al. Differential association of polymorphisms in the TNFalpha region with psoriatic arthritis but not psoriasis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2002 Mar;61(3):213-218.

(183) Gonzalez S, Martinez-Borra J, Lopez-Vazquez A, Garcia-Fernandez S, Torre-Alonso JC, Lopez-Larrea C. MICA rather than MICB, TNFA, or HLA-DRB1 is associated with susceptibility to psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2002 May;29(5):973-978.

(184) Hohler T, Kruger A, Schneider PM, Schopf RE, Knop J, Rittner C, et al. A TNF-alpha promoter polymorphism is associated with juvenile onset psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. J.Invest.Dermatol. 1997 Oct;109(4):562-565.

(185) Balding J, Kane D, Livingstone W, Mynett-Johnson L, Bresnihan B, Smith O, et al. Cytokine gene polymorphisms: association with psoriatic arthritis susceptibility and severity. Arthritis Rheum. 2003 May;48(5):1408-1413.

(186) Reich K, Huffmeier U, Konig IR, Lascorz J, Lohmann J, Wendler J, et al. TNF polymorphisms in psoriasis: association of psoriatic arthritis with the promoter polymorphism TNF*-857 independent of the PSORS1 risk allele. Arthritis Rheum. 2007 Jun;56(6):2056-2064.

(187) Ribas F, Oliveira LA, Petzl-Erler ML, Bicalho MG. Major histocompatibility complex class I chain-related gene A polymorphism and linkage disequilibrium with HLA-B alleles in Euro-Brazilians. Tissue Antigens 2008 Dec;72(6):532-538.

(188) Lucas D, Campillo JA, Lopez-Hernandez R, Martinez-Garcia P, Lopez-Sanchez M, Botella C, et al. Allelic diversity of MICA gene and MICA/HLA-B haplotypic variation in a population of the Murcia region in southeastern Spain. Hum.Immunol. 2008 Oct;69(10):655-660. (189) Gao X, Single RM, Karacki P, Marti D, O'Brien SJ, Carrington M. Diversity of MICA and linkage disequilibrium with HLA-B in two North American populations. Hum.Immunol. 2006 Mar;67(3):152-158.

(190) Mok JW, Lee YJ, Kim JY, Lee EB, Song YW, Park MH, et al. Association of MICA polymorphism with rheumatoid arthritis patients in Koreans. Hum.Immunol. 2003 Dec;64(12):1190-1194.

(191) Mizuki N, Ota M, Kimura M, Ohno S, Ando H, Katsuyama Y, et al. Triplet repeat polymorphism in the transmembrane region of the MICA gene: a strong association of six GCT repetitions with Behcet disease. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 1997 Feb 18;94(4):1298-1303.

(192) Amroun H, Djoudi H, Busson M, Allat R, El Sherbini SM, Sloma I, et al. Early-onset ankylosing spondylitis is associated with a functional MICA polymorphism. Hum.Immunol. 2005 Oct;66(10):1057-1061.

(193) Goto K, Ota M, Ohno S, Mizuki N, Ando H, Katsuyama Y, et al. MICA gene and ankylosing spondylitis: linkage analysis via a transmembrane-encoded triplet repeat polymorphism. Tissue Antigens 1997 May;49(5):503-507.

(194) Ricci-Vitiani L, Vacca A, Potolicchio I, Scarpa R, Bitti P, Sebastiani G, et al. MICA gene triplet repeat polymorphism in patients with HLA-B27 positive and negative ankylosing spondylitis from Sardinia. J.Rheumatol. 2000 Sep;27(9):2193-2197. (195) Korendowych E, Ravindran J, Owen PA, Carmichael CR, McHugh NJ, Dawkins RL. Disease-specific alleles of the MHC class I related gene, MICA, are associated with type I psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. Br J Dermatol 2006;154:154.

(196) Mameli A, Cauli A, Taccari E, Scarpa R, Punzi L, Lapadula G, et al. Association of MICA alleles with psoriatic arthritis and its clinical forms. A multicenter Italian study. Clin.Exp.Rheumatol. 2008 Jul-Aug;26(4):649-652.

(197) Gonzalez S, Martinez-Borra J, Torre-Alonso JC, Gonzalez-Roces S, Sanchez del Rio J, Rodriguez Perez A, et al. The MICA-A9 triplet repeat polymorphism in the transmembrane region confers additional susceptibility to the development of psoriatic arthritis and is independent of the association of Cw*0602 in psoriasis. Arthritis Rheum. 1999 May;42(5):1010-1016.

(198) Gonzalez S, Brautbar C, Martinez-Borra J, Lopez-Vazquez A, Segal R, Blanco-Gelaz MA, et al. Polymorphism in MICA rather than HLA-B/C genes is associated with psoriatic arthritis in the Jewish population. Hum.Immunol. 2001 Jun;62(6):632-638.

(199) Holm SJ, Carlen LM, Mallbris L, Stahle-Backdahl M, O'Brien KP. Polymorphisms in the SEEK1 and SPR1 genes on 6p21.3 associate with psoriasis in the Swedish population. Exp.Dermatol. 2003 Aug;12(4):435-444.

246

(200) Capon F, Toal IK, Evans JC, Allen MH, Patel S, Tillman D, et al. Haplotype analysis of distantly related populations implicates corneodesmosin in psoriasis susceptibility. J.Med.Genet. 2003 Jun;40(6):447-452.

(201) Orru S, Giuressi E, Casula M, Loizedda A, Murru R, Mulargia M, et al. Psoriasis is associated with a SNP haplotype of the corneodesmosin gene (CDSN). Tissue Antigens 2002 Oct;60(4):292-298.

(202) Chang YT, Tsai SF, Lee DD, Shiao YM, Huang CY, Liu HN, et al. A study of candidate genes for psoriasis near HLA-C in Chinese patients with psoriasis. Br.J.Dermatol. 2003 Mar;148(3):418-423.

(203) Capon F, Trembath RC, Barker JN. An update on the genetics of psoriasis. Dermatol.Clin. 2004 Oct;22(4):339-47, vii.

(204) Partsch G, Steiner G, Leeb BF, Dunky A, Broll H, Smolen JS. Highly increased levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and other proinflammatory cytokines in psoriatic arthritis synovial fluid. J.Rheumatol. 1997 Mar;24(3):518-523.

(205) Ravindran JS, Owen P, Lagan A, Lewis J, Korendowych E, Welsh K, et al. Interleukin 1alpha, interleukin 1beta and interleukin 1 receptor gene polymorphisms in psoriatic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2004 Jan;43(1):22-26. (206) Peddle L, Butt C, Snelgrove T, Rahman P. Interleukin (IL) 1alpha, IL1beta, IL receptor antagonist, and IL10 polymorphisms in psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2005 Jul;64(7):1093-1094.

(207) Rahman P, Sun S, Peddle L, Snelgrove T, Melay W, Greenwood C, et al. Association between the interleukin-1 family gene cluster and psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2006 Jul;54(7):2321-2325.

(208) Korendowych E, McHugh N. Genetic factors in psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2005 Aug;7(4):306-312.

(209) Hsu KC, Chida S, Geraghty DE, Dupont B. The killer cell immunoglobulinlike receptor (KIR) genomic region: gene-order, haplotypes and allelic polymorphism. Immunol.Rev. 2002 Dec;190:40-52.

(210) Nelson GW, Martin MP, Gladman D, Wade J, Trowsdale J, Carrington M. Cutting edge: heterozygote advantage in autoimmune disease: hierarchy of protection/susceptibility conferred by HLA and killer Ig-like receptor combinations in psoriatic arthritis. J.Immunol. 2004 Oct 1;173(7):4273-4276.

(211) Williams F, Meenagh A, Sleator C, Cook D, Fernandez-Vina M, Bowcock AM, et al. Activating killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor gene KIR2DS1 is associated with psoriatic arthritis. Hum.Immunol. 2005 Jul;66(7):836-841.

(212) Suzuki Y, Hamamoto Y, Ogasawara Y, Ishikawa K, Yoshikawa Y, Sasazuki T, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors are associated with susceptibility to psoriasis vulgaris. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2004 May;122(5):1133-1136.

(213) Martin MP, Nelson G, Lee JH, Pellett F, Gao X, Wade J, et al. Cutting edge: susceptibility to psoriatic arthritis: influence of activating killer Ig-like receptor genes in the absence of specific HLA-C alleles. J.Immunol. 2002 Sep 15;169(6):2818-2822.

(214) Cargill M, Schrodi SJ, Chang M, Garcia VE, Brandon R, Callis KP, et al. A large-scale genetic association study confirms IL12B and leads to the identification of IL23R as psoriasis-risk genes. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2007 Feb;80(2):273-290.

(215) Smith RL, Warren RB, Eyre S, Ho P, Ke X, Young HS, et al. Polymorphisms in the IL-12beta and IL-23R genes are associated with psoriasis of early onset in a UK cohort. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2008 May;128(5):1325-1327.

(216) Nair RP, Ruether A, Stuart PE, Jenisch S, Tejasvi T, Hiremagalore R, et al. Polymorphisms of the IL12B and IL23R genes are associated with psoriasis. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2008 Jul;128(7):1653-1661. (217) Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies IL23R as an inflammatory bowel disease gene. Science 2006 Dec 1;314(5804):1461-1463.

(218) Hunter CA. New IL-12-family members: IL-23 and IL-27, cytokines with divergent functions. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 2005 Jul;5(7):521-531.

(219) Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, et al. Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 2007 Feb 8;445(7128):648-651.

(220) Filer C, Ho P, Smith RL, Griffiths C, Young HS, Worthington J, et al. Investigation of association of the IL12B and IL23R genes with psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008 Dec;58(12):3705-3709.

(221) Rahman P, Robert DI, Walter PM, Jeff PR, Peddle L, Dafna DG. Association of interleukin 23 receptor variants with psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2009 01;36(1):137-40.

(222) Melis L, Vandooren B, Kruithof E, Jacques P, De Vos M, Mielants H, et al. Systemic levels of IL-23 are strongly associated with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis but not spondyloarthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2009 Feb 5. (223) Hasegawa K, Martin F, Huang G, Tumas D, Diehl L, Chan AC. PEST domain-enriched tyrosine phosphatase (PEP) regulation of effector/memory T cells. Science 2004 Jan 30;303(5658):685-689.

(224) Bottini N, Musumeci L, Alonso A, Rahmouni S, Nika K, Rostamkhani M, et al. A functional variant of lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase is associated with type I diabetes. Nat.Genet. 2004 Apr;36(4):337-338.

(225) Begovich AB, Carlton VE, Honigberg LA, Schrodi SJ, Chokkalingam AP, Alexander HC, et al. A missense single-nucleotide polymorphism in a gene encoding a protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTPN22) is associated with rheumatoid arthritis. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2004 Aug;75(2):330-337.

(226) Kyogoku C, Langefeld CD, Ortmann WA, Lee A, Selby S, Carlton VE, et al. Genetic association of the R620W polymorphism of protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPN22 with human SLE. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2004 Sep;75(3):504-507.

(227) Criswell LA, Pfeiffer KA, Lum RF, Gonzales B, Novitzke J, Kern M, et al. Analysis of families in the multiple autoimmune disease genetics consortium (MADGC) collection: the PTPN22 620W allele associates with multiple autoimmune phenotypes. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2005 Apr;76(4):561-571.

(228) Huffmeier U, Steffens M, Burkhardt H, Lascorz J, Schurmeier-Horst F, Stander M, et al. Evidence for susceptibility determinant(s) to psoriasis vulgaris in or near PTPN22 in German patients. J.Med.Genet. 2006 Jun;43(6):517-522.

(229) Huffmeier U, Reis A, Steffens M, Lascorz J, Bohm B, Lohmann J, et al. Male restricted genetic association of variant R620W in PTPN22 with psoriatic arthritis. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2006 Apr;126(4):932-935.

(230) Smith RL, Warren RB, Eyre S, Ke X, Young HS, Allen M, et al. Polymorphisms in the PTPN22 region are associated with psoriasis of early onset. Br.J.Dermatol. 2008 May;158(5):962-968.

(231) Li Y, Liao W, Chang M, Schrodi SJ, Bui N, Catanese JJ, et al. Further genetic evidence for three psoriasis-risk genes: ADAM33, CDKAL1, and PTPN22. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2009 Mar;129(3):629-634.

(232) Karason A, Gudjonsson JE, Jonsson HH, Hauksson VB, Runarsdottir EH, Stefansson K, et al. Genetics of psoriasis in Iceland: evidence for linkage of subphenotypes to distinct Loci. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2005 Jun;124(6):1177-1185.

(233) Hugot JP, Chamaillard M, Zouali H, Lesage S, Cezard JP, Belaiche J, et al. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature 2001 May 31;411(6837):599-603.

(234) Rahman P, Bartlett S, Siannis F, Pellett FJ, Farewell VT, Peddle L, et al. CARD15: a pleiotropic autoimmune gene that confers susceptibility to psoriatic arthritis. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2003 Sep;73(3):677-681. (235) Giardina E, Novelli G, Costanzo A, Nistico S, Bulli C, Sinibaldi C, et al. Psoriatic arthritis and CARD15 gene polymorphisms: no evidence for association in the Italian population. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2004 May;122(5):1106-1107.

(236) Lascorz J, Burkhardt H, Huffmeier U, Bohm B, Schurmeyer-Horst F, Lohmann J, et al. Lack of genetic association of the three more common polymorphisms of CARD15 with psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis in a German cohort. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2005 Jun;64(6):951-954.

(237) Jenisch S, Hampe J, Elder JT, Nair R, Stuart P, Voorhees JJ, et al. CARD15 mutations in patients with plaque-type psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: lack of association. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 2006 Mar;297(9):409-411.

(238) Oudot T, Lesueur, Guedj, Cid d, McGinn, Heath. An Association Study of 22 Candidate Genes in Psoriasis Families Reveals Shared Genetic Factors with Other Autoimmune and Skin Disorders. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2009 06/25.

(239) Liu Y, Helms C, Liao W, Zaba LC, Duan S, Gardner J, et al. A genomewide association study of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis identifies new disease loci. PLoS Genet. 2008 Mar 28;4(3):e1000041.

(240) Huffmeier U, Lascorz J, Bohm B, Lohmann J, Wendler J, Mossner R, et al. Genetic variants of the IL-23R pathway: association with psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis vulgaris, but no specific risk factor for arthritis. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2009 Feb;129(2):355-358. (241) Nair RP, Duffin KC, Helms C, Ding J, Stuart PE, Goldgar D, et al. Genomewide scan reveals association of psoriasis with IL-23 and NF-kappaB pathways. Nat.Genet. 2009 Feb;41(2):199-204.

(242) Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium. Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature 2007 Jun 7;447(7145):661-678.

(243) Todd JA, Walker NM, Cooper JD, Smyth DJ, Downes K, Plagnol V, et al. Robust associations of four new chromosome regions from genome-wide analyses of type 1 diabetes. Nat.Genet. 2007 Jul;39(7):857-864.

(244) van Heel DA, Franke L, Hunt KA, Gwilliam R, Zhernakova A, Inouye M, et al. A genome-wide association study for celiac disease identifies risk variants in the region harboring IL2 and IL21. Nat.Genet. 2007 Jul;39(7):827-829.

(245) Zhernakova A, Alizadeh BZ, Bevova M, van Leeuwen MA, Coenen MJ, Franke B, et al. Novel association in chromosome 4q27 region with rheumatoid arthritis and confirmation of type 1 diabetes point to a general risk locus for autoimmune diseases. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2007 Dec;81(6):1284-1288.

(246) Jimenez-Balderas FJ, Mintz G. Ankylosing spondylitis: clinical course in women and men. J.Rheumatol. 1993 Dec;20(12):2069-2072.

(247) Brown MA, Kennedy LG, MacGregor AJ, Darke C, Duncan E, Shatford JL, et al. Susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis in twins: the role of genes, HLA, and the environment. Arthritis Rheum. 1997 Oct;40(10):1823-1828.

(248) Brown MA, Laval SH, Brophy S, Calin A. Recurrence risk modelling of the genetic susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2000 Nov;59(11):883-886.

(249) Schlosstein L, Terasaki PI, Bluestone R, Pearson CM. High association of an HL-A antigen, W27, with ankylosing spondylitis. N.Engl.J.Med. 1973 Apr 5;288(14):704-706.

(250) Laval SH, Timms A, Edwards S, Bradbury L, Brophy S, Milicic A, et al. Whole-genome screening in ankylosing spondylitis: evidence of non-MHC genetic-susceptibility loci. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2001 Apr;68(4):918-926.

(251) Rahman P. Genetics of ankylosing spondylitis: an update. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2007 Oct;9(5):383-389.

(252) Carter KW, Pluzhnikov A, Timms AE, Miceli-Richard C, Bourgain C, Wordsworth BP, et al. Combined analysis of three whole genome linkage scans for Ankylosing Spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2007 May;46(5):763-771.

(253) Timms AE, Crane AM, Sims AM, Cordell HJ, Bradbury LA, Abbott A, et al. The interleukin 1 gene cluster contains a major susceptibility locus for ankylosing spondylitis. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2004 Oct;75(4):587-595.

(254) Sims AM, Timms AE, Bruges-Armas J, Burgos-Vargas R, Chou CT, Doan T, et al. Prospective meta-analysis of interleukin 1 gene complex polymorphisms confirms associations with ankylosing spondylitis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2008 Sep;67(9):1305-1309.

(255) Beyeler C, Armstrong M, Bird HA, Idle JR, Daly AK. Relationship between genotype for the cytochrome P450 CYP2D6 and susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis and rheumatoid arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 1996 Jan;55(1):66-68.

(256) Brown MA, Edwards S, Hoyle E, Campbell S, Laval S, Daly AK, et al. Polymorphisms of the CYP2D6 gene increase susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2000 Jul 1;9(11):1563-1566.

(257) Brown MA. Breakthroughs in genetic studies of ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008 Feb;47(2):132-137.

(258) Rueda B, Orozco G, Raya E, Fernandez-Sueiro JL, Mulero J, Blanco FJ, et al. The IL23R Arg381Gln non-synonymous polymorphism confers susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2008 Oct;67(10):1451-1454. (259) Rahman P, Inman RD, Gladman DD, Reeve JP, Peddle L, Maksymowych WP. Association of interleukin-23 receptor variants with ankylosing spondylitis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008 Apr;58(4):1020-1025.

(260) Karaderi T, Harvey D, Farrar C, Appleton LH, Stone MA, Sturrock RD, et al. Association between the interleukin 23 receptor and ankylosing spondylitis is confirmed by a new UK case-control study and meta-analysis of published series. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2009 Apr;48(4):386-389.

(261) Yates VM, Watkinson G, Kelman A. Further evidence for an association between psoriasis, Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. Br.J.Dermatol. 1982 Mar;106(3):323-330.

(262) Lee FI, Bellary SV, Francis C. Increased occurrence of psoriasis in patients with Crohn's disease and their relatives. Am.J.Gastroenterol. 1990 Aug;85(8):962-963.

(263) Palm O, Moum B, Ongre A, Gran JT. Prevalence of ankylosing spondylitis and other spondyloarthropathies among patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a population study (the IBSEN study). J.Rheumatol. 2002 Mar;29(3):511-515.

(264) Schatteman L, Mielants H, Veys EM, Cuvelier C, De Vos M, Gyselbrecht L, et al. Gut inflammation in psoriatic arthritis: a prospective ileocolonoscopic study.J.Rheumatol. 1995 Apr;22(4):680-683.

(265) Scarpa R, Manguso F, D'Arienzo A, D'Armiento FP, Astarita C, Mazzacca G, et al. Microscopic inflammatory changes in colon of patients with both active psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis without bowel symptoms. J.Rheumatol. 2000 May;27(5):1241-1246.

(266) Mielants H, De Keyser F, Baeten D, Van den Bosch F. Gut inflammation in the spondyloarthropathies. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2005 Jun;7(3):188-194.

(267) Rioux JD, Daly MJ, Silverberg MS, Lindblad K, Steinhart H, Cohen Z, et al. Genetic variation in the 5q31 cytokine gene cluster confers susceptibility to Crohn disease. Nat.Genet. 2001 Oct;29(2):223-228.

(268) Mirza MM, Fisher SA, King K, Cuthbert AP, Hampe J, Sanderson J, et al. Genetic evidence for interaction of the 5q31 cytokine locus and the CARD15 gene in Crohn disease. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2003 Apr;72(4):1018-1022.

(269) Peltekova VD, Wintle RF, Rubin LA, Amos CI, Huang Q, Gu X, et al. Functional variants of OCTN cation transporter genes are associated with Crohn disease. Nat.Genet. 2004 May;36(5):471-475.

(270) Ho P, Bruce IN, Silman A, Symmons D, Newman B, Young H, et al. Evidence for common genetic control in pathways of inflammation for Crohn's disease and psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 Nov;52(11):3596-3602. (271) Karban AS, Okazaki T, Panhuysen CI, Gallegos T, Potter JJ, Bailey-Wilson JE, et al. Functional annotation of a novel NFKB1 promoter polymorphism that increases risk for ulcerative colitis. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2004 Jan 1;13(1):35-45.

(272) Borm ME, van Bodegraven AA, Mulder CJ, Kraal G, Bouma G. A NFKB1 promoter polymorphism is involved in susceptibility to ulcerative colitis. Int.J.Immunogenet. 2005 Dec;32(6):401-405.

(273) Szamosi T, Lakatos PL, Hungarian IBD Study Group, Szilvasi A, Lakatos L, Kovacs A, et al. The 3'UTR NFKBIA variant is associated with extensive colitis in Hungarian IBD patients. Dig.Dis.Sci. 2009 Feb;54(2):351-359.

(274) Achkar J, Duerr R. The expanding universe of inflammatory bowel disease genetics. Curr.Opin.Gastroenterol. 2008 07;24(4):429-34.

(275) Chen F, Castranova V, Shi X, Demers LM. New insights into the role of nuclear factor-kappaB, a ubiquitous transcription factor in the initiation of diseases. Clin.Chem. 1999 Jan;45(1):7-17.

(276) Weil R, Israel A. Deciphering the pathway from the TCR to NF-kappaB. Cell Death Differ. 2006 May;13(5):826-833.

(277) Schmitz ML, Mattioli I, Buss H, Kracht M. NF-kappaB: a multifaceted transcription factor regulated at several levels. Chembiochem 2004 Oct 4;5(10):1348-1358.

(278) Li H, Gao L, Shen Z, Li CY, Li K, Li M, et al. Association study of NFKB1 and SUMO4 polymorphisms in Chinese patients with psoriasis vulgaris. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 2008 Sep;300(8):425-433.

(279) Abdou AG, Hanout HM. Evaluation of survivin and NF-kappaB in psoriasis, an immunohistochemical study. J.Cutan.Pathol. 2008 May;35(5):445-451.

(280) Yang J, Lin Y, Guo Z, Cheng J, Huang J, Deng L. The essential role of MEKK3 in TNF-induced NF-kappaB activation. Nat.Immunol. 2001 07;2(7):620-4.

(281) Li H, Lin X. Positive and negative signaling components involved in TNFalpha-induced NF-kappaB activation. Cytokine 2008 01;41(1):1-8.

(282) Cho M, Jung-Won Kang, Young-Mee Moon, Hyo-Jung Nam, Joo-Yeon Jhun, Seong-Beom Heo. STAT3 and NF-kappaB signal pathway is required for IL-23-mediated IL-17 production in spontaneous arthritis animal model IL-1 receptor antagonist-deficient mice. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950) 2006 05/01;176(9):5652-61.

(283) Chan JR, Blumenschein W, Murphy E, Diveu C, Wiekowski M, Abbondanzo S. IL-23 stimulates epidermal hyperplasia via TNF and IL-20R2-dependent mechanisms with implications for psoriasis pathogenesis. J.Exp.Med. 2006 11/27;203(12):2577-87.

(284) Mathew CG,. New links to the pathogenesis of Crohn disease provided by genome-wide association scans. Nature reviews.Genetics 2008 01;9(1):9-14.

(285) Li Y, Begovich. Unraveling the genetics of complex diseases: Susceptibility genes for rheumatoid arthritis and psoriasis. Semin.Immunol. 2009 05/13.

(286) Majithia V, Stephen AG. Rheumatoid arthritis: diagnosis and management. Am.J.Med. 2007 11;120(11):936-9.

(287) Harris ED. In: Harris E, Budd R, Firestein G, Genovese M, Sergent J, Ruddy S, et al, editors. Kelley's Textbook of Rheumatology. 7th Edition ed. Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 2005. p. 1043-1078.

(288) Gladman DD,. Psoriatic arthritis. Rheum.Dis.Clin.North Am. 1998 11;24(4):829-x.

(289) van Gaalen FA, S PL, W JvV, B AdJ, F CB, C LV. Autoantibodies to cyclic citrullinated peptides predict progression to rheumatoid arthritis in patients with undifferentiated arthritis: a prospective cohort study. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 03;50(3):709-15.

(290) Stastny P,. Association of the B-cell alloantigen DRw4 with rheumatoid arthritis. N.Engl.J.Med. 1978 04/20;298(16):869-71.

(291) Gregersen PK, Silver J, R JW. The shared epitope hypothesis. An approach to understanding the molecular genetics of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1987 11;30(11):1205-13.

(292) Hinks A, Barton A, John S, Bruce I, Hawkins C, Christopher EMG. Association between the PTPN22 gene and rheumatoid arthritis and juvenile idiopathic arthritis in a UK population: further support that PTPN22 is an autoimmunity gene. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 06;52(6):1694-9.

(293) Plenge RM, Padyukov L, Elaine FR, Purcell S, Annette TL, Elizabeth WK. Replication of putative candidate-gene associations with rheumatoid arthritis in >4,000 samples from North America and Sweden: association of susceptibility with PTPN22, CTLA4, and PADI4. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2005 12;77(6):1044-60.

(294) van Oene M, Richard FW, Liu X, Yazdanpanah M, Gu X, Newman B. Association of the lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase R620W variant with rheumatoid arthritis, but not Crohn's disease, in Canadian populations. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 07;52(7):1993-8.

(295) Bowes J, Barton A. Recent advances in the genetics of RA susceptibility. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2008 04;47(4):399-402.

(296) Plenge RM,. Recent progress in rheumatoid arthritis genetics: one step towards improved patient care. Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2009 05;21(3):262-71.

(297) Barton A, Thomson W, Ke X, Eyre S, Hinks A, Bowes J. Rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility loci at chromosomes 10p15, 12q13 and 22q13. Nat.Genet. 2008 10;40(10):1156-9.

(298) Raychaudhuri S, Elaine FR, Annette TL, Hackett R, Guiducci C, NoëI PB. Common variants at CD40 and other loci confer risk of rheumatoid arthritis. Nat.Genet. 2008 10;40(10):1216-23.

(299) Somers EC, Sara LT, Smeeth L, Andrew JH. Autoimmune diseases cooccurring within individuals and within families: a systematic review. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass.) 2006 03;17(2):202-17.

(300) Zhernakova A, Cleo CvD, Wijmenga C. Detecting shared pathogenesis from the shared genetics of immune-related diseases. Nature reviews.Genetics 2009 01;10(1):43-55.

(301) Martin LJ, M HC, Koertvelyessy T, Keeping D, Collins M, Huntsman R. The population structure of ten Newfoundland outports. Hum.Biol. 2000 12;72(6):997-1016.

(302) Mannion JJ. The Peopling of Newfoundland. Toronto: University of Toronto Press; 1986.

(303) Bear JC, T FN, J CK, W HM, A AP, V MK. Persistent genetic isolation in outport Newfoundland. Am.J.Med.Genet. 1987 08;27(4):807-30.

(304) Service S, DeYoung J, Karayiorgou M, J LR, Pretorious H, Bedoya G. Magnitude and distribution of linkage disequilibrium in population isolates and implications for genome-wide association studies. Nat.Genet. 2006 05;38(5):556-60.

(305) Rahman P, Jones A, Curtis J, Bartlett S, Peddle L, Bridget AF. The Newfoundland population: a unique resource for genetic investigation of complex diseases. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2003 10/15;12 Spec No 2:R167-72.

(306) Bear JC, T FN, J CK, W HM, A AP, V MK. Inbreeding in outport Newfoundland. Am.J.Med.Genet. 1988 03;29(3):649-60.

(307) Promega Corporation, Madison, WI, USA. Promega DNA Extraction Protocol. Available at: http://www.promega.com/tbs/tm050/tm050.pdf.

(308) Little DP, Braun A, B Darnhofer-Demar, Frilling A, Li Y, R TM. Detection of RET proto-oncogene codon 634 mutations using mass spectrometry. J.Mol.Med. 1997 10;75(10):745-50.

(309) Little DP, Braun A, B Darnhofer-Demar, H KA¶ster. Identification of apolipoprotein E polymorphisms using temperature cycled primer oligo base extension and mass spectrometry. European journal of clinical chemistry and clinical biochemistry : journal of the Forum of European Clinical Chemistry Societies 1997 07;35(7):545-8.

264
(310) Ross P, Hall L, Smirnov I, Haff L. High level multiplex genotyping by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Nat.Biotechnol. 1998 12;16(13):1347-51.

(311) Buetow KH, Edmonson M, MacDonald R, Clifford R, Yip P, Kelley J. Highthroughput development and characterization of a genomewide collection of gene-based single nucleotide polymorphism markers by chip-based matrixassisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 2001 01/16;98(2):581-4.

(312) Beckman Coulter Inc., Fullerton, CA, USA. Beckman Coulter FragmentAnalysisProtocol.Availableat:http://www.beckmancoulter.com/literature/Bioresearch/608113-AK.pdf.

(313) Skol AD, Laura JS, Gonçalo RA, Boehnke M. Joint analysis is more efficient than replication-based analysis for two-stage genome-wide association studies. Nat.Genet. 2006 02;38(2):209-13.

(314) Kane D, FitzGerald O. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: a clinical, genetic, and histopathologic perspective. Curr.Rheumatol.Rep. 2004 08;6(4):292-8.

(315) Danning CL, G GI, Hitchon C, M RG, D TB, I BM. Macrophage-derived cytokine and nuclear factor kappaB p65 expression in synovial membrane and skin of patients with psoriatic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2000 06;43(6):1244-56.

(316) Mease P,. TNFalpha therapy in psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2004 07;63(7):755-8.

(317) Excoffier L, Slatkin M. Maximum-likelihood estimation of molecular haplotype frequencies in a diploid population. Mol.Biol.Evol. 1995 09;12(5):921-7.

(318) Sasieni PD,. From genotypes to genes: doubling the sample size. Biometrics 1997 12;53(4):1253-61.

(319) Schaid DJ,. Power and sample size for testing associations of haplotypes with complex traits. Ann.Hum.Genet. 2006 01;70:116-30.

(320) Hamamoto Y, Tateno H, Ishida T, Muto M. Lack of association between promoter polymorphism of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene and psoriatic arthritis in Japanese patients. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2000 12;115(6):1162-4.

(321) Ioannidis JP, E EN, T AT, D GC. Replication validity of genetic association studies. Nat.Genet. 2001 11;29(3):306-9.

(322) Hirschhorn JN, Lohmueller K, Byrne E, Hirschhorn K. A comprehensive review of genetic association studies. Genetics in medicine : official journal of the American College of Medical Genetics 2002 03;4(2):45-61.

(323) Huizinga TWJ, David SP, Robert PK. Associations, populations, and the truth: recommendations for genetic association studies in Arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 07;50(7):2066-71.

(324) Bauer S, Groh V, Wu J, Steinle A, J HP, L LL. Activation of NK cells and T cells by NKG2D, a receptor for stress-inducible MICA. Science (New York, N.Y.) 1999 07/30;285(5428):727-9.

(325) Steinle A, Li P, D LM, Groh V, L LL, R KS. Interactions of human NKG2D with its ligands MICA, MICB, and homologs of the mouse RAE-1 protein family. Immunogenetics 2001 05;53(4):279-87.

(326) Bahram S, Bresnahan M, D EG, Spies T. A second lineage of mammalian major histocompatibility complex class I genes. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 1994 07/05;91(14):6259-63.

(327) Bahram S, Mizuki N, Inoko H, Spies T. Nucleotide sequence of the human MHC class I MICA gene. Immunogenetics 1996;44(1):80-1.

(328) Grubic Z, Peric P, Eeeuk-Jelicic E, Zunec R, Stingl K, Curkovic B. The MICA-A4 triplet repeats polymorphism in the transmembrane region confers additional risk for development of psoriatic arthritis in the Croatian population. European journal of immunogenetics : official journal of the British Society for Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics 2004 04;31(2):93-8.

(329) Groh V, Steinle A, Bauer S, Spies T. Recognition of stress-induced MHC molecules by intestinal epithelial gammadelta T cells. Science (New York, N.Y.) 1998 03/13;279(5357):1737-40.

(330) Fischer G, J RA, M Pérez-RodrÃguez, McWhinnie A, S GM, P JT. Sequence-specific oligonucleotide probing for MICB alleles reveals associations with MICA and HLA-B. Immunogenetics 2000 06;51(7):591-9.

(331) Williams F, Meenagh A, Sleator C, Cook D, Marcelo Fernandez-Vina, Anne MB. Activating killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor gene KIR2DS1 is associated with psoriatic arthritis. Hum.Immunol. 2005 07;66(7):836-41.

(332) Fdez-Morera J, Rodrigo L, Antonio LÃ³pez-VÃ_izquez, Sandra RR, JesÃ^os MartÃnez-Borra, Pilar Niño. MHC class I chain-related gene A transmembrane polymorphism modulates the extension of ulcerative colitis. Hum.Immunol. 2003 08;64(8):816-22.

(333) Ding Y, Xia B, Min Lü, Zhang Y, Li J, Ye M. MHC class I chain-related gene A-A5.1 allele is associated with ulcerative colitis in Chinese population. Clin.Exp.Immunol. 2005 10;142(1):193-8.

(334) Lee YJ, F YH, C HW, F SL, K WT, C HH. Polymorphism in the transmembrane region of the MICA gene and type 1 diabetes. J.Pediatr.Endocrinol. 2000 05;13(5):489-96.

(335) Fang M, Chen R, Cai Q, Duan S, Lv K, Cheng N. Association of HLA genes with ankylosing spondylitis in Han population of eastern China. Scand.J.Immunol. 2007 06;65(6):559-66. (336) Fojtikova M, Stolfa J, Novota P, Cejkova P, Dostal C, Cerna M. HLA-Cw*06 class I region rather than MICA is associated with psoriatic arthritis in Czech population. Rheumatol.Int. 2009 01/28.

(337) Tazi Ahnini R, N JC, M JC, J BM, S GK, G WD. Novel genetic association between the corneodesmosin (MHC S) gene and susceptibility to psoriasis. Hum.Mol.Genet. 1999 06;8(6):1135-40.

(338) Schmitt-Egenolf M, Windemuth C, H CH, M Albis-Camps, B vE, Wienker T. Comparative association analysis reveals that corneodesmosin is more closely associated with psoriasis than HLA-Cw*0602-B*5701 in German families. Tissue Antigens 2001 05;57(5):440-6.

(339) Asumalahti K, Laitinen T, R Itkonen-Vatjus, M LL, Suomela S, Snellman E. A candidate gene for psoriasis near HLA-C, HCR (Pg8), is highly polymorphic with a disease-associated susceptibility allele. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2000 06/12;9(10):1533-42.

(340) Capon F, Allen MH, Ameen M, Burden AD, Tillman D, Barker JN, et al. A synonymous SNP of the corneodesmosin gene leads to increased mRNA stability and demonstrates association with psoriasis across diverse ethnic groups. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2004 Oct 15;13(20):2361-2368.

(341) Gladman DD,. Current concepts in psoriatic arthritis. Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2002 07;14(4):361-6.

(342) Cox DR. Regression models and life tables (with discussion). J R Statist Soc B 1972;34:187-220.

(343) Nistor I, Rajan PN, Stuart P, Hiremagalore R, Rachel AT, Jenisch S. Protein tyrosine phosphatase gene PTPN22 polymorphism in psoriasis: lack of evidence for association. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2005 08;125(2):395-6.

(344) Taubert H, Thamm B, Meye A, Bartel F, A KR, Heidenreich D. The p53 status in juvenile chronic arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Clin.Exp.Immunol. 2000 11;122(2):264-9.

(345) Lee YH, Y RK, J DJ, Sohn J, G GS. p53 codon 72 polymorphism and rheumatoid arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2001 11;28(11):2392-4.

(346) Ritchlin C, S AH, Hicks D, Cappuccio J, C KO, R JL. Patterns of cytokine production in psoriatic synovium. J.Rheumatol. 1998 08;25(8):1544-52.

(347) Maksymowych WP, Rahman P, Jeff PR, Dafna DG, Peddle L, Robert DI. Association of the IL1 gene cluster with susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis: an analysis of three Canadian populations. Arthritis Rheum. 2006 03;54(3):974-85.

(348) Purcell S, Neale B, Kathe Todd-Brown, Thomas L, Manuel ARF, Bender D. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2007 09;81(3):559-75. (349) Stephens M, N JS, Donnelly P. A new statistical method for haplotype reconstruction from population data. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2001 04;68(4):978-89.

(350) Aksentijevich I, Seth LM, Polly JF, Dancey P, Frenkel J, Annet vR. An autoinflammatory disease with deficiency of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist. N.Engl.J.Med. 2009 06/04;360(23):2426-37.

(351) Reddy S, Jia S, Geoffrey R, Lorier R, Suchi M, Broeckel U. An autoinflammatory disease due to homozygous deletion of the IL1RN locus. N.Engl.J.Med. 2009 06/04;360(23):2438-44.

(352) Dinarello CA,. Interleukin-1beta and the autoinflammatory diseases. N.Engl.J.Med. 2009 06/04;360(23):2467-70.

(353) Kim T, Tae-Hwan Kim, Hyun-Joo Lee, Peddle L, Rahman P, Hu P. Interleukin 1 polymorphisms in patients with ankylosing spondylitis in Korea. J.Rheumatol. 2008 08;35(8):1603-8.

(354) Chou C, A ET, J CCW, W CT, B PW, M AB. Replication of association of IL1 gene complex members with ankylosing spondylitis in Taiwanese Chinese. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2006 08;65(8):1106-9.

(355) Ollier B, Worthington J. Happy families. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 1997 03;56(3):149-50. (356) Yamamoto Y, R BG. Role of the NF-kappaB pathway in the pathogenesis of human disease states. Curr.Mol.Med. 2001 07;1(3):287-96.

(357) Benito MJ, Murphy E, Evelyn PM, Wim B van dB, FitzGerald O, Bresnihan B. Increased synovial tissue NF-kappa B1 expression at sites adjacent to the cartilage-pannus junction in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2004 06;50(6):1781-7.

(358) Stephens M, Donnelly P. A comparison of bayesian methods for haplotype reconstruction from population genotype data. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2003 11;73(5):1162-9.

(359) Firestein GS, NF-kappaB: Holy Grail for rheumatoid arthritis? Arthritis Rheum. 2004 08;50(8):2381-6.

(360) Li Q, Inder MV. NF-kappaB regulation in the immune system. Nature reviews.Immunology 2002 10;2(10):725-34.

(361) Nakshatri H, P Bhat-Nakshatri, D AM, R JG, G WS. Constitutive activation of NF-kappaB during progression of breast cancer to hormone-independent growth. Mol.Cell.Biol. 1997 07;17(7):3629-39.

(362) Baldwin AS,. The NF-kappa B and I kappa B proteins: new discoveries and insights. Annu.Rev.Immunol. 1996;14:649-83.

(363) Vyse TJ, J AT. Genetic analysis of autoimmune disease. Cell 1996 05/03;85(3):311-8.

(364) Becker KG, R MS, J EB, Freidlin B, W EB, H FM. Clustering of non-major histocompatibility complex susceptibility candidate loci in human autoimmune diseases. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 1998 08/18;95(17):9979-84.

(365) Helms C, Cao L, James GK, Ellen MW, Chamian F, Gordon D. A putative RUNX1 binding site variant between SLC9A3R1 and NAT9 is associated with susceptibility to psoriasis. Nat.Genet. 2003 12;35(4):349-56.

(366) Tokuhiro S, Yamada R, Chang X, Suzuki A, Kochi Y, Sawada T. An intronic SNP in a RUNX1 binding site of SLC22A4, encoding an organic cation transporter, is associated with rheumatoid arthritis. Nat.Genet. 2003 12;35(4):341-8.

(367) Kauppi P, K Lindblad-Toh, Sevon P, H TT, J DR, Villapakkam A. A secondgeneration association study of the 5q31 cytokine gene cluster and the interleukin-4 receptor in asthma. Genomics 2001 09;77(1-2):35-42.

(368) Prokunina L, Casimiro Castillejo-LÃ³pez, Oberg F, Gunnarsson I, Berg L, Magnusson V. A regulatory polymorphism in PDCD1 is associated with susceptibility to systemic lupus erythematosus in humans. Nat.Genet. 2002 12;32(4):666-9.

273

(369) Ho P, Bowes J, Eyre S. Association of the Organic Cation Transporter (OCTN) SLC22A4 and SLC22A5 genes in Psoriatic Arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2004;10.

(370) Lamhonwah A, Skaug J, Stephen WS, Tein I. A third human carnitine/organic cation transporter (OCTN3) as a candidate for the 5q31 Crohn's disease locus (IBD5). Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 2003 01/31;301(1):98-101.

(371) Butt C, Gladman D, Rahman P. PPAR-gamma gene polymorphisms and psoriatic arthritis. J.Rheumatol. 2006 08;33(8):1631-3.

(372) Helmlinger G, Endo M, Ferrara N, Hlatky L, R KJ. Formation of endothelial cell networks. Nature 2000 05/11;405(6783):139-41.

(373) Relf M, LeJeune S, P AS, Fox S, Smith K, Leek R. Expression of the angiogenic factors vascular endothelial cell growth factor, acidic and basic fibroblast growth factor, tumor growth factor beta-1, platelet-derived endothelial cell growth factor, placenta growth factor, and pleiotrophin in human primary breast cancer and its relation to angiogenesis. Cancer Res. 1997 03/01;57(5):963-9.

(374) Ortega S, Ittmann M, S HT, Ehrlich M, Basilico C. Neuronal defects and delayed wound healing in mice lacking fibroblast growth factor 2. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 1998 05/12;95(10):5672-7.

274

(375) Bos PK, G JvO, D AF, J AV, H LV. Growth factor expression in cartilage wound healing: temporal and spatial immunolocalization in a rabbit auricular cartilage wound model. Osteoarthr.Cartil. 2001 05;9(4):382-9.

(376) Bhora FY, B JD, Batzri S, H MA, B LB, A NS. Effect of growth factors on cell proliferation and epithelialization in human skin. J.Surg.Res. 1995 08;59(2):236-44.

(377) De Boer WI, A BH, Izadifar V, B Muscatelli-Groux, T H Van dK, D KC. Expression and functions of EGF, FGF and TGFbeta-growth-factor family members and their receptors in invasive human transitional-cell-carcinoma cells. International journal of cancer.Journal international du cancer 1997 04/10;71(2):284-91.

(378) Drouart M, Saas P, Billot M, J-P Cedoz, Tiberghien P, Wendling D. High serum vascular endothelial growth factor correlates with disease activity of spondylarthropathies. Clin.Exp.Immunol. 2003 04;132(1):158-62.

(379) Young HS, Angela MS, Bhushan M, Paul ECB, Christopher EMG. Singlenucleotide polymorphisms of vascular endothelial growth factor in psoriasis of early onset. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2004 01;122(1):209-15.

(380) Mastroianni A, Minutilli E, Mussi A, Bordignon V, Trento E, G D'Agosto.Cytokine profiles during infliximab monotherapy in psoriatic arthritis.Br.J.Dermatol. 2005 09;153(3):531-6.

(381) Barile S, Medda E, L NisticÃ², Bordignon V, P Cordiali-Fei, Carducci M. Vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphisms increase the risk to develop psoriasis. Exp.Dermatol. 2006 05;15(5):368-76.

(382) Han SW, G WK, J SS, S JK, K HS, J YP. VEGF gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2004 09;43(9):1173-7.

(383) Seo JS, S-S Lee, S IK, W HR, K HS, S UK. Influence of VEGF gene polymorphisms on the severity of ankylosing spondylitis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2005 10;44(10):1299-302.

(384) Thomas JW, T HT, V MB, G GM. Acidic fibroblast growth factor in synovial cells. Arthritis Rheum. 2000 10;43(10):2152-9.

(385) Yamashita A, Yonemitsu Y, Okano S, Nakagawa K, Nakashima Y, Irisa T. Fibroblast growth factor-2 determines severity of joint disease in adjuvantinduced arthritis in rats. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.: 1950) 2002 01/01;168(1):450-7.

(386) Shahbazi M, Pravica V, Nasreen N, Fakhoury H, Anthony AF, Richard CS. Association between functional polymorphism in EGF gene and malignant melanoma. Lancet 2002 02/02;359(9304):397-401. (387) Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, M JD. Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. Bioinformatics 2005 01/15;21(2):263-5.

(388) Sham PC, F VR, Knight J, Makoff A, North B, Curtis D. Haplotype association analysis of discrete and continuous traits using mixture of regression models. Behav.Genet. 2004 03;34(2):207-14.

(389) Medical Research Council Biostatistics Unit, Cambridge. Winbugs. Available at: <u>www.mrc-bsu.cam.ac.uk/bugs</u>.

(390) Rueda B, M AG, M AL, A GarcÃa, M FernÃindez-Arquero, Balsa A. Analysis of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) functional variants in rheumatoid arthritis. Hum.Immunol. 2005 08;66(8):864-8.

(391) Rueda B, Miguel AL, Maria JL, Carlos Garcia-Porrua, Javier MartÃn, Miguel AG. A functional variant of vascular endothelial growth factor is associated with severe ischemic complications in giant cell arteritis. J.Rheumatol. 2005 09;32(9):1737-41.

(392) Rueda B, Cristina Perez-Armengol, Sandra Lopez-Lopez, Carlos Garcia-Porrua, Javier MartÃn, Miguel AG. Association between functional haplotypes of vascular endothelial growth factor and renal complications in Henoch-Schönlein purpura. J.Rheumatol. 2006 01;33(1):69-73. (393) Xia Y, Baum L, C PP, Gérard Siest, Visvikis S. Cardiovascular riskassociated allele frequencies for 15 genes in healthy elderly French and Chinese. Clinical chemistry and laboratory medicine : CCLM / FESCC 2005;43(8):817-22.

(394) Yang H, Chien-Hsin Lin, Chia-Ling Hsu, Shuen-Iu Hung, Jer-Yuan Wu, Wen-Harn Pan. A comparison of major histocompatibility complex SNPs in Han Chinese residing in Taiwan and Caucasians. J.Biomed.Sci. 2006 07;13(4):489-98.

(395) Mori M, Yamada R, Kobayashi K, Kawaida R, Yamamoto K. Ethnic differences in allele frequency of autoimmune-disease-associated SNPs. J.Hum.Genet. 2005;50(5):264-6.

(396) Keshamouni VG, Douglas AA, Raju CR, Michael JN, Anthwal S, Theodore JS. PPAR-gamma activation inhibits angiogenesis by blocking ELR CXC chemokine production in non-small cell lung cancer. Neoplasia (New York, N.Y.) 2005 03;7(3):294-301.

(397) Mingrone G, A VG, Venier A, Peruzzi E, Serri F. Lipid synthesis from the liver in patients with psoriasis. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 1980;268(3):271-6.

(398) Altshuler D, J NH, Klannemark M, C ML, M CV, Nemesh J. The common PPARgamma Pro12Ala polymorphism is associated with decreased risk of type 2 diabetes. Nat.Genet. 2000 09;26(1):76-80.

(399) Yao Q, Nordfors L, Axelsson J, O Heimbürger, A RQ, P BÃjrà ny. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma polymorphisms affect systemic inflammation and survival in end-stage renal disease patients starting renal replacement therapy. Atherosclerosis 2005 09;182(1):105-11.

(400) Kobayashi T, Notoya K, Naito T, Unno S, Nakamura A, Johanne Martel-Pelletier. Pioglitazone, a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma agonist, reduces the progression of experimental osteoarthritis in guinea pigs. Arthritis Rheum. 2005 02;52(2):479-87.

(401) Tomita T, Kakiuchi Y, Philip ST. THR0921, a novel peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma agonist, reduces the severity of collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis research 2006;8(1).

(402) Meirhaeghe A, Amouyel P. Impact of genetic variation of PPARgamma in humans. Mol.Genet.Metab. 2004 09;83(1-2):93-102.

(403) Knouff C, Auwerx J. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma calls for activation in moderation: lessons from genetics and pharmacology. Endocr.Rev. 2004 12;25(6):899-918.

(404) Laakso M,. Gene variants, insulin resistance, and dyslipidaemia. Curr.Opin.Lipidol. 2004 04;15(2):115-20. (405) Schaffler A, Barth N, Schmitz G, Zietz B, Palitzsch KD, Schamerich J. Frequency and significance of Pro12Ala and Pro115Gln polymorphism in gene for peroxisome proliferation-activated receptor-gamma regarding metabolic parameters in a Caucasian cohort. Endocrine 2001 04;14(3):369-73.

(406) Mossner R, Kaiser R, Matern P, Kruger U, Westphal GA, Brockmoller J. Variations in the genes encoding the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and gamma in psoriasis. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 2004 06;296(1):1-5.

(407) Jones DH, Y-Y Kong, J MP. Role of RANKL and RANK in bone loss and arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2002 11;61 Suppl 2:ii32-9.

(408) King RA, Rotter JI, Motulsky AG. The Genetic Basis of Common Diseases Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1992.

(409) The International HapMap Consortium. A haplotype map of the human genome. Nature 2005 10/27;437(7063):1299-320.

(410) Prokopenko I, Zeggini E, Robert LH, Braxton DM, N WR, Akan P. Linkage disequilibrium mapping of the replicated type 2 diabetes linkage signal on chromosome 1q. Diabetes 2009 07;58(7):1704-9.

(411) Lou H, Yeager M, Li H, Jesus GB, Richard BH, Orr N. Fine mapping and functional analysis of a common variant in MSMB on chromosome 10q11.2

associated with prostate cancer susceptibility. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A. 2009 05/12;106(19):7933-8.

(412) Tenesa A, Susan MF, James GDP, Mary EP, Walker M, Haq N. Genomewide association scan identifies a colorectal cancer susceptibility locus on 11q23 and replicates risk loci at 8q24 and 18q21. Nat.Genet. 2008 05;40(5):631-7.

(413) Culverhouse R, Anthony LH, Carol HJ, Brian KS. Gene x gene and gene x environment interactions for complex disorders. BMC proceedings 2007;1 Suppl 1.

(414) Ardlie KG, Kruglyak L, Seielstad M. Patterns of linkage disequilibrium in the human genome. Nature reviews.Genetics 2002 04;3(4):299-309.

(415) Ritchie MD, L WH, Roodi N, L RB, W DD, F FP. Multifactor-dimensionality reduction reveals high-order interactions among estrogen-metabolism genes in sporadic breast cancer. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2001 07;69(1):138-47.

(416) Bafna V, Halldorsson BV, Schwartz R, Clark AG, Istrail S. Haplotypes and informative SNP selection algorithms: don't block out information. Proceedings of the Seventh Annual International Conference on Research in Computational Molecular Biology (RECOMB) 2003:19-23.

(417) Hahn LW, Marylyn DR, Jason HM. Multifactor dimensionality reduction software for detecting gene-gene and gene-environment interactions. Bioinformatics 2003 02/12;19(3):376-82.

(418) Chung Y, Seung YL, Robert CE, Park T. Odds ratio based multifactordimensionality reduction method for detecting gene-gene interactions. Bioinformatics 2007 01/01;23(1):71-6.

(419) de Bakker P,I.W., NoëI PB, Robert RG, Guiducci C, Yelensky R, Jared AD. Transferability of tag SNPs in genetic association studies in multiple populations. Nat.Genet. 2006 11;38(11):1298-303.

(420) Moslehi R, Chatterjee N, Timothy RC, Chen J, Yeager M, Weissfeld J. Cigarette smoking, N-acetyltransferase genes and the risk of advanced colorectal adenoma. Pharmacogenomics 2006 09;7(6):819-29.

(421) Zhang Y, Jun SL. Bayesian inference of epistatic interactions in casecontrol studies. Nat.Genet. 2007 09;39(9):1167-73.

(422) Musani SK, Shriner D, Liu N, Feng R, Christopher SC, Yi N. Detection of gene x gene interactions in genome-wide association studies of human population data. Hum.Hered. 2007;63(2):67-84.

(423) Uddin M, Yu T, Wareham T. A cooperative coevolutionary algorithm for haplotype pattern detection in case-control data. Proceedings of the 3rd Annual Canadian Student Conference on Biomedical Computing 2008.

(424) Rahman P, Siannis F, Butt C, Farewell V, Peddle L, Pellett F. TNFalpha polymorphisms and risk of psoriatic arthritis. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2006 07;65(7):919-23.

(425) Butt C, Peddle L, Greenwood C, Hamilton S, Gladman D, Rahman P. Association of functional variants of PTPN22 and tp53 in psoriatic arthritis: a case-control study. Arthritis research 2006;8(1).

(426) Im W, Kim H, Yun D, Sung-Yum Seo, Se-Ho Park, Richard ML. Cytokine reporter mouse system for screening novel IL12/23 p40-inducing compounds. Mol.Cells 2005 10/31;20(2):288-96.

(427) Zheng Y, Dimitry MD, Valdez P, Kasman I, Jeffrey Eastham-Anderson, Wu J. Interleukin-22, a T(H)17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. Nature 2007 02/08;445(7128):648-51.

(428) Nestle FO, Daniel HK, Barker J. Psoriasis. N.Engl.J.Med. 2009 07/30;361(5):496-509.

(429) Cordell H,. Genome-wide association studies: Detecting gene-gene interactions that underlie human diseases. Nature reviews.Genetics 2009 05/12.

(430) Gauderman WJ. Sample size requirements for matched case-control studies of gene-environment interaction. Stat.Med. 2002 01/15;21(1):35-50.

(431) Abel KJ, Xu J, G YY, R HL, M HM, B LW. Mouse Brca1: localization sequence analysis and identification of evolutionarily conserved domains. Hum.Mol.Genet. 1995 12;4(12):2265-73.

(432) Merner ND, Kathy AH, Annika FMH, Connors S, Vanessa MF, Jörg-Detlef Drenckhahn. Arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy type 5 is a fully penetrant, lethal arrhythmic disorder caused by a missense mutation in the TMEM43 gene. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2008 04;82(4):809-21.

(433) Young TL, M OW, P SP, J SG, Hefferton D, W SD. A founder effect in the newfoundland population reduces the Bardet-Biedl syndrome I (BBS1) interval to 1 cM. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 1999 12;65(6):1680-7.

(434) Spielman RS, R EM, W JE. Transmission test for linkage disequilibrium: the insulin gene region and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM). Am.J.Hum.Genet. 1993 03;52(3):506-16.

(435) Sun F, W DF, Yang Q, M JK. Transmission disequilibrium test (TDT) when only one parent is available: the 1-TDT. Am.J.Epidemiol. 1999 07/01;150(1):97-104.

(436) Levin KA,. Study design V. Case-control studies. Evidence-based dentistry 2006;7(3):83-4.

(437) Schulz KF, David AG. Case-control studies: research in reverse. Lancet 2002 02/02;359(9304):431-4.

(438) Risch NJ,. Searching for genetic determinants in the new millennium. Nature 2000 06/15;405(6788):847-56.

(439) Ardlie KG, Kathryn LL, Seielstad M. Testing for population subdivision and association in four case-control studies. Am.J.Hum.Genet. 2002 08;71(2):304-11.

(440) Freedman ML, Reich D, Kathryn LP, Gavin JM, Andre AM, Patterson N. Assessing the impact of population stratification on genetic association studies. Nat.Genet. 2004 04;36(4):388-93.

(441) Wacholder S, Rothman N, Caporaso N. Counterpoint: bias from population stratification is not a major threat to the validity of conclusions from epidemiological studies of common polymorphisms and cancer. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers 2002 06;11(6):513-20.

(442) Lohmueller KE, Celeste LP, Pike M, Eric SL, Joel NH. Meta-analysis of genetic association studies supports a contribution of common variants to susceptibility to common disease. Nat.Genet. 2003 02;33(2):177-82.

(443) Ozaki K, Ohnishi Y, lida A, Sekine A, Yamada R, Tsunoda T. Functional SNPs in the lymphotoxin-alpha gene that are associated with susceptibility to myocardial infarction. Nat.Genet. 2002 12;32(4):650-4.

(444) Klein RJ, Zeiss C, Emily YC, Jen-Yue Tsai, Richard SS, Haynes C. Complement factor H polymorphism in age-related macular degeneration. Science (New York, N.Y.) 2005 04/15;308(5720):385-9.

(445) Yamazaki K, McGovern D, Ragoussis J, Paolucci M, Butler H, Jewell D. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in TNFSF15 confer susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Hum.Mol.Genet. 2005 11/15;14(22):3499-506.

(446) Cichon S, Craddock N, Daly M, Stephen VF, Pablo VG. Genomewide association studies: history, rationale, and prospects for psychiatric disorders. Am.J.Psychiatry 2009 05;166(5):540-56.

(447) Yoo Y, Bull, Paterson, Waggott, Sun. Were genome-wide linkage studies a waste of time? Exploiting candidate regions within genome-wide association studies. Genet.Epidemiol. 2009 07/22.

(448) Mallbris L, Larsson P, Bergqvist S, Eva Vingård, Granath F, Mona StÃ¥hle. Psoriasis phenotype at disease onset: clinical characterization of 400 adult cases. J.Invest.Dermatol. 2005 03;124(3):499-504.

(449) Mijiyawa M, Oniankitan O, M AK. Spondyloarthropathies in sub-Saharan Africa. Curr.Opin.Rheumatol. 2000 07;12(4):281-6.

(450) Njobvu P, McGill P. Psoriatic arthritis and human immunodeficiency virus infection in Zambia. J.Rheumatol. 2000 07;27(7):1699-702.

(451) Pattison E, B JH, C EMG, A JS, I NB. Environmental risk factors for the development of psoriatic arthritis: results from a case-control study. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 2008 05;67(5):672-6.

(452) Thumboo J, Uramoto K, Mohammed IS, W MO, Cynthia SC, Lawrence EG. Risk factors for the development of psoriatic arthritis: a population based nested case control study. J.Rheumatol. 2002 04;29(4):757-62.

(453) Punzi L, Pianon M, Bertazzolo N, Fagiolo U, Rizzi E, Rossini P. Clinical, laboratory and immunogenetic aspects of post-traumatic psoriatic arthritis: a study of 25 patients. Clin.Exp.Rheumatol. 1998 05;16(3):277-81.

(454) Lindberg E, Tysk C, Andersson K, G JA¤rnerot. Smoking and inflammatory bowel disease. A case control study. Gut 1988 03;29(3):352-7.

(455) Nielsen OH, Jacob TB, Csillag C, Finn CN, JÃ, rgen Olsen. Influence of smoking on colonic gene expression profile in Crohn's disease. PloS one 2009;4(7).

(456) Jankovic S, Raznatovic M, Marinkovic J, Jankovic J, Maksimovic N. Risk factors for psoriasis: A case-control study. J.Dermatol. 2009 06;36(6):328-34.

(457) Averns HL, Oxtoby J, H GT, P WJ, Dziedzic K, P TD. Smoking and outcome in ankylosing spondylitis. Scand.J.Rheumatol. 1996;25(3):138-42.

(458) Ward MM,. Predictors of the progression of functional disability in patients with ankylosing spondylitis. J.Rheumatol. 2002 07;29(7):1420-5.

(459) Costenbader KH, Shun-Chiao Chang, Vivo ID, Plenge R, Elizabeth WK. Genetic polymorphisms in PTPN22, PADI-4, and CTLA-4 and risk for rheumatoid arthritis in two longitudinal cohort studies: evidence of gene-environment interactions with heavy cigarette smoking. Arthritis research 2008;10(3).

(460) Duffin K, Freeny, Schrodi, Wong, Feng, Soltani-Arabshahi. Associationbetween IL13 Polymorphisms and Psoriatic Arthritis Is Modified by Smoking.J.Invest.Dermatol. 2009 06/25.

(461) Heinzen EL, Ge D, Kenneth DC, Jessica MM, Kevin VS, Willow NG. Tissue-specific genetic control of splicing: implications for the study of complex traits. PLoS biology 2008 12/23;6(12).

(462) Stefansson H, Rujescu D, Cichon S, Olli PHP, Ingason A, Steinberg S. Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia. Nature 2008 09/11;455(7210):232-6. (463) Weiss LA, Shen Y, Joshua MK, Dan EA, David TM, Fossdal R. Association between microdeletion and microduplication at 16p11.2 and autism. N.Engl.J.Med. 2008 02/14;358(7):667-75.

(464) Gottlieb B, Lorraine EC, Mitmaker B, Sheiner N, Obrand D, Abraham C. BAK1 gene variation and abdominal aortic aneurysms. Hum.Mutat. 2009 07;30(7):1043-7.

(465) Elder JT,. Genome-wide association scan yields new insights into the immunopathogenesis of psoriasis. Genes Immun. 2009 04;10(3):201-9.

(466) Conrad C, Boyman O, Tonel G, Adrian Tun-Kyi, Laggner U, Antonin dF. Alpha1beta1 integrin is crucial for accumulation of epidermal T cells and the development of psoriasis. Nat.Med. 2007 07;13(7):836-42.

(467) Snelgrove TA, L JP, Stone C, Nofball F, Peddle D, Squire D. Association of COL1A2, COL2A1 and COL9A1 and primary osteoarthritis in a founder population. Clin.Genet. 2005 04;67(4):359-60.

(468) Papp KA, Caro I, Hoi ML, Garovoy M, Philip JM. Efalizumab for the treatment of psoriatic arthritis. J.Cutan.Med.Surg. 2007 03;11(2):57-66.

(469) Viguier M, Richette P, François Aubin, Marie Beylot-Barry, Lahfa M, Bedane C. Onset of psoriatic arthritis in patients treated with efalizumab for moderate to severe psoriasis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008 06;58(6):1796-802.

(470) Sonkoly E, Wei T, Peter CJJ, Annika Sääf, Lundeberg L, Maria Tengvall-Linder. MicroRNAs: novel regulators involved in the pathogenesis of Psoriasis? PloS one 2007;2(7).

(471) Sano S, Keith SC, Carbajal S, Clifford J, Peavey M, Kiguchi K. Stat3 links activated keratinocytes and immunocytes required for development of psoriasis in a novel transgenic mouse model. Nat.Med. 2005 01;11(1):43-9.

(472) de Cid R, Eva Riveira-Munoz, Patrick LJMZ, Robarge J, Liao W, Emma ND. Deletion of the late cornified envelope LCE3B and LCE3C genes as a susceptibility factor for psoriasis. Nat.Genet. 2009 02;41(2):211-5.

(473) Hollox EJ, Huffmeier U, Patrick LJMZ, Palla R, JesÃ^os Lascorz, Diana Rodijk-Olthuis. Psoriasis is associated with increased beta-defensin genomic copy number. Nat.Genet. 2008 01;40(1):23-5.

(474) Estivill X, LluÃs Armengol. Copy number variants and common disorders: filling the gaps and exploring complexity in genome-wide association studies. PLoS genetics 2007 10;3(10):1787-99.

(475) Redon R, Ishikawa S, Karen RF, Feuk L, George HP, T DA. Global variation in copy number in the human genome. Nature 2006 11/23;444(7118):444-54.

(476) Feuk L, Andrew RC, Stephen WS. Structural variation in the human genome. Nature reviews. Genetics 2006 02;7(2):85-97.

(477) Olivieri I, Padula A, Salvatore D'Angelo, Maria SC. Psoriatic Arthritis sine Psoriasis. The Journal of rheumatology.Supplement 2009 08;83:28-9.

(478) Scarpa R, Cosentini E, Manguso F, Oriente A, Peluso R, Atteno M. Clinical and genetic aspects of psoriatic arthritis "sine psoriasis". J.Rheumatol. 2003 12;30(12):2638-40.

(479) Potter MA, Jong KA. A cooperative coevolutionary approach to function optimization, In Proceedings of the Third Conference on Parallel Problem Solving. Nature 1994:249-257.

(480) Jong KA, Potter MA. Evolving complex structures via co-operative coevolution. Evolutionary Programming IV: Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Conference on Evolutionary Programming 1995:307-317.

(481) Lohn JD, Kraus WF, Haith GL. Comparing a coevolutionary algorithm for multiobjective optimization. Proceedings of the IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation 2002(1157):1162.

(482) Ritchie MD, Lance WH, Jason HM. Power of multifactor dimensionality reduction for detecting gene-gene interactions in the presence of genotyping

error, missing data, phenocopy, and genetic heterogeneity. Genet.Epidemiol. 2003 02;24(2):150-7.

(483) S. W. Mahfoud. Niching methods for genetic algorithmsUniversity of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign; 1995.

(484) Welch WJ. Construction of permutation tests. Journal of the American Statistical Association 1990;85(411):693-698.

(485) Patil N, A JB, D AH, W AB, J MD, C RH. Blocks of limited haplotype diversity revealed by high-resolution scanning of human chromosome 21. Science (New York, N.Y.) 2001 11/23;294(5547):1719-23.

(486) Yu T, Wilkinson D, Clark J, Sullivan M. Evolving finite state transducers to interpret deepwater reservoir depositional environments. Proceedings of the IEEE World Congress on Computational Intelligence, Hong Kong 2008:3490-3497.

(487) Maksymowych WP, Rahman P, Jeff PR, Dafna DG, Peddle L, Robert DI. Association of the IL1 gene cluster with susceptibility to ankylosing spondylitis: an analysis of three Canadian populations. Arthritis Rheum. 2006 03;54(3):974-85.

(488) Fukasawa M, Aoki M, Yamada K, Yoshimi Iwayama-Shigeno, Takao H, Meerabux J. Case-control association study of human netrin G1 gene in Japanese schizophrenia. J.Med.Dent.Sci. 2004 06;51(2):121-8. (489) Aoki-Suzuki M, Yamada K, Meerabux J, Yoshimi Iwayama-Shigeno, Ohba H, Iwamoto K. A family-based association study and gene expression analyses of netrin-G1 and -G2 genes in schizophrenia. Biol.Psychiatry 2005 02/15;57(4):382-93.



Appendix 1

Epistasis algorithm and

validation

Introductory Note

The algorithm which follows was originally written by Mr. Mohammed Uddin as part of his Master's dissertation (2008). The algorithm is reprinted here with his kind permission. Mr. Uddin remains the sole copyright holder of this algorithm, and it is entirely his intellectual property.

Co-operative Coevolutionary Algorithm (CCA)

There is no recognized single best method to detect gene-gene interactions comprehensively. Moreover, it is not feasible to perform exhaustive search on non-trivial amounts of single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) data to detect gene-gene interaction. A case-control cohort consists of *m* case and *m'* control individuals for a panel of *n* SNPs; hence, the case and control matrices *M* and *M'* consist of 2m and 2m' haplotype-rows, respectively, and *n* SNP-columns. In each column, let 1 and 0 denote the major and minor alleles, respectively, of the SNP associated with that column and "—" denote a missing value. The size of the search space of all haplotypes with contiguous and non-contiguous SNPs in *M* and *M'* is at least 2" (each row in *M* and *M'* is identical) and at most $(2m \times 2m')2^n$ (each row in *M* and *M'* is different). Given the size of this search space in a quick yet approximately comprehensive manner. A genetic algorithm (which

approximates optimal solutions by iteratively evolving a population of initially random solutions) is one such type of algorithm. We use a variant of standard genetic algorithms called cooperative co-evolutionary genetic algorithms (CCA), which were defined by Potter et al. (479). The main distinction between a standard genetic algorithm and a CCA is that the latter simultaneously evolves multiple subpopulations, where each subpopulation evolves a portion of a solution for the given problem Π and members of these subpopulations are combined to create complete solutions for Π . Since each subpopulation's search space is smaller than the complete solution search space, CCA may find better solutions faster than standard genetic algorithms (480), and seems in practice to give better performance for various complex problems (481). Pseudocode for our CCA for detecting allelic interactions of genes from case-control haplotype data is shown in Figure 1. In this algorithm, each member x of subpopulation S_{k} corresponds to a haplotype-fragment over a certain set of contiguous SNPs. This haplotype-fragment is encoded as a vector of subpopulation-specific length $l_{(S_{2})}$ such that there is a 1, 0, or * at each position, where 1 and 0 represent the major and minor alleles of the SNP associated with that position and * means that this SNP is not included in the haplotype-fragment. A complete solution is a concatenation of subpopulation members forming a vector of length n such that here is a 1, 0, or * at each position. Details of the central aspects of and operations in this algorithm are given in the following subsections.

1. gen = 0

2.	for each subpopulation S_k ,
3.	randomly generate initial subpopulation members, i.e., $S_{\{k,0\}}$
4.	while $(gen < gen_{max})$
5.	for each subpopulation $S_{\{k,gen\}}$
6.	select parent member(s) from $S_{\{k,gen\}}$ and apply genetic operators
7.	perform best member collaboration to form a complete solution $C_{x,i}$
8.	for each member x of $S_{\{k,gen\}}$
9.	evaluate fitness of x
10	D. if (fitness of $x > t$)
11	1. compute Haplotype Risk Ratio (HRR) for $C_{x,i}$ and perform Permutation Test
12	2. apply Niching
13	3. perform Selection
14	4. gen = gen + 1
er	nd.

Genetic Operators

We use two genetic operators in our CCA. The first operator (one-point crossover) is applied to a pair of parents in a subpopulation to produce an offspring. A random point r is drawn from the range 1 to l, where l is length of the members in that subpopulation. The offspring is produced by copying positions 0 to r-1 from the first parent and positions r to l from the second parent. The second operator (mutation) is applied to a single parent to produce an offspring, and is an adaptation of the one-point bit-flip mutation operator. A position in the parent's vector is chosen randomly and that position is flipped by the following rules:

- if there is a 1, the bit is flipped to 0
- if there is a 0, the bit is flipped to *

• if there is a *, the bit is flipped to 1.

We have used random selection to select parents for genetic operator application in line 6 of the algorithm. The proposed CCA is steady-state, such that parents and offspring compete with each other to remain $\ln S_k$ after the offspring are created. In particular, the fittest pair of the two parents and the offspring (in the case of crossover) and the fittest of the parent and the offspring (in the case of mutation) is selected and kept for subsequent processing.

Collaboration

Collaboration is a mechanism where a member from each subpopulation is picked to form a complete solution. We use the best member collaboration method proposed by De Jong et al. (480). In best member collaboration, the fittest member of each subpopulation is chosen as that subpopulation's representative. Each member x of a subpopulation is then combined with the provided representatives of other subpopulations to form a complete solution. The fitness of this solution becomes the fitness of x and is not shared with representatives of other subpopulations that participated in the collaboration. In our CCA, this process is first done relative to S_1 , followed by S_2 , and continuing to the other subpopulations.

Complete-Solution Fitness Evaluation

Our fitness function for complete solutions is based on the MDR approach proposed by Ritchie et al. for assessing the significance of haplotypes in casecontrol SNP data (482). This approach computes case-control frequency differences for each multilocus genotype and if a difference exceeds a specified threshold, that haplotype is considered significant. Similarly, we define the fitness of a complete solution haplotype $C_{x,t}$ in terms of case-control frequency differences as follows:

$$f(C_{x,i}) = \left| fr(M, C_{x,i}) - fr(M', C_{x,i}) \right|$$
(2)

This in turn relies on estimates of haplotype frequencies specific to a case or control matrix M, which are computed as

$$fr(M, C_{x,i}) = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{2m} \prod_{y=1}^{n} F(C_{x,i}, j, y)}{2m}$$
(3)

where,

$$F(C_{x,j}, j, y) = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } M[j, y] = C_{x,j}[y] \text{ and } C_{x,j}[y] \neq * \\ Pval(M, j, C_{x,j}[y], & \text{if } M[j, y] = - \text{ and } C_{x,j}[y] \neq * \\ 0, & \text{if } M[j, y] \neq C_{x,j}[y] \text{ and } C_{x,j}[y] \neq * \end{cases}$$
(4)

Equation 3 computes the frequencies by scanning the Cx,i and ignores the computation for the positions $C_{x,i}[y] = *$, where $y \le n$. Hence, this computation allows the algorithm to compute frequency for haplotypes with non-adjacent SNPs from matrix *M*. Frequency is computed by scanning each row in matrix *M*, one row at a time, and matching the content of each position with the content of $C_{x,i}$ at the corresponding position as specified in Equation 4. Function $Pval(M, j, C_{x,i}[y])$ is invoked when there is missing data in the matrix *M*. The

easiest and most commonly-used approach is to simply ignore such positions, i.e., $Pval(M, j, C_{x,i}[y]) = 0$; however, our algorithm uses a novel and much more intelligent approach that is described in a later section.

Niching

Maintaining the diversity of members in a subpopulation helps prevent the members of that subpopulation from prematurely converging to a local optimum as that subpopulation evolves. Niching is a method that maintains diversity and prohibits different members of a subpopulation from crowding into the same area of the solution search space (483). Our algorithm implements niching using the popular fitness sharing technique. This technique computes, for each subpopulation member *x*, the Hamming distance between *x* and all other members of a subpopulation and applies a fitness-reduction penalty to all other members that are close to *x*. As this penalty reduces the probability of a member being selected for the next generation, a high penalty rate can prematurely remove a useful member from the subpopulation and hence misdirect the evolutionary search. Therefore, we use a relatively moderate penalty rate of 15%.

Measures of Haplotype Significance
Several measures of haplotype frequency difference significance are computed for the purpose of assessing the quality of derived haplotypes but do not affect the haplotypes derived by the CCA, i.e., these measures are not part of fitness evaluation or subpopulation evolution. After haplotype frequency estimation, the Haplotype Risk Ratio (HRR) is computed for each $C_{x,i}$, and Pearson's χ^2 test (1 d.f.) issued to quantify the significance level of each HRR value. No test for multiple corrections exists relative to the large number of tests performed by the CCA in each generation. Hence, we have applied the standard permutation test to reduce type 1 error (484). AS the permutation test is computationally expensive, it is only applied when the HRR \geq 1.5 and the χ^2 significance level is 10⁻³.

Estimating Haplotype Frequencies for Missing Data

Missing data in haplotypes arises primarily in two ways - when errors occur in genotyping and when the phasing algorithm is unable to resolve certain genotypes into haplotypes. To handle such data when computing haplotype frequencies, we use the non-missing alleles and their relative LD information to impute the frequencies of the missing alleles.

Algorithm

Let *L* denote the LD matrix, an $n \times n$ matrix that stores all pairwise r^2 values of the n SNPs from matrix *M*, where r^2 measure defines the correlation of alleles in the SNP pair, such that $r^2 = 1$ is known as complete LD and if the r^2 value between a pair of SNPs is greater than 1/3, the two SNPs are considered to be linked (414). Moreover, though LD decays as the distance between SNPs increases, extensive research has shown that an SNP can be linked with another SNP that is up to 100kb distant (414,485). Thus, the algorithm will consider a pair of SNPs as linked if their physical distance on the chromosome is within 100kb and their r^2 value is greater than 1/3. When M[j, y] contains a missing value "—", the function $Pval(M, j, C_{x,i}[y])$ finds a set of SNPs *Z* such that each $z \in Z$ is strongly linked with the *yth* SNP of matrix *M*, and uses this information to estimate the frequency of the alleles that can occur in $C_{x,i}$ in the position corresponding to the missing value M[j, y] as follows:

$$Pval(M, j, C_{x,j}[y]) = \frac{\sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} fr(M, C_{x,j}[y], z)}{|Z|}$$
(5)

Following the guidelines described above, Z is constructed such that each z in Z is within 100kb with the *yth* SNP of matrix *M* and the r^2 value between z and y is > 1/3. It is possible to have an empty set Z for a set of loosely linked SNPs where all pairwise LD values in *L* are < 1/3; in this case, the set Z consists of all SNPs within 100kb of the *yth* SNP of matrix *M*. The function $fr(M, C_{x,l}[y], z)$ in Equation 5 gives the average frequency of the allele $C_{x,l}[y]$ from matrix *M*. Essentially, this

function computes the average frequency of allele $C_{x,i}[y]$ from the SNPs that are in set Z, which gives the approximate frequency with which allele $C_{x,i}[y]$ can occur in a missing position of the matrix *M*.

Comparison of New Algorithm with Existing Approaches

To compare haplotype estimation in the presence of missing data, we compared haplotype frequencies within haplotype blocks computed by our CCA with those computed by the popular analysis package Haploview (387) on 5 simulated datasets. To ensure realistic allele frequencies and SNP dependencies, we created our simulated datasets by mutating a real dataset cf. creation of simulated datasets ab initio from random allele sequences. Our source dataset consisted of 40 SNPs which span a 205 kb region on chromosome 2 genotyped from 401 ethnically matched individuals in Alberta population (data not shown). The haplotypes for this dataset were inferred for each individual using PHASE (348) and then used to create 5 progressively worse simulated missing-data haplotype datasets by randomly implanting 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, and 20% missing data, respectively, in the PHASE-produced haplotype dataset. Haplotype blocks in strong LD and their associated haplotypes frequencies were then obtained for each simulated dataset using Haploview. Recall that Haploview uses an EM-algorithm to impute missing values during the computation of frequencies for haplotypes

with missing data. For each haplotype block, we compared the frequencies obtained by our CCA and the EM-algorithm using the mean square error (MSE) measure given below,

$$\mathsf{MSE} = \frac{1}{H} \times \sum_{i}^{H} (h_{i}^{EM} - h_{i}^{CCA})^{2}$$

where H is the number of haplotypes in a block that are in strong LD, h_i^{EM} is the frequency of ith haplotype in that block obtained by the EM-algorithm, and h_i^{CCA} is the frequency of the ith haplotype obtained by the proposed method. Note that MSE captures the overall differences between the haplotype differences computed by the two methods.

Experiment Setup

The optimal values for parameters to run a genetic algorithm are still unknown but parameters of the CCA were set to maintain a balance so that the algorithm's evolution is not disruptive and does not demonstrate random search behavior. The crossover rate was set to 100% as one-point crossover is not as disruptive as uniform crossover (486). To exploit the fitness landscape with adequate chromosomal swapping, this rate of crossover is favourable. The mutation rate was set to 5%. 100 CCA runs were carried out for each four datasets. The AS and Schizophrenia datasets were separated into two subpopulations to evolve independently. Each subpopulation of the AS and Schizophrenia datasets consists of 10 and 5 SNPs, respectively. The PsA dataset was separated into three subpopulations; each containing 10 SNPs. The member of each subpopulation in the AS dataset was set to 250 and each run evolves for 1000 generations. The subpopulations in the Schizophrenia dataset consists with 25 members due to it small number of SNPs. The strategy for the PsA cohort was to evolve large number of generations with small size subpopulation. Hence, each subpopulation with 100 members evolved for 1500 generations in each CCA run.

Results

Performance of Missing-Data Handling Algorithm

As expected, the MSE showed a positive correlation with error rate, such that error increased as the amount of missing data increased. However, below 15% missing data, there was no apparent difference observed between the haplotype frequencies obtained by our new method and the EM-algorithm in Haploview (Figure 2). In particular, for 3-15% missing data, the MSE varied between 4.12×10^{-6} and 8.79×10^{-3} for haplotype frequencies in a block, and at 20% missing data, the MSE varied between 2.36×10^{-3} to 1.61×10^{-2} . This validates our haplotype frequency estimation method, in that its results did not deviate significantly from those produced by EM-algorithm estimation up to 15% missing data. Our proposed CCA is scalable to large data sets and can handle up to 15% missing/ambiguous data.

Validation

The cohorts for Ankylosing Spondylitis were taken from Maksymowych et al. (487). We have retained only the Newfoundland (NF) (112 AS cases, and 150 controls.) and Alberta (AL) (200 cases and 200 controls) cohorts for our analysis and excluded the Toronto cohort due to the possibility of population stratification. The ethnic background of the Newfoundland and Alberta population cohorts have been stable with little in-migration for several generations which is likely to make them much more homogenous than that of the Toronto cohort (305). The genotype data for both populations includes a set of 20 SNPs located on chromosome 2q14 which includes interleukin 1 alpha (IL1A; GeneID 3552), interleukin 1 beta (IL1B; GeneID 3553), interleukin 1 family member 7 (IL1F7; GeneID 27178), interleukin 1 family member 6 (IL1F6; GeneID 27179), interleukin 1 family member 8 (IL1F8; GeneID 27177), interleukin 1 family member 10 (IL1F10; GeneID 84639) and interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (IL1RN; GeneID 3557) in a 360 kb region. The Schizophrenia cohort was taken from Fukasawa et al. (488) in which 10 SNPs were genotyped from Netrin G1 (NTNG1; GeneID 22854) gene located on chromosome 1p13.3. The genotyping was done on 180 cases with confirmed Schizophrenia and an equal number of ethnically matched controls from the Japanese population.

Ankylosing Spondylitis

After 100 runs of the CCA in our Alberta AS cohort, 53 haplotypes showed significance after 10000 permutations with $p < 5.0 \times 10^{-4}$ and HRR ≥ 1.5 . The significant haplotypes consisted of major alleles from SNPs rs3783550, rs3783543, rs3783526, rs1143630, rs3917354, rs1143627, rs2723187, and rs3811058 located in genes IL1A, IL1B, IL1F7 and IL1F10. The interaction captured by the CCA can be defined entirely by rs3811058 in the IL1F10 gene because the major allele of this SNP is included in all haplotypes containing markers from IL1A, IL1B, and IL1F7. The most significant interaction observed was with the haplotype TT obtained from IL1B and IL1F10 genes with a haplotype risk ratio (HRR) of 2.19. (95% Cl 1.63 - 2.91). In our Newfoundland cohort, only two haplotypes were detected with smaller frequency differences between case and controls; AGCCTG ($p < 2.0 \times 10^{-4}$, HRR = 2.125(95% CI 1.445-3.142)) and AGCCG (p < 1.0×10^{-4} , HRR = 2.144(95% CI 1.474-3.201)) and both haplotypes includes SNPs from genes IL1A, IL1B and IL1RN (Fig. 5). These results are particularly interesting as we have previously reported a univariate analysis of this data set and observed no significance (347), however, using our model in the absence of single locus association or haplotype analysis of sequential SNPs we observed three genes interacting with in two significant haplotypes.

307

Schizophrenia

Two analyses have been done in the Netrin G1 gene region that is located on chromosome 1. Fukasawa et al. (488) conducted a case-control cohort analysis from the Japanese population that included genotypes for 10 SNPs in this Netrin G1 region. The authors performed single window, 2-window and 3window analyses to evaluate SNPs and their underlying haplotypes for possible susceptibility to schizophrenia. In their single window analysis, they have found significant association (p < 0.05) in SNP rs1373336. The 2-window and 3-window analyses showed significant association with haplotypes from SNPs rs894904. rs2218404, rs1373336, and rs1444042. The authors concluded that rs1373336 was the most significant SNP which has been detected by the three different analyses. In another independent study (489), the authors performed a family based analysis on a broader chromosomal region that also includes the 10 SNPs in the Netrin G1 gene region. The authors reported strong association of SNPs rs4307594, rs3924253, rs1373336, and rs96501 in their single window results. In their 3-window analysis, the SNPs rs4307594, rs3924253, rs4132604, rs2218404, rs1373336, and rs1444042 showed susceptibility to Schizophrenia. The results in both studies detected the susceptibility of rs1373336 to Schizophrenia. In our results, we have found 8 haplotype patterns consisting of SNPs rs4481881, rs4307594, rs3924253, rs4132604, rs1373336, rs1444042, and rs96501 (see Figure). Our results also show that rs1373336 is the most significant SNP because all the haplotype patterns detected by the CCGA from the Schizophrenia cohort contain the major allele from SNP rs1373336. The

haplotype patterns that were captured by the CCGA contain major alleles in all SNPs except rs4132604, where the rare allele was included in the haplotype patterns. The most significant haplotype captured by our algorithm is ACT from SNP rs3924253, rs1373336, and rs96501, such that the HRR is 2.34 with p < 0.0001.

Figure A-1: The mean squared error (MSE) measure for haplotype frequencies in 5 datasets in the presence of missing data.

The plot illustrates the influence of missing genotypes on haplotype frequency estimation. Each line defines the error rate for a dataset, where the x-axis contains the number of haplotype block for that dataset and the y-axis is the corresponding MSE.



Figure A-2: Evolution of each subpopulation in a typical CCA run.

The subpopulation in each dataset shows similar behaviour of fitness progression in the initial generations and convergence after certain generations of evolution. The average fitness for each subpopulation was plotted in the y-axis relative to a single CCA run.



FigureA-3: Fitness for 100 CCA run plotted for the IL1-AL, IL1-NF, Netrin G1, and PsA-NF dataset.

The solid line represents the average maximum fitness in a CCA run and the dotted line is the average fitness for each CCA run.



Table A-1. Distribution characteristics and statistical significance tests for the performance of CCA on each dataset.

The pairwise t-test was performed to quantify the level of significant difference among average fitness and average maximum fitness to ensure the evolvability of the CCA.

	Average Fitness			Average Maximum Fitness			
	Averag e	Std	Mean (95% CI)	Averag e	Std	Mean (95% CI)	t-test
IL1-AL	0.121	0.03	0.122(0.116-0.127)	0.143	0.02	0.144(0.137- 0.149)	1.0 X 10 ⁻
IL1-NF	0.103	0.01	0.104(0.099- 0.107)	0.133	0.02	0.134(0.129- 0.137)	1.0 X 10 ⁻
Netrin G1	0.085	0.01 9	0.085(0.081- 0.917)	0.104	0.02	0.105(0.100-0.109)	1.0 X 10 ⁻
PsA	0.191	0.03	0.192(0.184- 0.199)	0.210	0.04	0.211(0.202- 0.218)	7.0 X 10 ⁻



Figure A-4: Results of the Competitive Co-Evolutionary Algorithm for the II-1 gene cluster in AS



Figure A-5: Results of the Competitive Co-Evolutionary Algorithm in Schizophrenia



